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Chairman’s Statement

ETE®HE

Dr. Stephen Xiangdong ZOU

BEREL

Dear Shareholders,

On behalf of the Board of Directors (“Board”) of AAG Energy Holdings
Limited (“AAG" or the “Company”, together with the subsidiaries, the

“Group”), | hereby present the annual results of the Company for the
year ended 31 December 2015.
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Chairman’s Statement

ERE®HE

The year of 2015 is an extraordinary year for AAG. The Group's first
commercial project, Panzhuang, reached its ODP-approved production
level in 2015 after a three-year ramp-up. The second project, Mabi,
made significant progress toward commercialization. We had a
successful IPO on the Main Board of Hong Kong Stock Exchange in the
middle of the year. And on top of all these, we set several high-
standard safety records in this year. In summary, the Group's gross gas
production is 504.2 million cubic meters (“mmem”) (17.8 billion cubic
feet ("bef”)) (comprising Panzhuang’s gas production of 488.3 mmcm
or 17.2 bcf and Mabi's gas production of 15.9 mmcm or 0.6 bcf) in
2015, representing a 34% increase compared with 2014. The Group's
sales volume (before value-added tax ("VAT") and sales tax) for
Panzhuang reached 478.6 mmcm (16.9 bcf), a 58% increase compared
with 2014, as a result of improvements in the utilization rate to 98% of
gross production at our commercially producing Panzhuang project.
The Group's sales revenue in 2015 increased 26.0% to RMB536.7
million reflecting a combined result of increased sales volumes and a
reduction in average realized selling price of coalbed methane
("CBM") from RMB1.73 per cubic meter in 2014 to RMB1.66 per cubic
meter in 2015. The Group's reported EBITDA decreased 5.0% to
RMB371.9 million and a reported net loss of RMB56.9 million in 2015,
mainly due to certain non-cash, non-recurring and non-operation
related items. After adjusting for such non-cash, non-recurring and
non-operations related items, the Group's adjusted EBITDA increased
16.8% from RMB392.0 million in 2014 to RMB457.9 million in 2015, and
the Group's adjusted net profit increased 20.8% from RMB201.8 million
in 2014 to RMB243.7 million in 2015. In order to preserve sufficient cash
to support the Group's development and production in existing
Panzhuang and Mabi projects operated by its two subsidiaries Sino-
American Energy, Inc. (“SAEI") and Asian American Gas, Inc. ("AAGI"),
as well as look for new opportunities for business development and
expansion in 2016, the Board did not recommend payment of final

dividend.

Hereunder are some highlights of the Group in the year of 2015:

o Outstanding EHS records. The achievement we are most proud
of for the year is our environment, health and safety (“EHS")
record. In 2015, our safety and environmental program initiatives
continued to mature with the efforts of our talented employees.
Our full year 2015 employee safety metrics were 0.13 incidents
per 200,000 man hours worked for both recordable and lost time
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incidents. Additionally, our preventable motor vehicle incident
rate was 0.44 incidents per 1 million kilometers driven. In this past
year of 2015, there were some tragic safety incidents in the news
in China. We have observed increased attention from
governmental agencies on the essential safety and environmental
programs. We are acutely aware that our focus on superior EHS
programs is not just the right way to do business, but is essential
to being a sustainable business. We have continued to refine our
programs, standards and processes to better accomplish our
safety vision of flawless, incident free performance.

A successful IPO. In June 2015, we achieved a listing of our
shares on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited and raised approximately HK$2.3 billion from the initial
public offering (“IPO"), an important milestone in the
development of AAG's history. Our key financial investors and
major shareholders, Warburg Pincus, Barings, Ping An/
Chinastone, Chengwei Capital, etc., provided tremendous
financial and other supports during the process. During the IPO
process, with a joint efforts of our management, our IPO sponsors
and our existing shareholders, we managed to meet many high
quality investors around the world, and selected certain key
strategic investors from China as our IPO cornerstone investors,
including Shenzhen Tongyu, Jiangsu Addor Fund, CMH
Investment, Beibu Gulf Fund and Sichuan Datong Gas. We also
attracted a number of anchor investors including ENN and some
international institutions. Given the strong relationship we have
cemented with these strategic investors through the IPO process,
it has opened up new business opportunities for us to further
develop with these strategic investors in the near future.

US$250 million RBL loan providing sufficient funding for
development of existing assets. In July 2015, we obtained a
US$250 million Reserve-Based Lending (“RBL") loan from a
syndicate of banks including HSBC, Bank of Communications,
Standard Chartered Bank and Societe Generale. This
achievement established AAG in the syndicated bank loans
market with international and Chinese banks, which will make it
easier for us to access bank loan financing in the future. This is
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further demonstrated by the addition of another international
bank, Credit Agricole, to the syndicate of banks providing this
US$250 million RBL loan in December 2015. The unique nature
and creative structure used for this loan financing was amply
demonstrated by winning the top three financing awards in the
finance industry in Asia, including the Best Project Finance deal
in Asia in 2015 from Finance Asia, the Best Oil and Gas Deal in
Asia Pacific 2015 from Euromoney Institutional Investor’s
prestigious |J Global award, and 2015 Best Project Financing
from GlobalCapital Asia/Asiamoney. Till end of 2015, the Group
only utilized US$70 million since obtaining this US$250 million
RBL loan in July 2015. Given the strong cashflows from Panzhuang
and our existing cash balances, the Group is well positioned and
prepared for future growth even under a low crude oil price
environment.

Further enhancement of group reserve base. Our reserve
upgrading programs have made encouraging progress in 2015
through exploration activities in both AAGI operated Mabi
concession and SAE| operated Panzhuang concession. For Mabi
concession, 12 new reserve wells were drilled, 30 reserve wells
were stimulated, and 36 reserve wells have been under
production testing targeting reserve upgrades for seam 3, seam
15 and small seams. For Panzhuang concession, 2 reserve wells
were stimulated and have been under production testing
targeting reserve upgrade from small seams in 2015. As a result,
based on reports issued by NSAI, an independent reserve
certification company, the Group's Net Proved + Probable (“2P")
CBM reserves as at the year-end of 2015 is approximately 670.5
bcf, which represents a 7.3% increase over the Net 2P of 624.7
bcf at the year-end of 2014. We are delighted to see a continued
expansion of our reserve base and believe it will further support
the production uplift in Panzhuang concession and large scale
commercialization of Mabi concession.

SAEl's remarkable production increase. SAEI, an AAG
subsidiary operating Panzhuang concession, achieved a gross
production of 488.3 mmcm (17.2 bcf) in 2015, which marked a
major milestone achievement of the annual production target set
at the approved ODP within the required period. With a
production increase of 37% over 2014, the 2015 sales volume
achieved 478.6 mmcm (16.9 bcf), or 98% of the gross production,
and a 58% increase on the year-on-year basis. SAElI completed a
total of 26 compression uplift projects in Panzhuang in 2015 to

AAG ENERGY HOLDINGS LIMITED / ANNUAL REPORT 2015

£ B B & %2 (Best Project Finance deal
in Asia in 2015) + fEEuromoney
Institutional Investor#® % #J1J Global
Award 15 2015 F 28 K & & E A8 &R
H R 5 #(the Best Oil and Gas Deal in
Asia Pacific 2015) )4 X GlobalCapital
Asia/Asiamoney 18 % #) 2015 F & £78 B
#b & #2 (2015 Best Project Financing) ° B
201547 RS2 5BE TS ETIE -
HZE2015F K - AEEESH T 7,008
EIT - ARNVEHIAE AR RIS
MEBMAEINR &% BIFEE AR
HEREINMEA - RNEBE NS M EH
MR EREE o

E-—SEASEREER - ZANGE
AERKEREENSVERREEPLER
DEMEERETRRETHEER - K
M2 AFTER2015FNERS A
S EHVER  RMEBEI12MEH
HEH  WHIEREHETER - &
bEREHF EMETEENR - BEIR
SERE3 HE 15 RE AR E A
B EBEHRERR  2015F  BRME Y2
EfREESHETER  WIEFEETEEN
2 BERs/ N AEENRES - AL
1R 15 98 37 % & 7R 35 A B) NSAI 3 H /Y 3
HHENSFR  AEBENEE LB
B ([2P)) FHERMEE L A6,705(8 L
R - BX2014 6 KA 2P F 7 £ 6,247
B HHEIRIEINT 3% - ¥ FEE 1
E—PEARIMNE  BEHEEARE
g mETREMES - MAESHFHS
ERH R L EER -

EHRHRELAAEERELH - LEFEHR
EREOEPERAR - ARENHBA
AR 2015 F B ESELBIFETH
KBM72ET A HR) - AR E M
RERGEHEBERE T REEZTFES
HEESEZ—F - AREER2014F 12
n37% + 2015 F KIS E L F I R58% 2
478.6 BB 7T K (BI169 B T HR)

HHRESH98% ° EFREEIRA R 2015



Chairman’s Statement

ETE®HE

help the project achieve the target wellhead gathering pressure.
In 2015, SAEI drilled 18 horizontal production wells in Panzhuang
with the field cost estimates at RMB6.8 million each for the first
10 wells, and at RMB3.4 million each for the final 8 wells, and also
completed 5 vertical pad drilled wells (“PDW"), which are in their
early dewatering process now. Collectively these wells have 25
frac stages, with current production at approximately 12.5 km?3/d.
At the end of 2015, a total of 63 wells in Panzhuang were
contributing to the production.

AAGI's significant progress on Mabi pilot program and ODP |
approval. AAGI, AAG's subsidiary operating Mabi concession,
made significant progresses on pilot program and ODP approval
for Mabi in 2015. For the pilot testing program, AAGI drilled 12
horizontal wells in southern Mabi in 2015, with 4 of the wells as
new single lateral horizontal wells. The drilling field cost estimates
are RMB4.6 million each. Two of these wells were also multi-stage
fractured with 8 frac jobs in one well and 12 stages in the other
well. In addition, AAGI also drilled horizontal laterals from 8 PDW
vertical wells in our re-entry drilling program, which cost RMB3.4
million each on average. AAGI conducted the completion
program on 62 wells, and the first 18 of those wells started
dewatering at the end of 2015. There were 152 frac stages
completed out of a total opportunity of 202. The other 50 frac
stages were extended into 2016. The pilot program AAGI
conducted in northern Mabi in 2015 delivered encouraging
testing results which provided strong supports for the CBM
commercialization in northern Mabi area. In 2015, the first well
pad comprising of 7 directionally drilled wells has been
stimulated and put into production testing in May. Since then the
gas flow rate from this pad has been steadily increased and
reached 10,146 m3/day by the year end of 2015.
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AAGI made significant progresses in 2015 on the approvals for
phase one overall development plan (“ODP") in Mabi (“Mabi
ODPI") | approvals. By end of January 2016, all ODP-associated
supporting approvals required by the NDRC as pre-conditions for
ODP | submission have been secured. One of the key associated
approvals — the Environmental Impact Assessment (“EIA"”), has
been approved by Shanxi Bureau of Environmental Protection in
January 2016. For the land-use pre-checking, the Ministry of Land
and Resources issued the approval letter in October, 2015. We
expect our partner China National Petroleum Corporation will
make the submission to NDRC after its internal application
process accordingly.

o Active and prudent efforts for new opportunities. After the
successful IPO in June 2015, the Group has been actively looking
at new oil & gas opportunities for future growth, mainly covering
attractive oil & gas assets in China and Southeast Asia. Under the
current low crude oil price environment, the valuation of oil & gas
assets are in the low end. With our strong balance sheet and
management team, we believe the Group is well positioned for
further expansion through partnering with other oil & gas
producers and/or acquiring attractive assets in the near term.

Fellow shareholders, 2015 was a very challenging year for us as well as
for everyone in the energy resources field as well as many other
industries. | believe AAG managed it well. Our cash balance at the year
end 2015 was equivalent to approximately US5$394.8 million
(approximately 74% held in Hong Kong or US dollars), as well as an
un-utilized loan balance of US$180 million. Furthermore, we have not
used our IPO proceeds other than to settle expenses related to the
IPO. On top of these, the cash flow from our Panzhuang project will
continue to increase to further strengthen our cash position. In this
special period of time with oil prices staying at a low level and with the
sluggish global economy, while many energy resources companies
have been struggling to survive, AAG has been looking for
opportunities to expand its investment portfolios. 2016 will continue to
be a challenging year for the world economically, and it will be a
challenging year for AAG as well. But | believe it will also be a year of
opportunities for AAG.

8 AAG ENERGY HOLDINGS LIMITED / ANNUAL REPORT 2015

EUNTEEB AR IR([AEERs
R EXABPARIR—N
FRDNEMFEIE  DEAERE
KR 2015FESERERE - HZE2016F
1AR  EAEREERE—HHRML
RGN BRENZIRTEATA LR
BHRMABOIHEL X LIS - R
B2 H((REFEFH])REF—
HEEMEHBEF  BR2016F1 AE
IR ERBREEME - BLERIE
20154 10 A M B M3 H L A% a8
RIHESC o FMITEHR - B ER M BIA M
AAREEBRERABHANIRFRE
FFigmBRERZIEIFHE

e WBEEHMSRHEH - 52015F67
RNTRERAFAEER  AEE—&H
BREFRRRERABERAROTE
# B RTPBERREIARS DN
AlRRAAREE - £RKRAERR
BERBERLT BRERAREEEBEN
BRFHE - BRERMARENEERFEK
FmEgARERER  HPBERE
EEEETRE  AIERBANEEMAH
RRAREEMBILBHBERER K
ARSI NWMEE  £REE—PERN
He -

BAIBR - 2015 FHRBEPAAERFERER
EUARRZEMITROMB ARG AT
B —F - AARR - DEONRBBVETMG -
R2015F K - RPIEHENRK3948EXT(E
RRI7A% BT ETT) MRS KB
B 1.801BTT o hS > BRI ERERR
FEERBHRIN  BMLESEBERAMR
BERMSEHUA - Bt - RAIHEREEFAE
MBS REMSESE LT BNBRMNES -
FEEEZFEERY - mE - ERMEA - RIRE
BIEHTR  AZRERERAR —BEEFILK
7o Tl DRCRRSRIBEBRREMS K
g o WIRIRICEIARGERM S © 2016 F R4S
KEEE  EREETRERMNEBZF -



Chairman’s Statement

ETE®HE

First of all, we will continue to pursue further development of
Panzhuang beyond its designed commercial production capacity and
development preparation of Mabi. In Panzhuang, the focuses will be
on the production enhancement of current production wells and
drilling of new production wells, and In Mabi, the focuses will be on
improving the performance of pilot wells, as well as facilitating the
relevant approvals from authorities associated to the Mabi ODP I. Our
full year 2016 plan comprises of drilling of 37 single lateral horizontal
("SLH") production wells (comprising 30 in Panzhuang and 7 in Mabi)
and 10 exploration wells (in Mabi), and fracturing of 5 SLH production
wells (in Mabi), 21 pad-drilled wells (comprising 6 in Panzhuang and 15
in Mabi), and 30 exploration wells (comprising 2 in Panzhuang and 28
in Mabi). The Group plans to incur capital expenditure of RMB832
million, which will be funded by proceeds from the IPO, unutilised
portion of the US$250 million RBL loan or internal cashflows. Our full
year gross production expectation is 659.4 mmcm (23.3 bcf)
(comprising 608.7 mmem (21.5 bcf) for Panzhuang and 50.7 mmcm (1.8
bcf) for Mabi) subject to anticipated project execution and related
government approvals. We are confident that above strategies will
further enhance the Group's position as the leading independent CBM
producer in China, and will greatly support the Group's further growth.

With the healthy development of our existing core assets, we will scale
up our effort in business development in 2016. With the strong support
and partnership from a number of strategic investors we have secured,
| believe the Group is well positioned to take on more attractive
opportunities in China, Southeast Asia and other part of the world.

In closing, | thank you, our Board, staff, shareholders, and business
partners for your continued trust and support.

b

Stephen Xiangdong Zou
Chairman
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BUSINESS REVIEW

The year 2015 was a challenging year for upstream oil & gas producers.
A slowing Chinese economy, regionally weaker demand on oil & gas,
global oversupply all contributed to sustained downward pressure on
international oil and gas prices. Further, the Chinese government'’s
announcement to reduce the price for non-residential natural gas price
created an immediate impact for producers in China. These factors
negatively impacted all upstream oil and gas producers in China,
including us. Although in TH 2015 we managed a steadily increase on
our average gas price at RMB1.77/m?3, hit by the weak demand and the
gas price adjustment of the NDRC, the Group's average realized gas
price was RMB1.66/m? in 2015, a decrease of RMBO0.07/m? (or 4%),
compared with 2014.

We are pleased that despite weaker demand from downstream
customers and the erosion in gas prices, the Group continues to
deliver remarkable production and reserve growth, compared with
2014. During 2015, the Group's gross gas production increased by 34%
to 504.2 mmem (17.8 bcf) (comprising Panzhuang's gas production of
488.3 mmem or 17.2 bef and Mabi's gas production of 15.9 mmem or
0.6 bcf) compared with 2014; our gross gas sales volume (before VAT
and sales tax for Panzhuang) increased by 58% to 478.6 mmcm (16.9
bcf), compared with 2014. The Group's Net 2P natural gas reserves as
at year-end 2015 is approximately 670.5 bcf, which represents a 7.3%
increase over the Net 2P of 624.7 bcf at year-end 2014.
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FINANCIAL REVIEW

Management Discussion and Analysis
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Year ended 31 December
HZ12A31MHILEE

2015 2014
20155 20144
RMB’'000 RMB’000
AR® T AREFIT
Revenue WA 536,655 425,895
Other income Hd A 127,672 151,197
Profit from operations EEE T 229,841 283,568
EBITDA EBITDA 371,927 391,340
Adjusted EBITDA 4 FAEE EBITDA 457,870 392,038
(Loss)/profit for the year ER(EIE),HEA (56,939) 194,988
Adjusted profit for the year KREFARF 243,678 201,773
Basic (losses)/earnings per share (RMB) BREKRGEXR),EF
(AR%7TT) (0.02) 0.07
Diluted (losses)/earnings per share (RMB) GRS (18k), B F
(AR%TT) (0.02) 0.07

As at 31 December

M12H831H
2015 2014
2015 2014 4
RMB’'000 RMB’000
AR¥ET T ARETIT
Property, plant and equipment ME - BEMERE 2,639,914 2,129,261
Cash and bank balances B& RBITER 2,563,843 1,099,673
Total assets BB E 5,487,765 3,494,872
Total equity BRELS 4,591,446 2,803,001

° Our revenue increased from RMB 425.9 million in 2014 to

RMB536.7 million in 2015 due to an increase in net sales volume

from increased production and improvement in the utilization

rate, partially offset by the effects of decrease in production
sharing contracts (“PSC") allocation rate from 94% in 2014 to 80%
in 2015 and a decrease in average realized price of CBM.

o Our other income comprise subsidy income and VAT refund.
Other income decreased from RMB151.2 million to RMB127.7
million because in 2014 VAT refund comprised VAT refund for
2008 to 2014, while 2015 only comprised VAT refund for that year.
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FINANCIAL REVIEW (Continued)

B #E BB ()

Our EBITDA decreased from RMB391.3 million in 2014 to
RMB371.9 million in 2015 primarily due to decrease in PSC
allocation rate, increase in operating expenses, reduction in VAT
refund since VAT refund in 2014 comprised VAT refund for 2008
to 2013, decrease in average realized selling price of CBM, which
were partially offset by increase in revenues and subsidy income.
Included in EBITDA are the following non-cash, non-recurring or
non-operations-related items:

HAIBEBITDAR 2014 F 1) A R#3.913
B E2015F M AR 37198 T
FTERERRERAPKERDE R TRE -
KBS IE N - IR ERETE 2014 F 89
1 (E TR T B 35 2008 FE & 2013 F Ry IE(E
BREBRMBALEEERTHEREET
B FTER - M BB B A % 7l B U B2 A0
FriksH - EBITDABRIE TR S -« IEL
Bl IEEIEMRBER -

2015 2014
2015 20144
RMB’'000 RMB’000
AR¥T ARBTFT
Non-cash share-based compensation LARRAD A EL T A
expenses IR WEIF 2 (44,702) (34,469)
Listing expenses related to the IPO BRARBEEEHN ETHHX (28,273) (4,720)
Non-operations-related feasibility studies e ERBEA AT
expenses R E A (12,968) -
VAT refund for 2008 to 2013 included #t A 20144192008 F =
in 2014 2013 FFIREHIR - 45,688
Bad debt provision ERREE = (7,197)

After adjusting for these non-cash, non-recurring or non-
operations-related items, our adjusted EBITDA from core
operations increased from RMB392.0 million in 2014 to RMB457.9
million in 2015.

We had a profit for the year of RMB195.0 million in 2014 and a
loss for the year of RMB56.9 million in 2015. Apart from the non-
cash, non-recurring or non-operations-related items affecting
EBITDA, the following non-cash, non-recurring or non-operating
items affected the Group's bottom line results:

KRABEZEIERS  FFEPERIEEE
IR B & - RO XA EBITDA
2014 4 Ay A R ¥ 3.92018 ST 3% & 2015
FMARE457918TT °

AT 2014 FERSF NEFIA R 1.950
BT MOISFELEFAEBRBARE
56908 Tt - R ZEBITDAR IR S -
I F ek IEE B ARTER N HER
EEEFOIERE  FEEFMRIELE
HEWT :

Year ended 31 December

BZ12A831BLLEE

2015 2014
2015 F 2014
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBT T ARETT
Non-cash foreign exchange translation losses LAZETEHER AR EREE
arising from the US$ intercompany loan B FEIR & [ N 8 (161,301) (6,087)
Write-off non-cash unamortized costs related MR B 1 EETTHERE
to the original US$100 million RBL loan AR IEIR & REEIHRC AR (14,878) -
Non-cash tax expense from deferred BERRTAENEERIEA &
tax liability related to VAT refund EAREREHIERX (38,495) -

TEEREBRERRIF/ —E—HFFR 13
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FINANCIAL REVIEW (Continued) BB (@)

e After adjusting for these non-cash, non-recurring or non- o  EHALRZZIFHF S  FEFHSIFLE
operations-related items, our adjusted profit from core HBEEE  ZOEBNEAZREREF
operations for the year increased from RMB201.8 million in 2014 2014 M AR ¥ 201818 T8 £ 2015
to RMB243.7 million in 2015. FOARB 243718 -

As at or for the year ended December 31

HERHLZFE12A318

Items 2015 2014 2013 2012
HEB 2015 20144 20134 2012 4
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000
AR%STR ARETT ARETT ARETET
Current assets TRENEE 2,820,279 1,347,769 348,623 83,846
Non-current assets IERFEE 2,667,486 2,147,103 1,846,924 1,266,485
Total assets BEE 5,487,765 3,494,872 2,195,547 1,350,331
Current liabilities mEEE 392,893 316,439 1,887,800 1,288,068
Non-current liabilities EREBEE 503,426 375,432 363,505 158,492
Total liabilities waB 896,319 691,871 2,251,305 1,446,560
Revenue WA 536,655 425,895 138,382 92,397
Profit/(loss) before income tax & Fr S8 ATH, (E518) 51,717 275,048 68,651 (80,311)
(Loss)/profit for the year FEE (B\E) &7F (56,939) 194,988 39,568 (71,691)
Net cash generated from/ s EBAE (FTA)
(used in) operating activities IR & F%8 317,382 297,587 611 (27,518)
Net cash used in investing HERETAIREF5
activities (743,937) (420,954) (607,575) (441,149)
Net cash generated from MEEHMSHES F5E
financing activities 1,517,712 1,014,039 787,666 461,514
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OPERATIONS REVIEW

The Group has achieved significant progress towards certain key

operational objectives for its two key assets operated by the Group's

two subsidiaries: Panzhuang Concession operated by SAElI and Mabi

Concession operated by AAGI.

SAEI| operated Panzhuang Concession

Panzhuang production update

Panzhuang 2015 gross production, increased by 37% to 488.3
mmcm (17.2 bcf) compared with 2014. Full year sales volumes
improved to 98% of gross production. Sales volumes improved in
2015 by 58% to 478.6 mmcm or (16.9 Bcf) from full year 2014
actual sales volumes.

Panzhuang drilling and surface facilities

SAEI completed a total of 26 compression uplift projects in
Panzhuang in 2015 to help the project achieve the target
wellhead gathering pressure. In 2015, SAEI drilled 18 horizontal
production wells in Panzhuang with the field cost estimates at
RMB6.8 million each for the first 10 wells, and at RMB3.4 million
each for the final 8 wells, and also completed 5 vertical pad
drilled wells ("PDW"), which are in their early dewatering process
now. Collectively these wells have 25 frac stages, with current
production at approximately 12.5 km?®d. At the end of 2015, a
total of 63 wells in Panzhuang were contributing to the
production.

REOpE

AEBEMEHNBARKENMEBEANEE (X
PEER A R E R E R MR AR ER
RENBFUERR)WETEALZARRBE

RER -
EPERQAAKERTER
o EHAEAR

B 2015 F R BE S5 2014 FHIN137%
F4883A B FK(BNMT72BIL HFER) -
PEHEEENEBES 8% 20155
HEER014FH2F TR 2
58% E 478.6 F B K (169 75
HIR) o

T S R % 3 R ER B
EHELRA AN 2015 FEEH LA TA
6@ EIEE - HEEEHBRNHA
BEF) - 201545 - X EEIR A A& AL i
T8 EKFEES - B10EHFNSIME
REFRESEARE 0BT - MHERS
B E B G RAEEARE340
BT e XHEERA A IR RS E &=
EedAH(&XHA)) ZFEAHFLE
EITIHBKIE 7 - X FFHFHETT25
BEX BRREEN/ERI25ZTT
Ko 2015F K - EHHABSEHRAL
7o
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OPERATIONS REVIEW (Continued)
AAGI operated Mabi Concession

16

Mabi pilot program update

For the pilot testing program, AAGI drilled 12 horizontal wells in
southern Mabi in 2015, with 4 of the wells as new single lateral
horizontal wells. The drilling field cost estimates are RMB4.6
million each. 2 of these wells were also multi-stage fractured with
8 frac jobs in 1 well and 12 stages in the other well. In addition,
AAGI also drilled horizontal laterals from 8 PDW vertical wells in
our re-entry drilling program, which cost RMB3.4 million each on
average. AAGI conducted the completion program on 62 wells,
and the first 18 of those wells started dewatering at the end of
2015. There were 152 frac stages completed out of a total
opportunity of 202. The other 50 frac stages were extended into
2016. The pilot program AAGI conducted in northern Mabi in
2015 delivered encouraging testing results which provided strong
supports for the CBM commercialization in northern Mabi area.
In 2015, the first well pad comprising of 7 directionally drilled
wells has been stimulated and put into production testing in May.
Since then the gas flow rate from this pad has been steadily
increased and reached 10,146 m3/day by the year-end of 2015.

Mabi ODP progress

AAGI made significant progress in 2015 on the Mabi ODP1. By
end of January 2016, all ODP-associated supporting approvals
required by the NDRC as pre-conditions for ODP | submission
have been secured. One of the key associated approvals — the
EIA, has been approved by Shanxi Bureau of Environmental
Protection in January 2016. For the land-use pre-checking, the
Ministry of Land and Resources issued the approval letter on
October 2015. We expect our partner China National Petroleum
Corporation will make the submission to NDRC after its internal
application process accordingly.
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EXPLORATION AND RESERVE UPDATE

Encouraging progress has been made in 2015 on reserve upgrade
through exploration activities in both AAGI operated Mabi concession
and SAEI operated Panzhuang concession. For Mabi concession, 12
new reserve wells have been drilled, 30 reserve wells have been
stimulated, and 36 reserve wells have been under production testing
targeting reserve upgrade on seam 3, seam 15 and small seams. For
Panzhuang concession, 2 reserve wells have been stimulated and
under production testing targeting reserve upgrade from small seams
in 2015. As a result, based on reports issued by Netherland, Sewell &
Associates, Inc (“"NSAI"), an independent reserve certification
company, the Group’s Net 2P natural gas reserves as at year-end 2015
is approximately 670.5 bcf, which represents a 7.3% increase over the
Net 2P of 624.7 bcf at year-end 2014, within which, SAE| operated
Panzhuang project contributed a Net 2P of 186.0 bcf, a 12.8% increase
over the Net 2P of 164.9 bcf at year-end 2014, and AAGI operated
Mabi project contributed a Net 2P of 484.4 bcf, a 5.4% increase over
the Net 2P of 459.8 bcf at year-end 2014. We are delighted to see the
continued expansion of our reserve base and believe it will further
support the production uplift in Panzhuang and large scale
commercialization of Mabi concession.

The following table sets forth our reserve data as of 31 December 2015:

BREEEFHR
BRREEAEREERGCENFEVERRESD
BER AR EM BB IETEIREE - &M
BB AT EIR 2015 FMERS AEE -
ESEYEE BRMAEERR2EFHEF I
HEBEFETER  HI6@RFEFLAE
ETEENS  BEREEE3 - BEISRE
o/ NEVEEMRE - IOEREM - 2015F © &
MBS 2EFEHFETERN  WIEFETEE
AE - BRRe/NIEENRE - Bit - BB
B % 2 R F A 7 Netherland, Sewell &
Associates, Inc. (NSAI) 2 HyER 4 - & £ 2015
TR AEER2PPFRARFEEN H6,7058
ﬁﬁ%%*@mmiimw%ﬁiémﬂi*
FHIRIEINT.3% « HAh - EFRRERARKER
ﬁﬂﬁamﬁﬁ%iﬁmwﬂiﬁﬂw E3%
2014 4F K H) 2P % fb & 1,649 18 37 J7 H R 18 /1
12.8% @ BEREHEEREENSVEB MNP
FEERABMMEN HER - E2014F KA 2P
SFRES 4,598 18 F IIRIE NN 5.4% © B FI¥ 7
BEME—PRARIME  HEHEER
BEIEHERMES - A SN S M EERA
A ER -

TREHNEFHEE2015F12 A3 BNFHEH
%

Net(*) Post-tax
Reserve Data*** FEE IS r* Gross (***) NPV10%**
ERE (%) BRBL&
%E (***) gfﬂﬁ 10%**
(bcf) (bcf)  (US$ millions)
(TRIAFHER) (HEALFER) (B8%n)
Total &6t
Proved (1P) HEME=(1P) 123.1 93.5 276.7
Proved + probable (2P) FE + I EE (2P) 970.6 670.5 784.0
Proved + probable + possible (3P)  #E + LB + AI BLFE 2 (3P) 2,453.8 1,573.8 N/A R 3E A
Panzhuang B
Proved (1P) FERE(P) 123.1 93.5 276.7
Proved + probable (2P) BE+BIEEFEZ 2P 245.9 186.0 532.1
Proved + probable + possible 3P) & E + i + A] s &2 (3P) 323.0 243.4 N/ATEH
Mabi B
Proved + probable (2P) BHE + TEJEHWE%E 2P) 724.7 484.4 252.0
Proved + probable + possible (3P) HE + BEES + AIBERE = (3P) 2,130.8 1,330.4 N/ARE A
DEMRRERAERAR/ _E—RAFFR 17
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EXPLORATION AND RESERVE UPDATE (Continued)

Management Discussion and Analysis

MHEREEHR @)

Note: FiEE -

* Net gas reserves are our share of the gas reserves according to the terms of each * AARRFHELBERSESD KA R IEZRERE
production sharing contract and after adjustment for fuel and shrinkage. RARBEHABRERMEENRAAZFE -

*x Represents our share of the future gross revenue from the CBM concession under ~ ** ERMRERDKER TEERE RN R REWES
the production sharing contracts, after additions for cost recovery and deductions DR ZWES TN E R AR RIS I E R - BRI
for value-added taxes, royalties, future capital costs and operating expenses. The HERE  ARENKRARLLES o RACFIZS
future net revenue is presented after deduction of income taxes and has been RIBRAEHEZY - WEIR10%MWERITE - b
discounted at an annual rate of 10% to determine its net present value, which is BTEEHE  JREFREANGARRYEE®E
shown to indicate the effect of time on the value of money. Future net revenue BEHEE - RI{E N2 E KR IOF U8 T EW B2
presented in this report should not be construed as being the fair market value of BZERENATTISEE -
the properties.

***  Qur reserve estimates and the future net revenue have been prepared by NSAI in ok ZEFEHE AR ICFUE T B NSAIRE AR T2
accordance with generally accepted petroleum engineering and evaluation EeEMN AR RERAAREEHE RETIZERN
principles set forth in the Standards Pertaining to the Estimating and Auditing of Oil YL BR AN AR IR REERFE - B15 2007
and Gas Reserves Information promulgated by the Society of Petroleum Engineers. FHHEREREHERNTFEENLIES - NSAIFEA TIZ
NSAI used standard engineering and geosciences methods or a combination of ﬁl'&ﬂﬂﬂﬁﬂf‘ﬁﬁ/f&@é%’7%7‘7‘}2’: - B
methods, including performance analysis, volumetric analysis, and analogy, that it A RESTRELSEEEASE  BELKEE
considered to be appropriate and necessary to classify, categorize, and estimate BEMERARVBBEH L RANREE2EEGLE -
volumes in accordance with the 2007 PRMS definitions and guidelines. These TERIEH AR E -
reserve amounts are estimates only and should not be construed as exact quantities.

The following table is the summary of the expenditures incurred in our ~ FREIAERM T — AP BFEEENEE -

exploration, development and production activities for FY2015: %ﬁ%é&i%/ﬁ@ﬂ@iﬂj :

Production/

Exploration Development operating

(Thousands of RMB) expenditures expenditures expenditures

(AR%TR) BRY mEH R/ EEXH

Panzhuang &t 5,774 140,900 230,068

Mabi Fw 108,073 217,056 38,215

Total a% 113,847 357,956 268,284

NEW OPPORTUNITIES M

The Group has been actively looking at new oil & gas opportunities for R B —F BB S KA R RE A0 N KARTH

future growth, mainly covering attractive oil & gas assets in China and

Southeast Asia. Under the current low oil price environment, the

valuation of oil & gas assets are in the low end. With our strong balance

sheet and management team, we believe the Group is well positioned

for further expansion through partnering with other oil & gas producers

and/or acquiring attractive assets in the near term.
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OUTLOOK AND GUIDANCE FOR 2016

With the increasing demand on green energy to support China’s
continued economic growth, and also with consideration of ease
China’s environmental pressure, the penetration rate by natural gas in
China’s energy mix is expected to be further enhanced in 2016 and
years after. NDRC's decision to cut city gate gas price in November
2015 will improve the competitiveness of natural gas compared to its
substitutes, and therefore stimulate the natural gas demand and
consumption in the coming years, which will greatly support the
Group's further growth through production increase and market
expansion.

For 2016, the Group will continue to pursue further development of
Panzhuang beyond its designed commercial production capacity and
development preparation of Mabi. In Panzhuang, the focuses will be
on the production enhancement of current production wells and
drilling of new production wells, and in Mabi, the focuses will be on
improving the performance of pilot wells, as well as facilitating the
relevant approvals from authorities associated to the Mabi ODP I. Our
full year 2016 plan comprises the drilling of 37 SLH production wells
(comprising 30 in Panzhuang and 7 in Mabi) and 10 exploration wells (in
Mabi), and fracturing of 5 SLH repeated production wells (in Mabi), 21
pad-drilled wells (comprising é in Panzhuang and 15 in Mabi), and 30
exploration wells (comprising 2 in Panzhuang and 28 in Mabi). The
Group plans to incur capital expenditure of RMB832 million, which will
be funded by proceeds from the IPO, unutilized portion of the US$250
million RBL loan or internal cashflows. Our full year gross production
expectation is 659.4 mmcm (23.3 bcf) (comprising 608.7 mmcm (21.5
bcf) for Panzhuang and 50.7 mmecm (1.8 bcf) for Mabi) subject to
anticipated project execution and related government approvals. We
are confident that this program will further enhance the Group's
position as the leading independent CBM producer in China, and will
greatly support the Group's further growth.

The NDRC announced in 2H 2015 an adjustment to the non-residential
gas price, which include a decrease in non-residential gas price by
RMBO.70/cubic meter. According to the NDRC, the adjustment is for
the purpose of increasing the competitiveness of natural gas to other
substitutes and encouraging the use of natural gas to both residential
and industrial sector. The adjustment of the natural gas price in 2015
will encourage the utilization of natural gas by industry and commercial
sector and benefit the upstream development of natural gas and CBM
in the long term. As a high productivity, low-cost upstream gas
producer with a strong balance sheet, we are well positioned to further
expand our production in Panzhuang and commercial development in
Mabi to satisfy China’s growing energy demand.

2016 FRE K&

FEE B BB B RSB
B E7 > M EZEREREPBERRE S - Y
2016 F R BER B FERARAT B LR &R T
B & —F E T - BIRERER2015F
MATHBTMRREREBORESRARKE
BREERERBF S - EHRIBURKEFRA
REFBRAEE - BPHAKEBEBINAEEM
MIGRRE —PEER

IRTE R

%mwiﬁ% EENTEE ARG ER AN
AEESREERY RS EBEENR B
%WQ%%MEE%%FW&&% BB E
ERBRIEEFNESIEARBETEEN
MBI TR ERABRHORRARRES
M5 L RS R B — R R RAFERR L S Ay
E o 2016F N2 FEREEBREIMEES X
IKFAEEH (Eh30EM A ER L7 EURE
W) R A0EEN R H (LR F ) » AR TR 5 @
BOXKPAEFIAEX) 21EZERHF
(H i o A G A& S R 158 R 5 %) K 301
BV R (EL P 2B P E T & 28 (AR B 4) K9
BETIF - AEBEFEEEEAFAIARYE
831BIL BIAB X AREBEESHIEHIE 25
BETHEMEZABABD RAIBEE R
FeRZMerFrEESRERAIATET T K
(233BL FER) (BIEEF608.7 BB A K
(2158 FHR) MBHS07EEILH K18
B HER)) R TIEEEB 1T RAEEK
AL EME » ZRFABEL - A LRIEEB#E—
SRAAEBEATHELNB LR B EE
RN - TSR DB AR E AR REEE -

BRENEZN2015F N EFESHALIEER
BRARER  EREIEERARAREBIRE
RELFKARE0707T - BIBFBRBENEN
AR ZAZNENRRARAZEEEME
REEFENBFFHNIEBERMIEAFPFERX
AR > 015FRARERARBEBH T ELD
EBHMNRAARERIBFFRRARRERE R
MEE SR - (ERES R KARITASR
MABEABRMN ENRAARTEER - HME
Mg EHE— SRR EENEEMNSME
R FE B R LUR B R BT R A AE

IR o
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REVIEW OF FINANCIAL RESULTS B3 4E R B

For the Year Ended
31 December,
BZ12A31MBLEE

2015 2014
2015 % 20144
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBT ARETT

20

Revenue

— Panzhuang
— Mabi

Subsidy income

— Panzhuang
— Mabi

VAT refund

— Panzhuang
— Mabi

Other (losses)/gains , net

Operating expenses
Depreciation and amortization
Employee benefit expenses
Materials, services and logistics
Others

Panzhuang

Depreciation and amortization
Employee benefit expenses
Materials, services and logistics
Others

Mabi

Depreciation and amortization
Employee benefit expenses
Materials, services and logistics
Others

A
— &R
— B

RSB A
— &
— B

BEBRH
— &
— B

Hit (B518) W B8

KRERX
s R 8
BITEMMZ
MR RIS R
HAh

b

s R 8
BITEMMZ
MR RIS R
HAh

B

res R 8
BITEMMZ
MR RIS R
HAh
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536,655 425,895
536,655 425,895
68,808 56,080
68,808 56,080
58,864 95,117
58,864 95,117

(163) 111
(434,323) (293,635)
(142,086) (107,772)
(155,162) (102,168)
(113,815) (56,656)
(23,260) (27,039)
(241,557) (186,080)
(131,214) (98,487)
(49,258) (40,219)
(49,601) (35,296)
(11,484) (12,078)
(51,496) (39,991)
(8,370) (7,183)
(24,581) (16,833)
(12,496) (9,124)
(6,049) (6,851)
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REVIEW OF FINANCIAL RESULTS (Continued) B EEERE ()

For the Year Ended
31 December,

BE12A31BLFE

2015 2014
2015 % 20144
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBT ARETTT

Headquarters AE (141,270) (67,564)
Depreciation and amortization e N (2,502) (2,102)
Employee benefit expenses BTEMAX (81,323) (45,116)
Materials, services and logistics MR RIS &7 (51,718) (12,236)
Others H (5,727) (8,110

EBITDA EBITDA 371,927 391,340
— Panzhuang — & 554,009 489,510
— Mabi — BN (43,314) (32,709)

Profit from operations g bragll 229,841 283,568

Interest income FE YA 5,815 2,804

Finance costs B TE R AN (29,126) (6,872)

Exchange loss [ 5 & 18 (154,813) (4,452)

Finance costs — net WA EEE (178,124) (8,520)

Profit before income tax MRETE B AR R 51,717 275,048

Income tax expenses FriSfiMA > (108,656) (80,060)

(Loss)/Profit for the year FR(EE) EFR (56,939) 194,988
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REVIEW OF FINANCIAL RESULTS (Continued)

Revenue. Our revenue increased by RMB110.8 million, or 26.0%, from
RMB425.9 million in 2014 to RMB536.7 million in 2015. This increase
was due to an increase in net sales volume from 246.1 mmcm (8.686
bcf) in 2014 to 322.6 mmem (11.389 bcf) in 2015 arising from increased
production and improvement in the utilization rate (being (gross
production volume less utilization loss) divided by gross production
volume) from 85% in 2014 to 98% in 2015, which was partially offset by
the effects of the decrease in PSC allocation rate from 94.0% in 2014 to
80% in 2015 after exploration costs had been fully recovered in
December 2014, and a temporary promotional price reduction
beginning in September 2015 which resulted in a decrease to the
average realized price to RMB1.56 per cubic meter for the second half
of 2015 compared to RMB1.77 per cubic meter in the first half of 2015.
The average selling prices of CBM for 2014 and 2015 were RMB1.73
and RMB1.66 per cubic meter, respectively. The increase in net sales
volume was a result of increased production in the Panzhuang
concession due to new wells being put into production in the second
half of 2015, increased production from existing wells after the
implementation of production enhancements such as pressure
optimization, and improvement in the utilization rate.

Set out below are the production, sales, number of producing wells,
average realized selling price and revenue for Panzhuang:
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Year Ended 31 December,
BZ12A31MHILEE

2015 2014
2015 % 20144
Gross production volume (bcf)’ BES(THEMFRR) 17.241 12.631
Gross sales volume (bcf)? s (HEN HERR)? 14.648 9.240
Net sales volume (bcf)? HEFB(TEZHFRR)S 11.389 8.686
Accumulative number of producing wells EEHZFEE 66 50
Average realized selling price THERER
RMB per cubic meter AR¥ETT S5 K 1.66 173
US$ per mcf x5t/ T HER 7.60 7.98
Revenue (in RMB in thousands) WAARETIT) 536,655 425,895
Note: 5T
1. Gross production volume is the total amount of CBM produced. 1. HESRELEERERES -
2. Gross sales volume is gross production volume less (i) utilization loss and (ii) 2. BB ABESR()FEBEBERRG) AXTEAGE
amounts sold to pay applicable VAT and local taxes. MREMBIENAEHE -
3. Net sales volume is that portion of gross sales volume allocated to us under the 3. FHERKMBBERDKEREGENEHEENS -

production sharing contract.
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REVIEW OF FINANCIAL RESULTS (Continued)

Subsidy income. We had subsidy income of RMB56.1 million in 2014
and RMB68.8 million in 2015. Our subsidy income increased by
RMB12.7 million or 22.6%, mainly due to the increase in sales volume,
partially offset by the effects of the decrease in PSC allocation rate
from 94.0% in 2014 to 80% in 2015 after exploration costs were fully
recovered in December 2014.

VAT refund. Our VAT refund of RMB95.1 million in 2014 included
RMB45.7 million for the years 2008 to 2013 and RMB49.4 million for
2014. Our VAT refund for 2015 is RMB58.9 million. Compared with VAT
refund directly attributable to the year of 2014, our VAT refund
increased by RMB9.5 million or 19.2% in 2015. This was mainly due to
increase in sales revenue, partially offset by the effects of the decrease
in PSC allocation rate from 94.0% in 2014 to 80% in 2015 after
exploration costs were fully recovered in December 2014 and a
reduction in average selling price of CBM in 2015.

Other gains/losses, net. Our other gains/loss changed from a gain of
RMB 111,077 in 2014 to a loss of RMB163,025 in 2015. The loss in 2015
was due to disposition of scrap materials at Mabi.

Operating expenses. Our operating expenses increased by RMB140.7
million or 47.9%, from RMB293.6 million in 2014 to RMB434.3 million in
2015 primarily due to increases in depreciation and amortization as a
result of increased production at Panzhuang, increases in employee
benefit expenses primarily due to the share-based compensation
expense and increased labour costs, and increases in materials,
services and logistics expenses mainly due to one-off expenses related
to our IPO, headquarters’ business development feasibility studies
expenses, more wells put into production, and additional boosters and
compressors installed in 2015.

o Depreciation and amortization. Our depreciation and
amortization increased by RMB34.3 million or 31.8%, from
RMB107.8 million in 2014 to RMB142.1 million in 2015 largely due
to increase in production volume at Panzhuang by 36.5% from
357.6 mmem (12.631 bcf) in 2014 to 488.3 mmcm (17.241 bcf) in
2015 due to production enhancements and putting new wells
into production.
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Employee benefit expenses. Our employee benefit expenses
increased by RMB53.0 million or 51.9%, from RMB102.2 million in
2014 to RMB155.2 million in 2015 primarily due to: (i) increase in
non-cash share-based compensation expenses in headquarters,
(i) additional senior management headcount hired in 2015 plus a
full year’'s employee benefit expenses in 2015 for senior
management hired in late 2014, and (iii) increase in salaries,
benefits and bonuses.

Materials, services and logistics. Our materials, services and
logistics expenses increased by RMB57.1 million or 100.7%, from
RMB56.7 million in 2014 to RMB113.8 million in 2015, primarily
due to one-off expenses related to IPO totaling RMB28.3 million,
non-operations-related expenses for headquarters’ business
development feasibility studies of RMB13.0 million, and increased
electricity and other operating costs at Panzhuang associated
with more wells put into production and additional boosters and
compressors installed in gas gathering stations in 2015.

Others. Our other expenses decreased by RMB3.7 million or
13.7%, from RMB27.0 million in 2014 to RMB23.3 million in 2015,
mainly due to RMB7.2 million provision for impairment of trade
receivables related to sales of compressed natural gas (“CNG")
to a customer accrued in 2014, partially offset by increase in
office supplies purchased for Panzhuang's new office building.
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REVIEW OF FINANCIAL RESULTS (Continued)

EBITDA. Our EBITDA decreased by RMB19.4 million or 5.0%, from
RMB391.3 million in 2014 to RMB371.9 million in 2015. This decrease
was primarily due to the effects of the decrease in PSC allocation rate
from 94.0% in 2014 to 80% in 2015, increase in operating expenses,
reduction in VAT refund since VAT refund for 2014 included VAT refund
for the years 2008 to 2014 whereas VAT refund for 2015 only includes
VAT refund for that year, and decrease in average realized price from
RMB1.73 per cubic meter in 2014 to RMB1.66 per cubic meter in 2015
due to the temporary promotional price reduction beginning in
September 2015, which was offset by increase in revenues and subsidy
income from increased production and improvements in the utilization
rate. Included in the EBITDA of RMB391.3 million in 2014 is the first
time recognition of VAT refund for years from 2008 to 2013 totaling
RMB45.7 million, non-cash share-based compensation expenses of
RMB34.5 million, one-time expenses of RMB4.7 million related to our
IPO, and bad debt provision RMB7.2 million. Included in the EBITDA of
RMB371.9 million in 2015 are non-cash share-based compensation
expenses of RMB44.7 million, one-time expenses of RMB28.3 million
related to our IPO and non-operations-related expenses for
headquarters’ business development feasibility studies of RMB13.0
million. After excluding i) VAT refund for the years 2008 to 2013, non-
cash share-based compensation expenses, one-time IPO-related
expenses, and bad debt provision included in 2014; and ii) non-cash
share-based compensation expenses, one-time IPO expenses and non-
operations-related business development feasibility studies expenses
included in 2015, our adjusted EBITDA from core operations is
RMB392.0 million and RMB457.9 million in 2014 and 2015, respectively,
or an increase of RMB65.9 million or 16.8% in 2015. Panzhuang's
EBITDA increased by RMB64.5 million or 13.2%, from RMB489.5 million
in 2014 to RMB554.0 million in 2015. Included in Panzhuang's EBITDA
in 2014 is the first time recognition of VAT refund for years from 2008
to 2013 and bad debt provision. Panzhuang’s EBITDA in 2015 increased
because sales volume increased due to increased production and
improvement in the utilization rate, which was partially offset by the
effects of the decrease in PSC allocation rate from 94.0% in 2014 to
80% in 2015, decrease in average realized selling price, higher
operating expenses and lower VAT refund. Mabi's EBITDA was
negative RMB32.7 million in 2014 and negative RMB43.3 million in 2015
since it was still in the exploration stage during both years.
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REVIEW OF FINANCIAL RESULTS (Continued)

Profit from operations. As a result of the foregoing, our profit from
operations decreased by RMB53.8 million or 19.0%, from a profit from
operations of RMB283.6 million in 2014 to a profit from operations of
RMB229.8 million in 2015. Included in profit from operations of
RMB283.6 million in 2014 are the first time recognition of VAT refund
for the years 2008 to 2013 totalling RMB45.7 million, non-cash share-
based compensation expenses of RMB34.5 million, one-time expenses
of RMB4.7 million related to our IPO, and bad debt provision RMB7.2
million. Included in the profit from operations of RMB229.8 million in
2015 are non-cash share-based compensation expenses of RMB44.7
million, one-time expenses of RMB28.3 million related to our IPO, and
non-operations-related expenses for headquarters’ business
development feasibility studies of RMB13.0 million. After excluding i)
VAT refund for the years 2008 to 2013, and non-cash share-based
compensation expenses, one-time IPO-related expenses, and bad
debt provision included in 2014; and ii) non-cash share-based
compensation expenses, one-time IPO expenses and non-operations-
related business development feasibility studies expenses included in
2015, our adjusted profit from core operations is RMB284.3 million and
RMB315.8 million in 2014 and 2015, respectively, or an increase of
RMB31.5 million or 11.1% in 2015.

Interest income. Our interest income increased by RMB3.0 million or
107.1%, from RMB2.8 million in 2014 to RMB5.8 million in 2015 primarily
due to interest earned from increased cash and fixed deposit balances.

Finance costs. Our finance costs increased by RMB22.2 million or
321.7%, from RMB6.9 million in 2014 to RMB29.1 million in 2015, largely
due to writing off non-cash unamortized costs of RMB14.9 million
related to the original US$100 million reserve-based lending (“RBL")
loan after re-financing this US$100 million RBL loan (“Original US$100
million RBL") with a new US$250 million RBL loan.

Exchange losses. Our foreign exchange translation losses increased by
RMB150.3 million from RMB4.5 million in 2014 to RMB154.8 million in
2015 primarily from the movements in Renminbi exchange rate from
RMB6.1190 to RMB6.4936 against the US dollar resulting in non-cash
foreign currency translation losses of RMB161.3 million in 2015 (RMB6.1
million in 2014) arising from the US dollar denominated intercompany
loan provided by us to our subsidiaries while local books and records
are denominated in Renminbi.
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REVIEW OF FINANCIAL RESULTS (Continued)

Profit before income tax. Our profit before income tax decreased by
RMB223.3 million or 81.2% from a profit of RMB275.0 million in 2014 to
a profit of RMB51.7 million in 2015 mainly due to increase in non-cash
foreign exchange translation losses, writing off non-cash unamortized
costs related to the Original US$100 million RBL loan, in addition to the
factors affecting EBITDA stated above. Included in profit before
income tax of RMB275.0 million in 2014 are the first time recognition of
VAT refund for the years 2008 to 2013 totaling RMB45.7 million, non-
cash share-based compensation expenses of RMB34.5 million, one-
time expenses of RMB4.7 million related to our IPO, bad debt provision
RMB?7.2 million, and non-cash foreign exchange translation loss arising
from the US dollar denominated intercompany loan of RMB6.1 million.
Included in the profit before income tax of RMB51.7 million in 2015 are
non-cash foreign exchange translation loss arising from the US dollar
denominated intercompany loan of RMB161.3 million, write-off of non-
cash unamortized costs of RMB14.9 million related to the Original
US$100 million RBL loan, non-cash share-based compensation
expenses of RMB44.7 million, one-time expenses of RMB28.3 million
related to our IPO, and non-operations-related expenses for
headquarters’ business development feasibility studies of RMB13.0
million. After excluding i) VAT refund for the years 2008 to 2013, non-
cash share-based compensation expenses, one-time IPO-related
expenses, bad debt provision and non-cash foreign exchange
translation loss arising from the US dollar denominated intercompany
loan included in 2014; and ii) non-cash foreign exchange translation
loss arising from the US dollar denominated intercompany loan, write-
off of non-cash unamortized costs related to the Original US$100
million RBL loan, non-cash share-based compensation expenses, one-
time IPO-related expenses, and non-operations-related expenses for
business development included in 2015, our adjusted profit before
income tax from core operations is RMB281.8 million and RMB313.8
million in 2014 and 2015, respectively.

Income tax expense. Our income tax expense increased by RMB28.6
million, or 35.7%, from RMB80.1 million in 2014 to RMB108.7 million in
2015, mainly due to the recognition of RMB38.5 million of non-cash
income tax expense related to deferred tax liability in connection with
VAT refund based on the local tax authorities’ latest verbal
interpretation on the tax treatment for VAT refund, which was partially
offset by decrease in current income tax expense due to decrease in
profit before income tax in 2015. Income tax expense is calculated
based on Panzhuang's taxable profit. Mabi had no income tax expense
given it is still in the exploration stage and had no taxable profit.
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REVIEW OF FINANCIAL RESULTS (Continued)
(Loss)/Profit for the year. Our loss/profit for the year changed from a
profit of RMB195.0 million in 2014 to a loss of RMB56.9 million in 2015,
primarily due to the increase in income tax expense of RMB28.6 million
in addition to the factors affecting profit before taxation and EBITDA
stated above. Included in profit for the year of RMB195.0 million in
2014 are the first time recognition of VAT refund for the years 2008 to
2013 totaling RMB45.7 million, non-cash share-based compensation
expenses of RMB34.5 million, one-time expenses of RMB4.7 million
related to our IPO,bad debt provision RMB7.2 million and non-cash
foreign exchange translation loss arising from the US dollar
denominated intercompany loan of RMB6.1 million. Included in the
loss for the year of RMB56.9 million in 2015 are non-cash foreign
exchange translation losses arising from the US dollar denominated
intercompany loan of RMB161.3 million, non-cash income tax expense
of RMB38.5 million arising from deferred tax on VAT refund, write-off
of non-cash unamortized costs of RMB14.9 million related to the
Original US$100 million RBL loan, non-cash share-based compensation
expenses of RMB44.7 million, one-time expenses of RMB28.3 million
related to our IPO, non-operations-related expenses for headquarters’
business development feasibility studies of RMB13.0 million. After
excluding i) VAT refund for the years 2008 to 2013, non-cash share-
based compensation expenses, one-time IPO-related expenses, bad
debt provision and non-cash foreign exchange translation loss arising
from the US dollar denominated intercompany loan included in 2014;
and i) non-cash foreign exchange translation losses arising from the US
dollar denominated intercompany loan, non-cash income tax expense
arising from deferred tax on VAT refund, write-off of non-cash
unamortized costs related to the Original US$100 million RBL loan,
non-cash share-based compensation expenses, one-time IPO-related
expenses, non-operations-related expenses for business development
included in 2015, our adjusted profit for the year from core operations
is RMB201.8 million and RMB243.7 million in 2014 and 2015,
respectively.
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LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES

Our primary sources of funding include cash generated through the
proceeds from the IPO, cash generated from operating activities and
bank borrowings.

We received in our bank account HK$1,957.4 million (around
RMB1,544.4 million) of proceeds from the IPO and interests in the
second half of 2015, and we had cash and bank balances of RMB2,563.8
million as at 31 December 2015 (RMB1,099.7 million as at 31 December
2014).

On 8 July 2015, SAEL entered into a new US$250 million reserve-based
facility with The Hongkong and Shanghai Banking Corporation Limited,
Standard Chartered Bank (Hong Kong) Limited, Bank of
Communication Ltd, Offshore Banking Unit and Societe Generale,
Singapore Branch (“New US$250 million RBL") and on 16 July 2015,
SAE! successfully drew down part of the New US$250 million RBL loan
to prepay and replace the Original US$100 million RBL loan.

As of 31 December 2014 and 2015, we had long-term borrowings of
RMB362.3 million and RMB418.9 million, respectively, all of which were
non-current secured U.S. dollar bank borrowings representing the
drawn portion of the Original US$100 million RBL loan as of 31
December 2014 and the New US$250 million RBL loan as of 31
December 2015, respectively.

As at 31 December 2015, the gearing ratio (ratio of total borrowings to
total equity) of the Group was 9.1% (31 December 2014: 12.9%).

Save as the information disclosed above or otherwise in this annual
report, the Group has no outstanding mortgage, pledge, debentures
or other loan capital issued or agreed to be issued, bank overdrafts,
borrowings, liabilities under acceptance or other similar liabilities, hire
purchase and finance lease commitments, or any guarantees or other
material contingent liabilities as at 31 December 2015.
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LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES (Continued)
Cash Flows

The table below sets forth our cash flows for each of the years
indicated.

Management Discussion and Analysis

REBEEREAXRER @)
HehE
TEEIREFRREENBLRE -

Year Ended 31 December,
BZ12A31MBLEE

2015 2014
2015 % 2014 4F
RMB’'000 RMB'000
ARET T ARBTT
Net cash generated from operating activities KRBTSR S F5E 317,382 297,587
Net cash used in investing activities KEEEFRAR S5 (743,937) (420,954)
Net cash generated from financing activities REEEATSIR & F5E 1,517,712 1,014,039
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents ReERBEEY
N FEE 1,091,157 890,672
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the year F#IR & MBS EEY 1,099,673 209,194
Exchange gains/(losses) on cash RENESEEYER
and cash equivalents Was,/ (E518) 118,980 (193)
Cash and cash equivalents at end of the year FERIES RIS EEY 2,309,810 1,099,673
Operating Activities RETE

Net cash generated from operating activities was RMB317.4 million in
2015 largely due to profit before income tax of RMB51.7 million,
exchange losses of RMB159.1 million which includes non-cash foreign
exchange translation losses of RMB161.3 million arising from the US
dollar denominated intercompany loan, depreciation and amortization
of RMB142.1 million, non-cash share-based compensation of RMB44.7
million, RMB28.3 million of expenses related to IPO, finance costs of
RMB29.1 million which included RMB14.9 million non-cash unamortized
costs written off for the Original US$100 million RBL loan, and increase
in trade and other payables of RMB9.5 million. These were offset by an
increase in trade and other receivables of RMB7.3 million, RMB109.9
million income tax paid, and RMB24.2 million of interest paid under the
Original US$100 million RBL and New US$250 million RBL loan .
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LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES (Continued)
Cash Flows (Continued)

Operating Activities (Continued)

Net cash generated from operating activities was RMB297.6 million in
2014, largely due to profit before income tax of RMB275.0 million,
depreciation and amortization of RMB107.8 million, share-based
compensation of RMB34.5 million, provision for bad debt of RMB7.2
million, finance costs of RMB4.9 million mainly for bank loan
commitment fees, RMB4.7 million of expenses related to IPO,
exchange losses of RMB4.5 million mainly from foreign currency
translation losses from the loan from us to our subsidiaries
denominated in U.S. dollars while local books and records are kept in
Renminbi, and decreases in inventories of RMB6.0 million. These were
offset by an increase in trade and other receivables of RMB121.9
million, mainly due to the increase of receivables for subsidy income
and VAT refund, decrease in trade and other payables of RMB1.6
million, and interest paid of RMB22.6 million mainly for the Original
US$100 million RBL loan.

Investing Activities

Net cash used in investing activities was RMB743.9 million in 2015 is
mainly for the purchase of property, plant and equipment of RMB494.8
million, increase in term deposits with an initial term of over three
months of RMB246.0 million, increase in restricted bank deposits of
RMB8.0 million, offset by interest received of RMB4.8 million. The
purchase of property, plant and equipment primarily comprised of
payment for construction of Panzhuang's new office building, more
wells drilled, additional boosters and compressors, and construction of
gas gathering stations and power facilities.

Net cash used in investing activities was RMB421.0 million in 2014
primarily due to purchases of property, plant and equipment of
RMB423.9 million to increase production from existing wells in the
Panzhuang concession and as more wells were drilled and gas
gathering stations were built for the development of the Panzhuang
concession and the exploration of the Mabi concession, offset by
interest received of RMB2.8 million.
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Financing Activities

Net cash generated from financing activities was RMB1,517.7 million in
2015 largely due to RMB1,544.4 million of proceeds from the IPO and
RMB428.0 million of cash received from the New US$250 million RBL
loan, offset by RMB29.3 million of IPO-related expenses, RMB379.0
million repayment of the utilized portion of the Original US$100 million
RBL loan, and finance costs of RMB48.7 million comprising RMB12.3
million payment for commitment fees paid for unutilized portion of the
Original US$100 million RBL loan and the New US$250 million RBL
loan, and RMB36.4 million of arrangement fee and expenses related to
the New US$250 million RBL loan.

Net cash generated from financing activities was RMB1,014.0 million in
2014 largely due to RMB1,025.2 million in funds received from
shareholder loans, which were subsequently converted into equity on
31 December 2014.

Cash and Bank Balances

We had cash and bank balances of RMB1,099.7 million and RMB2,563.8
million as of 31 December 2014 and 2015, respectively. Our cash and
bank balances consist of cash on hand, term deposits with term of over
three months, and restricted bank deposits. The increase in our cash
position is largely due to cash generated from the IPO proceeds and
operations. As at 31 December 2014 and 2015, we had approximately
66.5% and 73.9% of our cash and bank balances held in Hong Kong or
US dollars.

EBITDA AND ADJUSTED EBITDA

We provide a reconciliation of EBITDA and adjusted EBITDA to (loss)/
profit for the year, our most directly comparable financial performance
calculated and presented in accordance with HKFRS. EBITDA refers to
earnings before interest income, finance costs, exchange loss, income
tax and depreciation and amortization. Adjusted EBITDA refers to
EBITDA adjusted to exclude non-cash expenses, non-recurring items
or non-operations-related expenses to show EBITDA from the Group's
core operations.
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EBITDA AND ADJUSTED EBITDA (Continued)

We have included EBITDA and adjusted EBITDA as we believe they are
a financial measure commonly used in the oil and gas industry. We
believe that EBITDA and adjusted EBITDA are used as supplemental
financial measures by our management and by investors, research
analysts, bankers and others to assess our operating performance, cash
flow and return on capital as compared to those of other companies in
our industry, and our ability to take on financing. However, EBITDA and
adjusted EBITDA should not be considered in isolation or construed as
alternatives to profit from operations or any other measure of
performance or as an indicator of our operating performance or
profitability. EBITDA and adjusted EBITDA fail to account for income
tax, exchange losses, interest income, finance costs and depreciation
and amortization.

The following table presents a reconciliation of EBITDA and adjusted
EBITDA to (loss)/profit for the year:

EBITDA K R EBITDA (&)

A E 5 AEBITDA K &£ # 2 EBITDA * & H
R FIR B EBITDA T MR 1T 5 A B &5t
= o K {2 BEBITDA K & FHF EBITDA T /1
BRE - IREE  AROWE - RITREEAM
ANTRBIEHTT ST E - A ERFIES R
AEMATNEERE ReREMEARDR
RARBPIAEREREE S - A - EBITDA
K 48 A5 EBITDA 7 A 4 52 JE 18 3 A 48 &k 7l
FAMEMREAE - T REAEEER
SEMEMRBEAFENERER R AN
AR AN EE W IEIE - EBITDA K48 3
B EBITDARREL FTISH - N EE - FIE UK
A~ BARSRCAN R 3T B N 5R i o R A o

TR &5 R EBITDA N 48 8 % EBITDA £ (/&
18),/ AR

Year Ended 31 December,
BZ12A31BLLEE

2015 2014
2015 2014 4
RMB’'000 RMB’000
AR®T T AREFT

Reconciliation of (loss)/profit for the year FR(EE) EF
to EBITDA: EBITDA H9¥i ik :

(Loss)/Profit for the year FER(EER), SRR (56,939) 194,988
Income tax expenses FriSHif X2 108,656 80,060
Interest income FEHA (5,815) (2,804)
Finance costs B TSRS 29,126 6,872
Exchange losses IE 7 E518 154,813 4,452
Depreciation and amortization PrE LY 142,086 107,772

EBITDA EBITDA 371,927 391,340
Non-cash share based compensation expenses AR AR A AR B FE TR & SR BN

EF3 44,702 34,469

Listing expenses related to the IPO BRARBERBN EHRX 28,273 4,720

Bad debt provision R A 7,197
Non-operations-related feasibility studies FEL BN A TR X

expenses 12,968 -

VAT refund for 2008 to 2013 included in 2014 A 2014 F #92008 F =
2013 FIEERIRTE 0 (45,688)
Adjusted EBITDA KBTI EBITDA 457,870 392,038
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EBITDA AND ADJUSTED EBITDA (Continued)

The Group's EBITDA decreased by RMB19.4 million or 5.0%, from
RMB391.3 million in 2014 to RMB371.9 million in 2015. The decrease
was primarily due to the effects of the decrease in PSC allocation rate
from 94.0% in 2014 to 80% in 2015, increase in operating expenses,
reduction in VAT refund since VAT refund for 2014 included VAT refund
for the years 2008 to 2014 whereas VAT refund for 2015 only includes
VAT refund for that year, and decrease in average realized price from
RMB1.73 per cubic meter in 2014 to RMB1.66 per cubic meter in 2015
due to the temporary promotional price reduction beginning in
September 2015, which were offset by increase in revenues and subsidy
income from increased production and improvements in the utilization
rate.

The Group's adjusted EBITDA increased by RMB65.9 million, or 16.8%,
from RMB392.0 million in 2014 to RMB457.9 million in 2015. This
increase was due to the reasons explained above for the decrease in
EBITDA, adjusted for increased non-cash share-based compensation
expenses, one-time IPO related expenses, non-operations-related
feasibility studies expenses included in 2015, and the exclusion of the
non-recurring portion of VAT refund and non-cash bad debt provision
in 2014.

FINANCIAL RISK FACTORS

Our activities expose us to a variety of financial risks, including credit
risk, market risk (including foreign exchange risk, cash flow interest rate
risk), liquidity risk and concentration risk. Our overall risk management
program focuses on the unpredictability of financial markets and seeks
to minimize potential adverse effects on our financial performance.

Credit Risk

As the majority of the cash at bank balances are placed with state-
owned and international banks and financial institutions in the PRC and
Hong Kong and there has been no recent history of default in relation
to these banks and financial institutions, the corresponding credit risk
is relatively low. Therefore, our credit risk arises primarily from trade
and other receivables. We have controls in place to assess the credit
quality of our customers. We have concentration risk on trade
receivables. Only limited allowance for uncollectible receivables were
made in the past as our sales were only made to the customers with
good credit history. The utilisation of credit limits is regularly
monitored.
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FINANCIAL RISK FACTORS (Continued)

Foreign Exchange Risk

We are exposed to foreign exchange risk arising from various currency
exposures, primarily with respect to the U.S. dollar. Foreign exchange
risk arises when future commercial transactions or recognized assets or
liabilities are denominated in a currency other than our functional
currency.

Substantially all of our exchange losses arose from the non-cash
foreign currency translation losses from the US$ denominated inter-
company loan. We manage our foreign exchange risk by closely
monitoring the movement of the foreign currency rates, and by
monitoring the amount of the US$ loan utilised from the US$250 million
revolving credit facility, which is our only US$ borrowings from third
parties.

As at 31 December 2015, if RMB had weakened/strengthened by 1%
against the US$ with all other variables held constant, profit before tax
for the year would have been RMB28,905,000 (31 December 2014:
RMB7,318,000) lower/higher, respectively, mainly as a result of foreign
exchange gains/losses on translation of US$ denominated payables
held by the Group entities with their functional currency as RMB.

Interest Rate Risk

Our income and operating cash flows are substantially independent of
the changes in market rates. Our floating-rate bank borrowings expose
us to cash flow interest rate risk.

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENT HELD

The Group did not hold any significant investments during the period
from the listing of the Company on 23 June 2015 (the “Listing Date”)
to 31 December 2015.

MATERIAL ACQUISITION AND DISPOSAL OF
SUBSIDIARIES AND ASSOCIATED COMPANIES

The Group has no material acquisitions or disposals of subsidiaries and
associated companies during the period from the Listing Date to 31
December 2015.

EMPLOYEES

As at 31 December 2015, we had 730 employees, with 76 based in
Beijing, 652 based in Shanxi and 2 based in Hong Kong. There have
been no material changes to the information disclosed in the
prospectus dated 11 June 2015 (the “Prospectus”) in respect the
remuneration of employees, remuneration policies and staff
development.
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DIRECTORS

Executive Director

Dr. Stephen Xiangdong Zou (“Dr. ZOU") (BEIRE L), aged 58, is
the primary founder of the Group, an executive director of the
Company ("Director”) and the chairman of the Board. Dr. ZOU is
primarily responsible for the Group's overall development and growth
strategies, investor and public relations, board governance and
supervision of key management issues. Dr. ZOU has been the chairman
and chief executive officer of AAG Energy Limited (our then parent
Company the “"Parent Company”) since February 2008 and October
2013, respectively. He has been a director, the chief executive officer
and chairman of the board of directors of AAGI since July 2004, August
2006 and October 2013, respectively. He was the president of AAGI
from July 2005 to October 2013. He has been a director and the
president of SAEIl since June 2007.

Dr. ZOU has over 30 years of experience in energy resources fields in
the U.S. and the PRC, mainly in coal, CBM and petroleum exploration
and development. He is considered one of the pioneers of China’s
CBM industry. From 1999 to 2006, he was a director, executive vice
president, president and chief China representative of Asian American
Coal, Inc. (“AACI") and was responsible for development and
implementation of AACI’s short-term and long-term work plans,
management of its daily operations and business development,
including project acquisition, assessment and approvals, contract
negotiation and approvals, and partner relations. During this period,
he identified and developed two coal mining projects, the Daning coal
mine and the Gaohe coal mine, and two CBM projects.

Dr. ZOU was the general manager of CBM projects of Phillips China
Inc. (FE S ET R B A PR A F)) from 1996 to 1997. He was responsible
for the project coordination between Phillips China Inc. and its
partners, overall management of the projects, negotiation of the
production sharing contract and coordination of the support processes
from Phillips China Inc. From 1994 to 1996, Dr. ZOU was the vice
president of CBM Energy Associates, L.C. and was responsible for its
in-country management, partner relations and business development,
including identification, contract negotiation and development of two
CBM concessions, which led to the establishment of Shanxi Hedong
CBM Company, Ltd., a joint venture established by CBM Energy
Associates, L.C., Shanxi Energy Enterprise (Group) Corporation and
four other local companies in Shanxi Province, and Fuxin Sino-
American CBM Co. Ltd., a joint venture established by CBM Energy
Associates, Inc. and Fuxin Energy Development Corporation, as the
operators of the CBM concessions. From 1994 to 1997, Dr. ZOU was
the vice chairman and general manager for both Shanxi Hedong CBM
Company, Ltd. and Fuxin Sino-American CBM Co., Ltd. and managed
their daily operations, CBM explorations (drillings and reservoir
ation), CBM sales contracts’ negotiations and partner relations.
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From 1989 to 1993, while pursuing his doctorate degree at the
department of geology and geography of West Virginia University, Dr.
ZOU was a teaching assistant as well as a research assistant on a
project sponsored by the U.S. Department of Energy entitled
“Measuring and Predicting Reservoir Heterogeneity in Complex
Deposystems.” Prior to that, he worked as an engineer at the branch of
geology & exploration, China Central Coal Research Institute (7 Bl /&
REHE2 R E B R D FT) from 1985 to 1989 and worked at Shanxi
No. 2 Coal Geological Exploration Co. (1L 75/ M 2 & #k — FX) from
1975 to 1978. Dr. ZOU obtained a bachelor of engineering degree in
coal geology and exploration from Shanxi Mining College (LI FAfE 2
BT) in May 1982 and obtained a master degree from China Central
Coal Research Institute (7 B4 ik BLE W 726 ) in December 1985. Dr.
ZOU earned his doctor of philosophy degree in geology from West
Virginia University in December 1993.

Non-executive Directors

Mr. Peter Randall Kagan, aged 47, is a non-executive Director. Mr.
Kagan is primarily responsible for advising on industrial, geological and
financial matters, Mr. Kagan was appointed to the Parent Company’s
board of directors in April 2011. He has also been one of the directors
of AAGI and SAEI since April 2011.

Mr. Kagan has over 18 years of experience with energy companies and
investments and broad knowledge of the oil and gas industry. He is a
partner of Warburg Pincus & Co., and a member and managing
director of Warburg Pincus LLC, where he has been employed since
1997 and became a managing director in 2002. Mr. Kagan is also a
member of Warburg Pincus LLC's executive management group. Prior
to joining Warburg Pincus LLC, he worked in investment banking at
Salomon Brothers in both New York and Hong Kong from 1990 to
1993. Currently, Mr. Kagan acts as a director for a number of listed
companies. He is an independent non-executive director of MEG
Energy Corp. (TSX: MEG), Antero Resources Corporation (NYSE: AR),
Antero Resources Midstream Management LLC, Targa Resources
Corp. (NYSE: TRGP) and Laredo Petroleum Holdings, Inc. (NYSE: LPI),
respectively.

Mr. Kagan served as a director of Targa Resources GP LLC, the general
partner of Targa Resources Partners LP (NYSE: NGLS), from February
2007 to February 2013 and of Targa Resources, Inc. (Nasdag: TRGP)
from February 2004 to December 2010, respectively. In addition, he
was a director of Broad Oak Energy, Inc. from May 2006 to July 2011.
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Mr. Kagan received his bachelor of arts degree cum laude from
Harvard College in June 1990. He also obtained both juris doctor and
master of business administration degrees with honors from the
University of Chicago in June 1997.

Mr. Gordon Sun Kan Shaw (5 ), aged 51, is a non-executive Director.
Mr. Shaw is primarily responsible for advising on accounting, internal control
and financial matters. Mr. Shaw was appointed to the Parent Company’s
board of directors in February 2008. He is also one of the authorized
representatives of the Company and has been one of the directors of AAGI
and SAEI since February 2008 and March 2010, respectively.

Mr. Shaw has over 20 years of private equity experience with a broad
variety of experience in the finance industry across Asia. Mr. Shaw is a
managing director of Baring Private Equity Asia Limited. Prior to joining
Baring Private Equity Asia Limited in January 1999, Mr. Shaw was a
director at Hong Kong-based AIG Investment Corporation (Asia) Ltd,
which he joined in September 1993. Mr. Shaw served as a director of
Airtac International Group (TT: 1590) from December 2009 to May
2013.

Mr. Shaw received his bachelor of science degree in electrical
engineering from Massachusetts Institute of Technology in June 1986
and his master of business administration degree from Columbia
University in October 1992. Mr. Shaw is a fellow of Life Office
Management Association, Inc (LOMA).

Mr. Zhen Wei (#13&), aged 44, is a non-executive Director. Mr. Wei is
primarily responsible for advising on financial and compensation and
incentive matters. Mr. Wei was appointed to the Parent Company's
board of directors in March 2010. He has been one of the directors of
AAGI and SAEI since March 2010.

Mr. Wei joined Warburg Pincus Asia LLC, a wholly owned subsidiary of
Warburg Pincus LLC, in 2002 and is currently a managing director
leading investments in the consumer and retail, energy and natural
resources and industrial sectors. Before that, he worked as a financial
analyst at the investment banking division of Morgan Stanley Asia from
1997 to 1999 and a business analyst at McKinsey & Company from 1995
to 1997.

Mr. Wei obtained his bachelor of science degree from University of

Texas at Austin in May 1995. He received his Master of Business
Administration degree from Harvard Business School in June 2002.
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Mr. Zhijie Zeng (& Z7), aged 47, is a non-executive Director. Mr. Zeng
is primarily responsible for advising on investment environment and
governmental matters. Mr. Zeng was appointed to the Parent
Company's board of directors in May 2011. He has also been a director
of AAGI and SAEI since February 2012 and December 2011, respectively.

Mr. Zeng has more than 17 years of experience in the venture capital
industry. He has been the general manager of CDB-CITIC since 2008.
Prior to joining CDB-CITIC, he was a managing director of Walden
International from January 2001 to May 2008 and was responsible for
the risk management of the company. Mr. Zeng also worked for CITIC
Pacific Ltd. in Hong Kong from April 1998 to January 2001 and
Mitsubishi Corporation (TYO: 8058), in Tokyo, Japan from September
1995 to April 1998.

Currently, Mr. Zeng acts as a director for a number of listed companies.
He is an independent non-executive director of ChinaSoft International
Limited (HKSE: 0354), E-House (China) Holdings Limited (NYSE: EJ) and
Vimicro International Corporation (Nasdag: VIMC).

Mr. Zeng obtained his bachelor of science degree in economics from
Nagasaki University in Japan in March 1996 and his master of
management degree from Stanford University in June 2001.

Mr. Lei Jin (£%), aged 38, is a non-executive Director. Mr. Jin is primarily
responsible for advising on business development matters. Mr. Jin was
appointed to the Parent Company's board of directors in June 2013. He
has also been a director of AAGI and a director of SAEI both since June
2013.

Mr. Jin has more than 11 years of experience in private equity funds,
principle investment, investment banking and corporate finance. Mr.
Jin has been a managing director and a member of investment review
committee of Chinastone Capital Management Limited since January
2011. Mr. Jin was an assistant to the chairman of a Hong Kong based
investment company from June 2008 to December 2010 and served as
board secretary to Shantou Dongfeng Printing Co., Ltd. (SHA:601515)
from June 2008 to December 2010. He was a vice president of ABN
AMRO from February 2007 to May 2008, an executive director of
Cathay Fortune Corp. from September 2006 to January 2007, an
international business director of a PRC conglomerate from February
2002 to August.2006 and a vice president of a securities company from
February 2002 to August 2006.
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Mr. Jin obtained his bachelor degree in economics from Shanghai Jiao
Tong University in July 1999 and his master of philosophy degree in
economics with merits from University of Cambridge in May 2002.

Dr. Guiyong Cui (E# B {§ =), aged 53, is a non-executive Director.
Dr. Cui is primarily responsible for advising on investor relations. Dr.
Cui was appointed to the Parent Company's board of directors in May
2014. He was one of the directors of AAGI from July 2004 to June 2006
and has resumed such role since July 2014. He has also been one of
the directors of SAEI since July 2014.

Dr. Cui has over 20 years of experience in investment in the energy and
resources sectors. He is a managing director of Baring Private Equity
Asia Limited and is primarily responsible for the firm’s investments in
greater China. Prior to joining Baring, he worked as a managing
director at HOPU Investment Management Co. Ltd. from May 2008 to
September 2009 and became a partner since October 2009. He worked
at Morgan Stanley Asia Limited from April 2007 to April 2008 and acted
as a managing director of investment banking. From March 2004 to
April 2007, he was employed by HSBC Group and held the position of
managing director of Global Investment Banking Asia Pacific —
Resources and Energy at HSBC Markets (Asia) Limited. From June 2002
to August 2003, he served as head of the investment banking division
at ICEA Capital Limited. Dr. Cui was employed by N M Rothschild &
Sons and assumed various positions from September 1994 to June
2002 including the position of managing director, investment banking
and the chief representative China in N M Rothschild & Sons’ Beijing
Office. Dr. Cui is currently a non-executive director of China Shengmu
Organic Milk Limited (HKSE:1432) since March 2014. He also served as
a non-executive director of Winsway Enterprises Holdings Limited
(HKSE: 1733) from June 2010 to January 2012.

Dr. Cui obtained his bachelor of engineering degree and master of
engineering degree from the University of Science and Technology of
Beijing (3t REHZ K&, previously known as Beijing Steel College (3t
FEMEEPT) in April 1982 and June 1987, respectively, and his doctor
of philosophy degree from the University of Oxford in the United
Kingdom in May 1995.

Dr. Bo Bai (H {81 ), aged 38, is a non-executive Director. Dr. Bai is
primarily responsible for advising on human resources and business
development matters. Dr. Bai was appointed to the Parent Company'’s
board of directors in September 2014.
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Dr. Bai has over 10 years of experience in investment in energy and
industrial sectors. Dr. Bai joined Warburg Pincus in 2009 and is a
Managing Director leading its investments in the energy and industrials
sectors in Asia. Previously, he was a vice president at First Reserve
Corporation from February 2008 to October 2009 and an associate at
Goldman Sachs from February 2006 to February 2008.

Dr. Bai has served as a board member of China Advanced Gas
Resources since November 2014, Kaifeng Baosteel Gases Company
since July 2014, Southernpec Storage and Logistics Holding Limited
since October 2013, and Sunnywell Group since March 2013,
respectively.

On 20 March 2012, Dr. Bai was appointed as a director of Titan Group
Investment Limited ("TGIL"), a company incorporated in the BVI
engaged in oil storage services, and a subsidiary of Titan
Petrochemicals Group Limited, which is a company listed on the Hong
Kong Stock Exchange (stock code: 1192), engaged in the business of
supplying oil products and provision of bunker refueling services. At
that time, TGIL was financially distressed, and Dr. Bai’s role included
seeking a means for restructuring the TGIL group for the benefit of its
shareholders and creditors. On 18 June 2012, one of TGIL's
shareholders made an application to the Eastern Caribbean Supreme
Court of the British Virgin Islands for the appointment of liquidators to
TGIL. On 17 July 2012, liquidators were appointed to TGIL as part of
the restructuring which Dr. Bai supported and assisted in
implementing. On 17 September 2012 a consortium agreed to
purchase substantially all of the assets of the TGIL group.

Dr. Bai received a bachelor of science degree and a master of science
degree in physics from the University of Science and Technology of
China in July 1998 and June 2001, respectively. He also received a
doctor of philosophy degree in physics from Massachusetts Institute of
Technology in February 2006, and obtained a certificate in financial
technology option from the Sloan School of Management and the
Electrical Engineering and Computer Science Department at
Massachusetts Institute of Technology in June 2005.
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Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Yaowen Wu (R¥BX), aged 72, is an independent non-executive
Director. Mr. Wu is primarily responsible for independently overseeing
the management. Mr. Wu joined the Group in June 2015.

Mr. Wu has served as chairman of the board of China Coal Energy
Group Ltd (FF B EEEREE B BR A F]) since October 2008. Mr. Wu
served as an outside director of Baosteel Group Co. Ltd (E il &£ B HR
A A]) from October 2005 to March 2013. Mr. Wu served as deputy
general manager in charge of the overseas business of China National
Petroleum Corporation (F B /5 i1 X %A & % & 2 7)) from December
1996 to December 2003. Mr. Wu served as one of the board members
and vice chairman in Petro China Company Limited (9 B )# KA FAR
MABEMRAF]) from May 1999 to July 2004. Mr. Wu also served as chief
petroleum engineer of the National Energy Ministry of the PRC (BIZR &
JRED) from July 1988 to May 1993. Prior to that, Mr. Wu was a general
manager of Qinghai Petroleum Administration Bureau (& /& f & 12
/&) from September 1986 to July 1988. He was a deputy general
manager of China Offshore Oil Donghai Corporation from July 1983 to
October 1986.

Mr. Wu obtained a bachelor of science degree in drilling engineering
from the China University of Petroleum (/1 BIfA JHAE: , formerly known
as 1t A H 2 BT) in August 1968. Mr. Wu is a senior engineer in
professor grade.

Mr. Robert Ralph Parks, aged 72, is an independent non-executive
Director. Mr. Parks is primarily responsible for independently
overseeing the management. Mr. Parks joined the Group in June 2015.

Mr. Parks was appointed as the chairman of Oaktree Capital (Hong
Kong) Limited (“Oaktree”), covering the Asia Pacific region from
February 2007 until March 2012. He is a member of the board of
trustees of Rice University in Houston, Texas in the United States and
serves as chairman of the board of Rice Management Company, which
oversees the university's endowment. He was appointed as an adviser
to the investment committee of the Carnegie Corporate, a charitable

foundation, in New York City. He is also an independent non-executive
director of Ambow Education in Beijing, PRC. He recently completed
his last term as an independent non-executive director of The Siam
Commercial Bank Public Company Limited (SET: SCB) in Bangkok,
Thailand.
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Mr. Parks has over 40 years of experience in investment banking and
has held senior management positions in Asia Pacific, Europe and the
United States. Prior to joining Oaktree, he was chairman and chief
executive officer in JP Morgan Asia Pacific from early 2001 to
November 2006. Prior to that, Mr. Parks joined the Beacon Group in
1997 and was a partner from 1998 to 2000. Mr. Parks joined Goldman
Sachs & Co. in the beginning of 1981 and became a partner in 1986
and was a limited partner for two years until 1996. Mr. Parks started his
investment banking career with Merrill Lynch in 1970. In 1995, Mr. Parks
founded Pear Tree Point School in Darien, Connecticut, USA, an
independent elementary day school, of which he remains the sole
proprietor to the present time.

Mr. Parks obtained his bachelor of arts degree from Rice University in
June 1966 and his master of business administration degree from
Columbia University in June 1970.

Dr. Tin Yau Kelvin Wong (E X #h18 ), aged 55, is an independent
non-executive Director. Dr. Wong is primarily responsible for
independently overseeing the management. Dr. Wong joined the
Group in June 2015. Through his past and current experience with
reviewing audited financial statements of public companies, Dr.
Wong's professional qualifications and related financial management
experience (as mentioned below) have met the requirements under
Rule 3.10(2) of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Listing Rules”).

Dr. Wong is the immediate past chairman of The Hong Kong Institute
of Directors (July 2009 to July 2014). He is a non-executive director of
the Securities and Futures Commission since October 2012, a
convenor-cum-member of the Financial Reporting Panel since July
2013, the council adviser of the Hong Kong Chinese Orchestra Limited
since November 2008, where he was the past chairman from October
2006 to October 2008, a former member of the Main Board and GEM
Listing Committee of the Stock Exchange (May 2007 to May 2013), a
member of the Standing Committee on Company Law Reform since
February 2010, a member of the Corruption Prevention Advisory
Committee of Independent Commission Against Corruption since
January 2011, a member of the Appeal Board Panel (Town Planning)
since December 2009, a council member of The Hong Kong
Management Association since July 2010 and a board director of the
Hong Kong Sports Institute Limited since April 2012.
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He is an executive director and deputy managing director of COSCO
Pacific Limited (HKSE: 1199), where he is responsible for the
management of work relating to capital markets and investor relations.
Currently, Dr. Wong also acts as an independent non-executive
director for a number of listed companies including:

o China ZhengTong Auto Services Holdings Limited (HKSE: 1728),
where he is the chairman of the audit committee;

° I.T Limited (HKSE: 999), where he is the chairman of the audit
committee; and

. Xinjiang Goldwind Science & Technology Co., Ltd. (HKSE: 2208
and SZSE: 002202), where he is the chairman of the audit
committee.

In addition to the above listed companies, Dr. Wong also has been
appointed as independent non-executive director of Shanghai Fosun
Pharmaceutical (Group) Co., Ltd. E/B1EEE & (£ E) RHDER A 7
(HKSE: 2196; Shanghai stock code: 600196) with effect from 29 June
2015. Dr. Wong has been appointed as independent non-executive
director of Huarong International Financial Holdings Limited 2= gh B[R
L EIERB R R F (HKSE: 993) with effect from 23 October 2015. Dr.
Wong has been appointed as independent non-executive director of
Bank of Qingdao Co., Ltd. & & #R1T% A R A & (HKSE: 3866) with
effect from 10 April 2015, which was listed on the Stock Exchange on 3
December 2015. Dr. Wong served as an independent non-executive
director and chairman of the audit committee of China Metal
International Holdings Inc. (HKSE: 319) from December 2004 to July
2013.

Dr. Wong obtained a professional diploma in business studies
(banking) in November 1985, his master of business administration
degree from Andrews University in Michigan in the United States in
August 1992 and his doctor of business administration degree from
The Hong Kong Polytechnic University in December 2007.

Mr. Fredrick J. Barrett, aged 55, is an independent non-executive
Director. Mr. Barrett is primarily responsible for independently

overseeing the management. Mr. Barrett joined the Group in June
2015.
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Mr. Barrett has over 30 years of experience in the energy and resources
industry. Mr. Barrett currently serves as a non-executive director for
Tamboran Resources, a private independent exploration and
production oil and gas company headquartered in Sydney, Australia
since September 2014. Mr. Barrett also currently serves on an advisory
panel and steering committee for Santos Ltd. (ASX: STO), a leading oll
and gas producer headquartered in Adelaide, Australia, providing
technical and strategic advice on their unconventional programs in
Australia since November 2014. Mr. Barrett served various positions in
the Bill Barrett Corporation from 2002 to 2013, which was co-founded
by him in January 2002, and he retired in January 2013. He served as
president and executive director from January 2002 to July 2006, chief
executive officer and chairman of the board from March 2006 to
January 2013 and also served as chief operating officer from June 2005
to February 2006 and also served as president from July 2010 to
January 2013, respectively. Prior to that, Mr. Barrett was a senior
geologist for Barrett Resources in the U.S. Rocky Mountain Region
from 1997 to 2001, and a geologist from 1989 to 1996. Mr. Barrett was
a partner in the Terred Oil Company from 1987 to 1989, a private oil
and gas partnership providing geologic services for the U.S. Rocky
Mountain Region. Mr. Barrett worked as a project and wellsite
geologist intern-in-training for various periods for Barrett Resources
from 1983 to 1986, and held similar training internship roles for various
periods for Barrett Energy and Aeon Energy from 1981 to 1983.

Mr. Barrett obtained his Bachelor of Science and master of science
degrees in geology from Ft. Lewis College, Durango, Colorado, USA
and Kansas State University, Manhattan Kansas, USA in April 1984 and
March 1989, respectively. Mr. Barrett graduated from the Harvard
Business School Advanced Management Program in May 2005.
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SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. Jing Li (2 ), aged 46, is the co-chief executive officer and the
president of the Company. Mr. Li has been the president of the Parent
Company since October 2013. He was the senior vice president and
the vice president of business development of the Parent Company
from March 2011 to October 2013 and from February 2008 to March
2011, respectively. He was the vice president of business development
of AAGI from February 2008 to October 2013 and has been the
president of AAGI since October 2013. He is primarily responsible for
the Group's overall business development and growth strategies,
government and partner relations, sales and marketing, human
resource management, administration matters and public relationships
in relation to the Company’s CBM projects.

Mr. Li has over 16 years of experience in business development, project
management and marketing and sales management in CBM and coal
exploration and development business. Before joining the Group, from
December 1999 to June 2008, he held various positions with AACI
including deputy president of business development, business
development director, project manager and marketing manager.

Mr. Li worked as a sales manager in Beijing Micromatic Machinery Co.,
Ltd. Gt REBEREET M AR A F) from June 1995 to May 1997
and a mechanical engineer in Capital Steel Corporation (& &Pl 525 )
from July 1992 to May 1995.

Mr. Li obtained his bachelor degree in engineering from Shanghai Jiao
Tong University (_E /8 2338 K &) in July 1992 and his bachelor degree in
economics from Peking University (3L R AZ) in August 1998. He received
his master of business administration degree from China Europe
International Business School (4 BXEIR T 7 22F5% ) in April 2000.

Mr. Carl Lakey, aged 54, is co-chief executive officer and chief
operating officer. Mr. Lakey has been the chief operating officer of the
Parent Company since October 2013. He has also been the chief
operating officer of AAGI since October 2013. He is primarily
responsible for Group’s overall development and growth strategies,
operations, the technical group and environmental, health and safety
matters.

Mr. Lakey has over 30 years of experience in oil and gas operations,
engineering and management. Most of this experience was onshore in
the USA, with the recent remainder being in the PRC.
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Prior to joining the Group, he worked at Delta Petroleum Corporation
(“Delta Petroleum”), a U.S. oil and gas company which later became
Par Petroleum Corporation (NYSE: PARR), as senior vice president of
operations from April 2007 to April 2009 and as its acting chief
operating officer from May 2009 to July 2010. He served as a chief
executive officer from July 2010 and further served as a director of
Delta Petroleum from August 2010 to August 2012. From May 2001 to
April 2007, he worked as a director and manager in charge of
production, engineering and operations for El Paso Corporation. He
started his professional career with Mobil in 1985 and worked a variety
of engineering and operations management assignments including
planning until leaving ExxonMobil in 2001.

Mr. Lakey received his bachelor of science degree in petroleum
engineering from Colorado School of Mines in August 1985.

Mr. Allen Mak (ZHf&), aged 54, is the Company's chief financial officer.
Mr. Mak has been the chief financial officer of the Parent Company
since August 2014. He is primarily responsible for financing, financial
reporting, budget planning, internal control, project valuation and
financial management operations of the Group.

Mr. Mak has over 32 years of experience in finance and accounting. He
was previously an executive director and the chief financial officer of
MIE Holdings Corporation (HKSE: 1555), a company listed on the Stock
Exchange. Mr. Mak worked at MIE Holdings Corporation from 2008
until he joined the Group. He was also previously the chief financial
officer of CITIC 21CN Company Limited (HKSE: 0241), a company listed
on the Stock Exchange, for over three years.

Prior to his career as a chief financial officer, Mr. Mak was an investment
banker and had over eleven years of experience in investment banking.
He was an assistant director at Peregrine, executive director at Citicorp
and the managing director and head of the investment banking group
of a securities firm based in Hong Kong. Mr. Mak also worked in the
private equity business for over three years as an investment director at
CVC Asia Capital and Citicorp. Prior to Mr. Mak’s career in investment
banking and private equity, he worked for seven years in the
accounting profession at Price Waterhouse (subsequently renamed as
PricewaterhouseCoopers) in Hong Kong, and KPMG and Deloitte in
Canada.

Mr. Mak obtained his bachelor degree in commerce and business
administration from the University of British Columbia in Canada in
May 1984. He is a chartered accountant certified by the Canadian
Institute of Chartered Accountants.
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Ms. Yang Lin (18 ), aged 42, is the Company’s chief legal officer. She
has been the chief legal officer of the Parent Company since October
2013 and the chief legal officer of AAGI since October 2013,
respectively. She is also the corporate secretary of AAGI. Ms. Lin was
appointed as the Company’s joint company secretary in March 2015.
She is primarily responsible for the Group's general legal matters and
corporate compliance.

Ms. Lin has over 19 years of experience in providing legal advice, in
particular nine years of experience in providing legal advice on CBM-
specific matters. Ms. Lin served numerous positions in the Group since
she joined the Group in February 2006. She was the vice president and
general counsel of the Parent Company from February 2008 to October
2013. She was the vice president and general counsel and corporate
secretary of AAGI from February 2008 to October 2013 and was the
general counsel of AAGI from August 2006 to February 2008. She was
the vice president of legal and general counsel of AACI from February
2006 to June 2008.

Before joining the Group, Ms. Lin worked as an associate with Baker &
Daniels LLP from February 2004 to February 2006 and as the legal
counsel of China Minmetals Corporation (FF Bl 11 & & & A 7)) from
August 1995 to August 2002.

Ms. Lin obtained her bachelor of law degree from University of
International Business and Economics (¥ 9p & 7% & 5 K £) in June
1995 and her master of laws degree from New York University School
of Law in May 2003. She was admitted to the New York State and the
PRC bars in November 2004 and October 1996, respectively.

Mr. Bing Wang (E7K), aged 46, is the Company's vice president of government
liaison. Mr. Wang has been the vice president of government liaison of the
Parent Company since November 2013. Mr. Wang served numerous
positions in the Group since he joined the Group in June 2005. He is
primarily responsible for government relations and project approvals and
support.

Mr. Wang has over 11 years of experience in project management,
sales and marketing in the CBM business. Mr. Wang served as a
director of operation from February 2012 to November 2013 and as a
general manager of Panzhuang Project from October 2008 to February
2012. He was one of the Company's core team members to conduct
exploration and pilot operation tests for the Panzhuang Project. He
was a business development manager of AAGI from January 2007 to
September 2008 and a sales manager of AAGI from June 2005 to
cember 2006.
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Before joining the Group, he was a vice general manager in Shanxi
Kotel Micro Technique Co., Ltd. (Ll 78 &} Z& i £ 1i7 & BR 2 &) from
September 2001 to May 2005 and the marketing manager in the
Beijing branch of American ATMEL Company from July 1997 to
September 2001. Mr. Wang worked as a regional manager in Shanghai
Jiahua United Company Limited (_LE/8Z /b2 F]) from December 1995
to July 1997 and a branch manager in the Beijing branch of American
NCH Company from December 1993 to December 1995.

Mr. Wang obtained his bachelor’'s degree in metallic material
engineering from Northeast Heavy Machinery Institute (3R 1b A ik 5
Bt) in September 1992 and his master’'s degree in business
administration from the Open University of Hong Kong in December
2000.

Mr. Christopher Hogle, aged 59, is the Company’s vice president of
technology. Mr. Hogle has been the vice president of technology of
the Parent Company since November 2013. He was the head of drilling
and production of the Parent Company from September 2012 to
October 2013. Mr. Hogle is primarily responsible for all technical
functions including geology, drilling, pumping, fracturing and
production.

Mr. Hogle has over 40 years of experience in oil and gas industry and
24 years of experience in project management and development in
unconventional shale gas and CBM industries. Since 2005, Mr. Hogle
has been involved in the technology transfer of CBM and shale gas
concepts to Indian exploration and production companies.

Before joining the Group, he was a consultant for a gas company
based in Brisbane, Australia from May 2010 to June 2012 providing
technical and staff support. From November 2009 to March 2010, he
was the director of the unconventional gas division of Epic Integrated
Services, an integrated energy service company located in Houston,
Texas, United States, where his focus was on the study of gas and
water gathering, compression, and wellhead optimization in the Surat
Basin CSG Australia.
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From December 2007 to May 2011, he was a senior executive vice
president of Reliance Natural Resources Limited (a company involved
in sourcing, supply and transportation of gas, coal and liquid fuel and
listed on the Bombay Stock Exchange, script ID: RNRL). He was
responsible for large greenfield CBM projects identifying core hole
sites to prove up reserves forecast and was involved in all technical and
commercial evaluations of the business. From 2006 to 2008, he was an
executive vice president of Great Eastern Energy Corporation Ltd. (a
company listed on the Alternative Investment Market of the London
Stock Exchange, stock code: GEEC), the first company to achieve CBM
commercial production in India. He managed the Asansol CBM asset
providing solutions and cost cutting on their completions and
stimulations; improving well gas production while reducing the amount
of produced water.

From 2005 to 2006, he was the manager of operations of the northern
business unit of Baker Energy (a subsidiary of Michael Baker Corp,
which is listed on the New York Stock Exchange, NYSEMKT: BKR)
based in Wyoming, United States, where he managed over 1,000 CBM
wells with the primary task of well optimization of new and existing
wells while reducing operating costs and increasing production. From
2002 to 2005, he was the vice president of operations at Wolverine
Operations LLC, an oil and gas exploration and development company
headquartered in Wyoming, United States, where he managed the
operations of 300 CBM wells in the Wyoming Powder River Basin. From
1997 to 2002, he was the manager of operations at Paxton Resources
LLC, an oil and gas exploration company based in Michigan, United
States, where he supervised the drilling (vertical, directional, and
horizontal), stimulation and installation of down hole production
equipment. From 1993 to 1995, he was the operations manager of HRF
Antrim Ltd. Partnership, an oil and gas exploration and development
company based in Michigan, United States. From 1991 to 1993, he was
the president of a gas production operation company based in
Michigan, United States. From 1990 to 1991, he was the senior lease
operator at a gas exploration and production company based in
Michigan, United States. From 1975 to 1990, he was the co-owner and
lease operator of a service company based in Michigan, United States,
providing production service operations for wells of the Stony Point
and Albion Scipio Trenton Black River Basin in Southern Michigan and
filing all governmental production reports as well as company
production reports.

Mr. Hogle took part time classes at North Central Michigan College in

2001. He worked with Dr. Mark Zoback of Stanford University in 2005

on a published study of fracturing coal in the Powder River basin. In

2003 to 2005, he worked with Western Research Institute on land

lications of produced water and a study of produced water
ion in reservoir study in the Powder River Basin.
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Report of the Directors

EEERE

The Board is pleased to present its report and the audited
consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year ended 31
December 2015.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES AND SUBSIDIARIES

The Company is the leading independent CBM producer in China. The
Company focuses on the development and value optimization of
unconventional gas resources to supply clean energy to the Chinese
economy. Details of the principal activities of the principal subsidiaries
of the Group are set out in note 1.1 to the section headed
"Consolidated Financial Statements” of this annual report. There were
no significant changes in the nature of the Group's principal activities
during the year ended 31 December 2015.

BUSINESS REVIEW

A review of the business of the Group during the year ended 31
December 2015 and a discussion on the Group’s future business
development are provided in the section headed “Chairman’s
Statement” of this annual report. Description of possible risks and
uncertainties that the Group may be facing can be found in the section
headed “Chairman’s Statement” of this annual report. In addition, the
financial risk management objectives and policies of the Group can be
found in note 3 to the section headed “Consolidated Financial
Statements” of this annual report. Particulars of important events
affecting the Group that have occurred since the end of the financial
year ended 31 December 2015 are provided in note 30 to the section
headed “Consolidated Financial Statements” of this annual report. An
analysis of the Group’s performance during the year ended 31
December 2015 using financial key performance indicators is provided
in the section headed “Management Discussion and Analysis” of this
annual report. Further, discussions on the Group’s environmental
policies, relationships with its key stakeholders and compliance with
relevant laws and regulations which have a significant impact on the
Group are contained in the sections headed “Chairman’s Statement”,
"Report of the Directors” and “Corporate Governance Report” of this
annual report, respectively. Discussions and information therein form
part of this report of the Directors.

RESULTS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2015 are set
out in the section headed “Consolidated Financial Statements” of this
annual report.

DIVIDENDS

The Board did not recommend the payment of a dividend to the
shareholders for the year ended 31 December 2015.
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USE OF PROCEEDS FROM THE COMPANY'S
INITIAL PUBLIC OFFERING

The total net proceeds from the Listing which involved the issue of
761,400,000 shares of the Company (the “Shares”) amounted to
approximately RMB1,506.9 million received by the Company after
deduction of the underwriting commissions and other estimated
expenses. During the period between the Listing Date and 31
December 2015, the Group had not utilized the net proceeds. The net
proceeds will be used in accordance with the proposed applications
set out in the section headed “Future Plans and Use of Proceeds” in
the Prospectus which includes the funding of capital expenditure set
out in the section headed “Management Discussion and Analysis —
Outlook and Guidance for 2016" of this annual report.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT AND
REVENUE GENERATING ASSETS

Details of movements in the property, plant and equipment, and
revenue generating assets of the Group during the year ended 31
December 2015 are set out in notes 6 to 8 to the section headed
“Consolidated Financial Statements” of this annual report,
respectively.

BANK LOANS AND OTHER BORROWINGS

Details of bank loans and other borrowings during the year ended 31
December 2015 are set out in note 15 to the section headed
"Consolidated Financial Statements” of this annual report.

SHARE CAPITAL AND SHARE INCENTIVE
SCHEMES

Details of movements in the Company's share capital and share
incentive schemes are set out in notes 12 and 20 to the section headed
"Consolidated Financial Statements” and of this annual report and the
paragraph headed “Share Incentive Schemes” below, respectively.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s
articles of association (the "Articles”) the laws of the Cayman Islands
which would oblige the Company to offer new Shares on a pro rata
basis to existing shareholders.

PURCHASE, REDEMPTION OR SALE OF LISTED
SECURITIES OF THE COMPANY

No member of the Group purchased, redeemed or sold any of the
Company's listed securities during the period from the Listing Date to
31 December 2015.

LDINGS LIMITED / ANNUAL REPORT 2015

ARBERLARABREMERRAR

LA B REMGETRZ®E - ARaE
1§95 K E17761,400,000 % AN A A1 ([ B 42 ])
2 EMFSRIEFREA RN ARK1,50698
Bire FBHE2015412 831 BHME » &
EEWARBAMSHRIEFE - TS HRIEFES
RIBBRER [ RRGFEIRAERIEBERASR] —
EFE B EREER  2REBENRER[ER
Bilim ko — 2016 FRE KIS | —&0FT
MEARMA

WX BERRERLKEE

KREBHE2015F 1283 BIEFEZYE -
R N R A WA ER R BRSO BIER A
TR [ GHPHREK] —FHT6ES -

RITERRHMER

HE2015F 1231 BIEFEZRITERRE
HERZFBEIRAFTREHTBRE] —
BPMIEE1S ©

IR A K B HE R R = &

AR AR I BT 8 < B e 1B 0 BIE
RAF R [ HFIBRE] —EME12%20 %
X BT &) — B -

BrRBEE

AT Z B ERR A ([4R)) XF S %
I mAEEEEEN Y - RESDAA
IR AR 1B SR -

BE  BREIIHEARAQT LmES
T HEE2015F12 A 31 BEiR - AEB{E

IR B AT E JEER S EAAAT
S -



Report of the Directors

EEERE

CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

For determining the entitlement to attend and vote at the annual
general meeting ("AGM"), the register of members of the Company
(the “Register of Members”) will be closed from 26 April 2016 to 28
April 2016, both days inclusive, during which period no transfer of
shares of the Company will be registered. In order to be eligible to
attend and vote at the annual general meeting, all transfer form of
shares of the Company, accompanied by the relevant share certificates,
must be lodged with the Company’s Hong Kong share registrar,
Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited, at Shops 1712-
1716, 17th Floor, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East, Wanchai,
Hong Kong, for registration not later than 4:30 p.m. on 25 April 2016,
being the business day before the first day of closure of the Register of
Members.

RESERVES

Details of reserve movement of the Company during the year ended
31 December 2015 are set out in note 28(b) to the section headed
“Consolidated Financial Statements” of this annual report,
respectively.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As at 31 December 2015, the accumulated deficits to be made up of
the Company was approximately RMB58.162 million.

CHARITABLE CONTRIBUTIONS
During the year ended 31 December 2015, the Group made no

charitable contributions.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

For the year ended 31 December 2015, the sales to the Group's five
largest customers accounted for 90.1% of the total sales for the year
ended 31 December 2015 and sales to the largest customer included
therein amounted to 32.0%.

For the year ended 31 December 2015, the purchases from the Group's
five largest suppliers accounted for 34.9% of the total purchases for the
year ended 31 December 2015 and purchases from the largest supplier
included therein amounted to 14.4%.

None of the directors of the Company or any of their close associates
or-any shareholders (which, to the best knowledge of the directors,
own more than 5% of the Company'’s share capital) had any beneficial
interest in the Group's five largest customers and suppliers.

For the year ended 31 December 2015, there was no material and
significant dispute between the Group and its suppliers and/or
customers.
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DIRECTORS

The directors of the Company during the year ended 31 December
2015 and up to the date of this annual report were:
Executive Director Date of Appointment

Dr. Stephen Xiangdong ZOU
(Chairman)

(appointed on 28 January 2015)

Non-executive Directors

Mr. Peter Randall KAGAN (appointed on 28 January 2015)

Mr. Gordon Sun Kan SHAW appointed on 28 January 2015

( )
Mr. Zhen WEI (appointed on 28 January 2015)
Mr. Zhijie ZENG (appointed on 28 January 2015)
Mr. Lei JIN (appointed on 28 January 2015)
Dr. Guiyong CUI (appointed on 28 January 2015)
Dr. Bo BAI (appointed on 28 January 2015)

Independent non-executive Directors

Mr. Yaowen WU
Mr. Robert Ralph PARKS

(appointed on 5 June 2015)
(appointed on 5 June 2015)

Dr. Tin Yau Kelvin WONG
Mr. Fredrick J. BARRETT

(appointed on 5 June 2015)
(appointed on 5 June 2015)

DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT'S
BIOGRAPHIES

Biographical details of the Directors and the senior management of the
Group are set out in the section headed “Directors and Senior
Management” of this annual report. Save as disclosed therein, there
was no other matter with respect to the appointment of the Directors
that need to be brought to the attention of the Shareholders and there
was no information relating to the Directors that is required to be
disclosed pursuant to Rules 13.51(2)(h) to (v) of the Listing Rules as of
the date of this annual report.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

The executive Director has entered into a services agreement with the
Company for a term of three years commencing from the Listing Date
subject to the relevant provisions of retirement by rotation and re-
election at the annual general meeting(s) of the Company (the
“"AGM(s)") of the Company in accordance with the Articles. Each of the
non-executive Directors has signed a letter of appointment with the
Company for a term of three years commencing from the Listing Date
subject to the relevant provisions of retirement by rotation and re-
ion at the AGMs of the Company in accordance with the Articles.
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In accordance with the Articles, one-third of the Directors, being Dr.
Tin Yau Kelvin Wong, Mr. Zhijie Zeng, Dr. Guiyong Cui and Dr. Bo Bai,
will retire at the forthcoming AGM and, Dr. Guiyong Cui and Dr. Bo Bai
being eligible, have offered themselves for re-election. Dr. Tin Yau
Kelvin Wong and Mr. Zhijie Zeng will retire at the AGM and will not
offer themselves for re-election at the AGM due to their business
engagement/arrangements. Neither Dr. Guiyong Cui nor Dr. Bo Bai
proposed for re-election at the AGM has an unexpired service contract
which is not determinable by the Company or any of its subsidiaries
within one year without payment of compensation, other than statutory
compensation. The Board will make its best endeavours to identify
suitable candidates to fill the vacancy of the independent non-
executive Director, a member of the nomination committee of the
Board and the chairman of the audit committee of the Board (the
“Audit Committee”) or consider adjusting the composition of the
Board committees as soon as practicable in compliance with the Listing
Rules. The Company will make further announcement as and when
appropriate. Details of the Directors proposed for re-election at the
AGM are set out in the circular of the Company dated 29 March 2016.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS,
TRANSACTIONS AND ARRANGEMENTS OF
SIGNIFICANCE

Save as disclosed in this annual report, no contracts, transactions and
arrangements of significance in relation to the Group's business to
which the Company or any of its subsidiaries was a party and in which a
Director had a material interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted
at the end of the year ended 31 December 2015 or at any time during
the year ended 31 December 2015.

DIRECTORS’' EMOLUMENTS

Details of the remuneration of the Directors and those of the five
highest paid individuals are set out in notes 20 and 31 to the section
headed "Consolidated Financial Statements” of this annual report. The
remunerations of the Directors are determined based on the market
price and contribution made by such Directors to the Company. There
has been no arrangement under which any Director has waived or
agreed to waive any emoluments.

CONFIRMATION OF INDEPENDENCE OF
INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

The Company has received annual confirmations of independence
from each of the independent non-executive Directors and as at the
date of this annual report still considers them to be independent.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts concerning the management and administration of the
whole or any substantial part of the business of the Group were
entered into or existed during the year ended 31 December 2015.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY

The Articles provides that each Director or other officer of the
Company shall be entitled to be indemnified out of the assets of the
Company against all-losses or liabilities which he or she may sustain or
incur in or about the execution of the duties of his or her officer or
otherwise in relation thereto. In addition, the Company has maintained
appropriate directors and officers liability insurance in respect of
relevant legal actions against the Directors.
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES' INTERESTS
AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES AND
UNDERLYING SHARES AND DEBENTURES OF

THE COMPANY
As at 31 December 2015, the interests and short positions of the

Directors and the chief executives of the Company in the Shares,
underlying Shares and debentures of the Company or its associated
corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the Securities and
Futures Ordinance (“SFO")) which (a) were required to be notified to
the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of
Part XV of the SFO (including interests and short positions which they
have taken, or are deemed to have taken, under such provisions of the
SFO); or (b) were required, pursuant to section 352 of the SFO, to be
recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company; or (c)
were required, pursuant to the Model Code for Securities Transactions
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by Directors of Listed Issuers as set out in Appendix 10 to the Listing B FTRIRERS SOAB AT ¢
Rules (the “Model Code”), to be notified to the Company and the
Stock Exchange were as follows:
Number of Approximate
Capacity/ underlying percentage of
Name Position Nature of interest Shares shareholding
"L B B MY FEEERAEE FREAEIL
Stephen Xiangdong ZOU™ Chairman and executive Beneficial owner 112,434,850 (L)© 3.38% (L)
BE=m Director BEnfEAA
FRERNTES
Founder of a 92,144,637 (L) 2.77% (L)
discretionary trust
2REEFENEIZA
Guiyong CUI Non-executive Director Beneficial owner 275,326 (L) 0.01% (L)
EREE FHTES EmEAA
Fredrick J. BARRETT® Independent non-executive Beneficial owner 477,708 (L) 0.01% (L)
Director BEnEAA
BAEITES
Robert Ralph PARKS® Independent non-executive Beneficial owner 715,708 (L) 0.02% (L)
Director BEnfEAA
BAEITES
Tin Yau Kelvin WONG®? Independent non-executive Beneficial owner 477,708 (L) 0.01% (L)
=AW Director BEnfEAA
BAEITES
Yaowen WU®@ Independent non-executive Beneficial owner 477,708 (L) 0.01% (L)
Rigx@ Director BEnfEAA
BAEITES
Jing LI® Co-chief executive officer and Interest in a controlled 56,964,862 (L) 1.71% (L)
=3 g president corporation
S BT E REH AR
Carl LAKEY® Co-chief executive officer and Beneficial owner 36,186,924 (L) 1.09% (L)

Carl LAKEY®

chief operating officer

HEBERRTERAERELE
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Notes:

©)

Save

Dr. ZOU beneficially owns interests in 112,434,850 Shares. Dr. ZOU is deemed to be
interested in 63,075,458 Shares and 9,612,371 Shares for the purposes of the SFO,
which is beneficially owned by Dr. ZOU's descendants as beneficiaries of The Zou
2011 Family Trust and The Zou 2012 Family Trust, respectively. Dr. ZOU is also
deemed to be interested in 19,456,808 Shares for the purposes of the SFO, which
are beneficially owned by Dr. ZOU and his descendants as beneficiaries of the Zou
GRAT. Each of The Zou 2011 Family Trust, The Zou 2012 Family Trust and the Zou
GRAT is a discretionary trust established by Dr. ZOU as a settlor and its beneficiaries
are Dr. ZOU and his family members. 11,942,710 Shares among these interests
represent interests in the outstanding options he held under the Pre-IPO Share
Option Scheme (as define below). Subsequent to 31 December 2015, Dr. ZOU is
also interested in 6,621,733 Shares which represent interests in the outstanding
restricted share units (“RSUs"”) he held under the Post-IPO RSU Scheme (as defined
below).

All these interests represent interests in outstanding options they held under the
Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme as of 31 December 2015.

Mr. Parks beneficially owns interests in 715,708 Shares of the Company. 477,708
Shares among these interests represent the interests in the outstanding options he
held under the Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme as of 31 December 2015.

Mr. Li beneficially owns interests in 56,964,862 Shares through China Energy
Holdings Limited, a company wholly-owned by Mr. LI. 42,915,168 Shares among
these interests represent the interests in outstanding options he held under the Pre-
IPO Share Option Scheme. Subsequent to 31 December 2015, Mr. Li is also
interested in 6,621,733 Shares which interests represent interests in the outstanding
RSUs he held under the Post-IPO RSU Scheme.

All these interests represent the interests in outstanding options he held under the
Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme. Subsequent to 31 December 2015, Mr. Carl is also
interested in 6,621,733 Shares which represent interests in the outstanding RSUs he
held under the Post-IPO RSU Scheme.

The Letter “"L" denotes the person’s long position in such Shares.

as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2015, none of the

Directors and chief executives of the Company and their respective

associates had or is deemed to have any interests or short positions in

the Shares, underlying Shares or debentures of the Company or its

associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO)

which were required to be notified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including
interests and short positions which the Directors and chief executives

of the Company are taken or deemed to have under such provisions of

the SFO), or were required to be recorded in the register required to
be kept by the Company pursuant to section 352 of the SFO, or which
will be required, pursuant to the Model Code, to be notified to the
Company and the Stock Exchange.

(1) BE L ERIEA 112,434,850 %10 - BEAH LS
&HIME + BIE AR AR 63,075,458 % 9,612,371
R R AR ZEEABE TN FLDR
BB 201 EBRRKET R 2012 FPRREETH
ZHmAERHER BREFRBAEKOMS - FEL
TR AR B TR 19,456,808 IR AR 10 R E B 25« s B
HHEBPE LT RETFLZ(fEAZou GRATHIZHA)E
WA o 2011 FHRREET  2012FPRKRKE
FE R Zou GRATE B AT (EFAEMER T A)K
VHEEET  EXZAAPETIRERKKE -
ZEHRPH11,942,710 %D AE IR AFHZEER
EREEI(ER R T SOE FRITEEREN R
2015612 A31 B 1% « B1E L In8E 66,621,733 %
% ZERMBBIBEERABABESEIREIMGE
st (F&R R T30 RITEZR IR ELL([ZR
HIRMEARL]) HfERS -

) FEZEHEZABEE215F12A31HE R AME
& RS AR ST 8118 T AT AR e RS -

3) Parks st £ B m A AN A 81715708 % i 1 - & &
201512 A31H » Z5#mTr477,708 IR IR 15 A
BRARBEABREST BB T RITEBRENRE

o

(4) ThREFBFTHEMEEHSA A A China Energy
Holdings Limited & & # & 56,964,862 & i 15 © %%
HE 25 FR 19 42,915,168 B AR 19 4 B R 0 B % 6 ARG AR
ST BIRITE B % - 20156512 A31 B4
R TR 6,621,733 1D - ZERH AHERD
A8 6 16 ST IR HIAR 1 B8 A =1 &1 T8 T AR AT SR Il IR
BRI ©

(5) FEZERTH AR X AREESAIEREZIET
RITEBRAERELS ° 201512 A31 A& © Carlst
EIMER 6,621,733 1D - ZERD ABEIRARE
BB IR B BALEHBIIE T ARTTE R GIRGD &
L MRS ©

6  FEILEZAIRZERONTRE

B EXRTIEESESN - R2015%F 12831 H » &
NAIEENEFETHABRFEESENBEA
BER AN R S AR AE (& RS R
EIEFIEXVED) Bk - MHEIR D RESH T #
ERRAEEREELFRPEIEFIEXVEET
K8 EAMEANR MBI IERIAR
(BIERIEFES R E KRB B IE U E 1E Sk
BIERARRZEZEREBITHA B HAEELRS

KE) - HIREE S R EAE GG 5 352 (KA R
BAANANRIBE 2 B MARNERSAR © 3
RIBIZEST RN AR R MR TR 25k

KA o

TRERERBRAR




Report of the Directors

EEERE

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS' INTERESTS AND
SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES AND
UNDERLYING SHARES AND DEBENTURES OF
THE COMPANY

As at 31 December 2015, the following persons (other than the
Directors or the chief executives of the Company) have interests or
short positions in the Shares or underlying shares or debentures as
recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company under
section 336 of the SFO:

FERRRAEQARS - HEKRD
REZER2BERAR

R2015F 128318 THAT(ARRES
HEBITHABRIN RARRRIEES & H
BIEFIE 3B IEFEE 2 B LMY - 48
B RESPHEERSAR ¢

Name of shareholder

BRREE

Capacity
37

Number of
Shares held™
FrERmE R ®

Approximate
percentage of
shareholding
EREBNEI

Warburg Pincus & Co.@

Warburg Pincus Partners GP LLC®

Warburg Pincus Partners, L.P.@

WPP GP LLC®

Warburg Pincus X GP L.P.@

Warburg Pincus X, L.P.@

Warburg Pincus Private Equity X, L.P.@

Asia X Investment | LLC®

WP China CBM Investment Holdings
Limited?

Salata Jean Eric®

Baring Private Equity Asia GP IV L.P.®

Barings Private Equity Asia GP IV
Limited®

The Baring Asia Private Equity Fund
IV LP®)

Baring Private Equity Asia IV
Holding (4) Limited®

roup®

Interest in a controlled corporation
RPEE S

Interest in a controlled corporation
R EE R

Interest in a controlled corporation
Sy B s

Interest in a controlled corporation
Ry AE R

Interest in a controlled corporation
5 s v
R AE R

Interest in a controlled corporation
SR E s

Interest in a controlled corporation
R LR

Interest in a controlled corporation

R LE s

Beneficial owner

EaEAA

Interest in a controlled corporation
R EE R

Interest in a controlled corporation
Sy B

Interest in a controlled corporation
Ry EE R

Interest in a controlled corporation
R EE R

Beneficial owner

EmBEEA

Interest in a controlled corporation

XY AE s

LDINGS LIMITED / ANNUAL REPORT 2015

844,713,882 (L)

844,713,882 (L)

844,713,882 (L)

844,713,882 (L)

844,713,882 (L)

844,713,882 (L)

844,713,882 (L)

844,713,882 (L)

844,713,882 (L)

688,933,679 (L)

688,933,679 (L)

688,933,679 (L)

688,933,679 (L)

688,933,679 (L)

345,906,690 (L)

25.39% (L)

25.39% (L)

25.39% (L)

25.39% (L)

25.39% (L)

25.39% (L)

25.39% (L)

25.39% (L)

25.39% (L)

20.71% (L)

20.71% (L)

20.71% (L)

20.71% (L)

20.71% (L)

10.40% (L)
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Approximate
Number of percentage of
Name of shareholder Capacity Shares held™ shareholding
IRER A =27 FERGHBE" SREBAEIL
Dr. Stephen Xiangdong Zou MAHEH L  Beneficial owner 112,434,850 (L) 6.35% (L)
EnEEA
Founder of a discretionary trust 92,144,637 (L) 6.35% (L)
FREFAIZA
BEE=ZRME (EE)BRAFO Interest in a controlled corporation 180,833,000 (L) 5.44% (L)
SN X
BEE=IRERERAFO Interest in a controlled corporation 180,833,000 (L) 5.44% (L)
HRPEE S
RYBRERKEERARC Beneficial owner 180,833,000 (L) 5.44% (L)

Notes:

EDBEAA

The letter “L" denotes long position in such securities.

WP China CBM Investment Holdings Limited beneficially owns 844,713,882 Shares
(long position) of the Company. Asia X Investment | LLC holds 100% equity interest
in WP China CBM Investment Holdings Limited. Warburg Pincus Private Equity X,
L.P. controls 96.90% equity interest in Asia X Investment | LLC. Warburg Pincus
Private Equity X, L.P. is 100% controlled by Warburg Pincus X, L.P., which in turn is
100% controlled by Warburg Pincus X GP L.P., which in turn is 100% controlled by
WPP GP LLC, which in turn is 100% controlled by Warburg Pincus Partners, L.P.,
which in turn is 100% controlled by Warburg Pincus Partners GP LLC, which in turn is
100% controlled by Warburg Pincus & Co..

Baring Private Equity Asia IV Holding (4) Limited beneficially owns 688,933,679
Shares (long position) of the Company. The Baring Asia Private Equity Fund IV L.P.
holds 99.26% equity interest in Baring Private Equity Asia IV Holding (4) Limited. The
Baring Asia Private Equity Fund IV L.P. is 100% controlled by Baring Private Equity
Asia GP IV L.P., which in turn is 100% controlled by Baring Private Equity Asia GP IV
Limited, which in turn is wholly-owned by Jean Eric Salata.

Ping An Insurance (Group) Company of China (“Ping An Group”) ultimately owns
100% of Chinastone Hong Kong Holdings Limited, which is directly interested in
248,046,164 Shares of the Company. Ping An Group also ultimately owns 100% of
the shares in PA Investment Funds SPC, which is directly interested in 97,860,526
Shares of the Company. Therefore, Ping An Group is deemed to be interested in
345,906,690 Shares of the Company.

RYIEIREIRIE & AR A 7] beneficially owns 180,833,000 Shares (long position) of
the Company and is 100% controlled by & & = I 82 JR G R 2 &), which in tumn is
51% controlled by B = B R (@) GRAF].

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2015, the Directors and

the chief executives of the Company are not aware of any other person

(other than the Directors or chief executives of the Company) who had

an interest or short position in the shares or underlying shares as
recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company pursuant
to section 336 of the SFO.

FEILERZSEFNER

WP China CBM Investment Holdings Limited Ez= #4H
NN ) 844,713,882 (%A1 (47 &) ° Asia X Investment |
LLC#5 A WP China CBM Investment Holdings Limited
2 EBA% A ° Warburg Pincus Private Equity X, L.P. 2
Asia X Investment | LLC. 96.90% fi&#& - Warburg Pincus
Private Equity X, L.P. £ Warburg Pincus X, L.P. & # &
#ll + T Warburg Pincus X, L.P. i Warburg Pincus X GP
LP. 242 - il Warburg Pincus X GP L.P. B3 WPP GP
LLC% # = ] i WPP GP LLC B§ Warburg Pincus
Partners, L.P. 2 # 2 | + 11 Warburg Pincus Partners,
L.P. B3 Warburg Pincus Partners GP LLC & ## 12 % »
Warburg Pincus Partners GP LLC i Warburg Pincus &
Co. ZHEFEHI

Baring Private Equity Asia IV Holding (4) Limited B &
A 78 A 7] 688,933,679 IR AR 15 (47 & ) ° Baring Asia
Private Equity Fund IV L.P. %57 Baring Private Equity
Asia IV Holding (4) Limited # 99.26% % # ° Baring
Asia Private Equity Fund IV L.P. 1 Baring Private
Equity Asia GP IV L.P. & # #% %l - ifi Baring Private
Equity Asia GP IV L.P. 1 Baring Private Equity Asia
GP IV Limited & # £ fl - if1 Baring Private Equity
Asia GP IV Limited £ Jean Eric Salata 2 & A ©

FREZRE(EE)BRHDERAR ([ FREE]) &
BEESEEBIERERARNEIER  MESE
HEEBEAANNT) 248,046,164 D 2 HE2s - TR
I8 5 #2145 A PA Investment Funds SPC &) & 5 A%
19 MEEEEREA AR R 97,860,526 B% Bk 17 2 1
o Bt - FREBEER SRR 345,906,690 i
RRin P A fE S ©

RYBBRERREERATNEGEAARA
180,833,000 % i 1n (47 &) - WHEE= )
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BEASR (R E) AR A BIMER 51% i o
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NRAEENTETHABBENBEMEMA
T (RARREZREIZTHRABRIN RREE
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SHARE INCENTIVE SCHEMES

In order to incentivize the Directors, senior management and other
employees of the Group for their contribution to the Group and to
attract and retain suitable personnel of our Group, the Company
adopted the Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme and the Post-IPO RSU
Scheme (as defined below).

Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme

The Company adopted the pre-IPO share option scheme of the
Company (the “Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme”) on 31 March 2015,
which became valid and effective perpetually from the same day and
subject to certain termination events. The exercise price of US$0.151
per Share in respect of options granted under the Pre-IPO Share
Option Scheme was determined at the sole discretion of the Board.
The maximum number of Shares issued and to be issued upon exercise
of the options granted under the Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme to any
one person (including exercised and outstanding options) pursuant to
the Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme and any other share compensation
arrangements adopted by the Company shall not exceed 3.0% of the
Shares in issue from time to time.

Other principal terms (including the purpose, the participants, the
consideration for accepting any options among others) of the Pre-IPO
Share Option Scheme are set out in the section headed ”Statutory and
General Information — Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme” in Appendix V
to the Prospectus.

Outstanding Options

From the Listing Date to 31 December 2015, 398,090 options have
been cancelled, 4,754,300 options have lapsed, 2,411,325 options have
been exercised. As at 31 December 2015, there were a total of
238,656,697 options outstanding. If all the outstanding options are
exercised, there would be a dilution effect on the shareholdings of the
Company's Shareholders of approximately 6.70% as at 31 December
2015. Save as set out above, no further options have been or would be
granted by the Company after the Listing Date pursuant to the Pre-IPO

Share Option Scheme.
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Movements of the Options under the Pre-IPO Share Option
Scheme during the period from the Listing Date to 31 December

ETAEEZE2015F12A31BHE X
AHBENBRETEE THERESS

2015
Number Total number
of Shares of Shares  Approximate
represented represented  percentage of
Exercise by Options Exercised Lapsed Cancelled ~ Numberof ~ Numberof by Optionsat issued Shares
price  atthelisting  duringthe  duringthe  during the unvested vested 31 December of the Vesting Exercise
Name of grantees”  Date of grant (US$) Date period period period Options Options 2015 Company* Period? period®
BRER
BRER 2015% EERR
L B 12A31R8f BT
e RRORHB FEEE CHEBRE REMBRG REGHRL
ERABEY RS (%7) BE  HRERE  HREAN HREEH  RENHE L #A AR SEH frEse
Directors
iz
Dr.ZOU 31 March 2015 $0.151 11,942,710 - = - - 11,942,710 11,942,710 0.34% Please see Please see
#E+ 201563A318 0.1517C note 2below  note 3 below
FEMTX F2HTX
Kz 2 W& 3
Yaowen WU 5 June 2015 $0.151 471,708 - - - 477,708 - 477,708 0.01% - -
RIBX 201556858 0.1517¢
Robert Ralph PARKS 5 June 2015 $0.151 471,708 - - - 477,708 - 477,708 0.01% - -
201556858 0.1517¢
Tin Yau Kelvin WONG 5 June 2015 $0.151 471,708 - - - 477,708 - 477,708 0.01% - -
EXH 201556858 0.1517¢
Fredrick J. BARRETT 5 June 2015 $0.151 471,708 - - - 477,708 - 477,708 0.01% - -
201556858 0.1517¢
Employees of the Company
*QAEE
31 March 2015 $0.151 217,239,438 2,411,325 4,754,300 398,090 128,040,691 81,635,573 209,676,264 5.88% Please see Please see
2015534318 0.1517T note 2below  note 3 below
H2MTX HEMTX
Kzt 2 W3
5 June 2015 $0.151 15,127,431 - - - 14,596,643 530,788 15,127,431 0.42% - -
201566458 0.1517T
Total - - 246,220,412 2,411,325 4,754,300 398,090 144,548,166 94,109,071 238,656,697 6.70% - -
Ehy
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Notes:

Prior to the Listing, certain of the grantees have transferred their options to
companies wholly-owned by them, in accordance with the Pre-IPO Share Option
Scheme.

Unvested options granted to the grantees pursuant to the Pre-IPO Share Option
Scheme shall vest as follows:

(a) 50% of the Options shall be time-based and shall vest at the rate of (i) one
half (1/2) for each 12-month period commencing from 1 January 2015 if the
relevant date on which the employment relationship between the Company
(the “"Employment Date”) is on or prior to 1 January 2014; or (ii) one third
(1/3) for each 12-month period commencing from the relevant Employment
Date if such date is after 1 January 2014; AND

50% of the Options shall be KPI-linked (the “KPI-linked Options”) and shall
be divided into three equal instalments, with each instalment being linked
with one of the three KPIs (as defined below) and vested at the rate of one (i)
half (1/2) for each 12-month period commencing from 1 January 2015 if the
relevant Employment Date is on or prior to 1 January 2014; or (i) one third
(1/3) for each 12-month period commencing from the relevant Employment
Date if such date is after 1 January 2014 pursuant to the following payout
schedule:

(1) 100% of the KPI-linked Options shall vest if 100% of the relevant KPI
Target is met; or

2) if the relevant KPI Target is not met at 100%, 50% of the KPI-linked
Options shall vest if 80% of the Relevant KPI Target is met and an
additional 2.5% of the KPI-linked Options shall vest for each 1%
further improvement in such KPI Target; provided that if the
performance rate of any KPI Target exceeds 100%, then up to 10% of
the improvement of that KPI Target can be added to the performance
rate of other KPI Target(s) that is not 100% accomplished.

For the purposes of above, “KPIs" refer to (i) EBITDA; (i) Reserves; and (iii) All-in-
unit Cost. “KPI Target” shall mean 95% (in the case of EBITDA and Reserves) or
105% (in the case of All-in-unit Cost) of the estimated number of that relevant KPI
presented in (i) the annual work plan and budget of the relevant year approved by
the Board; or (ii) the revised annual work plan and budget for the relevant year,
which is subsequently presented to and approved by the Board. The treatment for
any unvested KPI-linked Options shall be determined by the Board or the
Committee as delegated by the Board.

Subject to any accelerated termination as set forth in the Pre-IPO Share Option
Scheme, each option shall expire on the date specified under the Pre-IPO Share
Option, provided that in no event, shall the Exercise Period of an Option exceed
five years from the date upon which the relevant option has vested.

Approximate percentage of issued Shares of the Company is calculated by dividing
the options held by the relevant grantees by the issued and outstanding Shares of
the Company (as enlarged by the exercise in full of all the Options granted under
the Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme), as at 31 December 2015.
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Further details of the Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme are set out in note
20(b) to the section headed “Consolidated Financial Statements” of
this annual report and the Prospectus.

Post-IPO RSU Scheme

The Company adopted the post-IPO restricted share unit scheme of
the Company (the “Post-IPO RSU Scheme”) on 5 June 2015, which
took effect on the Listing Date. The Post-IPO RSU Scheme is valid and
effective for a term of 10 years from the 5 June 2015 (the “Scheme
Period”), after which period no further RSUs shall be granted or
accepted, but the provisions of such scheme shall remain in full force
and effect in order to give effect to the vesting of RSUs granted and
accepted prior to the expiration of the Scheme Period. There is no
individual limit under the Post-IPO RSU Scheme. Other principal terms
(including the purpose, the participants, among others) of the Post-IPO
RSU Scheme are set out in the section headed “Statutory and General
Information — Post-IPO RSU Scheme” in Appendix V to the
Prospectus.

On 18 December 2015, the Company offered to grant of an aggregate
of 41,234,696 RSUs to certain connected grantees and non-connected
grantees of the Group in accordance with the Post-IPO RSU Scheme,
subject to approval and acceptance where applicable. As at 31
December 2015, no RSUs was accepted by the grantees under the
Post-IPO RSU Scheme.

Subsequently on 22 January 2016, the grant of RSUs to the connected
grantees was approved by the independent shareholders at the
extraordinary general meeting. On 31 January 2016, an aggregate of
19,865,199 RSUs were accepted by the connected grantees and an
aggregate of 21,199,297 RSUs were accepted by the non-connected
grantees.

Further details of the Post-IPO RSU Scheme are set out in the
Prospectus.

Equity-linked Agreements

Other than the Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme and the Post-IPO RSU
Scheme disclosed above, no equity-linked agreements that will or may
result in the Company issuing shares or that require the Company to
enterinto any agreements that will or may result in the Company
issuing shares were entered into by the Company during the year or
subsisted at the end of the year.
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DIRECTORS’ RIGHT TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

Save as disclosed above under the paragraph “Share Incentive
Schemes”, no rights to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of
Shares in or debentures of the Company were granted to any Directors
or their respective associates (as defined in the Listing Rules), or were
any such rights exercised by them; or was the Company and any of its
subsidiaries a party to any arrangement to enable the Directors, or
their respective associates (as defined in the Listing Rules), to acquire
such rights in any other body corporate since the Listing Date.

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

Save as disclosed below, the Group had not entered into any
connected transactions or continuing connected transactions which are
required to be disclosed in compliance with the requirements of
Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules during the year ended 31 December
2015.

Inner Mongolia Option

During the period from the Listing Date to 31 December 2015 and up
to the date of this annual report, the Company did not exercise the
option (the “Inner Mongolia Option”) granted by China CBM
Investment Holding Il (2) Limited (“CCBMII"), connected person of the
Company, to it to participate as the only foreign investor in the
exploration and development of the CBM concessions in Inner
Mongolia (the “Inner Mongolia Project”), given there was no
substantial update in the Inner Mongolia Project. Any exercise of the
Inner Mongolia Option will constitute a notifiable and/or connected
transaction in the event that CCBMII remains the connected person of
the Company. Except for the Inner Mongolia Option, the Company
does not, as of the date of this annual report, have any interests in the
Inner Mongolia Project. For details of the Inner Mongolia Option and
the Inner Mongolia Project, please refer to the Prospectus.
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RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Details of related party transactions during the year ended 31
December 2015 are set out in note 26 to the section headed
“Consolidated Financial Statements” of this annual report.

Save as disclosed above under the paragraph “Connected
Transactions”, the related party transactions as set out in note 26 to
the section head “Consolidated Financial Statements” of this annual
report do not fall under the definition of “connected transactions” or
“continuing connected transactions” under Chapter 14A of the Listing
Rules during the year ended 31 December 2015.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on information that is publicly available to the Company and
within the knowledge of its directors, the Board confirms that the
Company has maintained the amount of public float as required under
the Listing Rules at all times since the Listing Date to 31 December
2015 and as of the date of this annual report.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN A COMPETING
BUSINESS

During the year ended 31 December 2015, none of the Directors or
their respective associates had engaged in or had any interest in any
business which competes or may compete with the business of the
Group.

SIGNIFICANT LEGAL PROCEEDINGS AND
COMPLIANCE MATTERS

For the year ended 31 December 2015, the Company was not engaged
in any litigation or arbitration of material importance and no litigation
or claim of material importance is known to the Directors to be
pending or threatened against the Company.

For the year ended 31 December 2015, the Company obtained all the
material licenses, permits and approvals necessary for the respective
development stages of projects in Panzhuang and Mabi.

For the year ended 31 December 2015 and up to the date of this
report, to the best knowledge of the Directors, the Group complied
with applicable laws, rules and regulations in all material respects.
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SPECIFIC PERFORMANCE OBLIGATIONS ON
CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDERS

On 8 July 2015, SAEI (as borrower) and AAGI (as guarantor) entered
into a senior secured revolving credit facility agreement (the “New
Facility Agreement”) with certain banks in relation to a
US$250,000,000 69 months term loan facility.

Under the New Facility Agreement, it will constitute an event of default,
among others, if (i) Dr. ZOU holds (whether directly or indirectly or by
way of a trust) less than 25% of the Shares that Dr. ZOU holds (whether
directly or indirectly or by way of a trust) as at 8 July 2015, representing
approximately 1.45% of the issued share capital of the Company; (ii) at
any time, Dr. ZOU ceases to be the chairman of the Board; or (iii)
during the period from 23 June 2015 to 23 June 2016, any of the
Controlling Shareholders disposes of, or enters into any agreement to
dispose of, any shares he/it holds (directly or indirectly) in the Company
in breach of his/its undertakings to the Stock Exchange in relation to
Rule 10.07(1) of the Listing Rules as set out in the Prospectus. Upon and
at any time after the occurrence of an event of default, the majority of
the lenders may, among other actions, immediately cancel all
commitments and declare any or all outstanding amounts under the
New Facility Agreement and the relevant financing documents
together with interest accrued thereon to be immediately due and
payable.

For details of the New Facility Agreement, please refer to the
announcement of the Company dated 9 July 2015.

EVENTS AFTER THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER

2015

On 18 December 2015, the Company announced the granting of RSU
to certain connected grantees and non-connected grantees of the
Group in accordance with the Post-IPO RSU Scheme conditionally
approved and adopted by the Company on 5 June 2015, subject to
approval and acceptance where applicable. The grant of RSUs to the
connected grantees was subsequently approved by the extraordinary
general meeting on 22 January 2016. The grant letters of RSUs to the
grantees were signed on 31 January 2016. For details, please refer to
the announcements of the Company dated 18 December 2015 and 22
January 2016 and the circular of the Company dated 7 January 2016.
Save as above; there was no subsequent events between the end of
reporting period and the date of this annual report that would cause
material impact on the Group.
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Report of the Directors

EEERE

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Information on the corporate governance practices adopted by the
Company is set out in the section headed "Corporate Governance
Report” of this annual report.

REVIEW BY THE AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Audit Committee has reviewed the accounting principles and
policies adopted by the Group and discussed the Group's risk
management, internal controls and financial reporting matters with the
management. The Audit Committee has reviewed the audited
consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year ended 31
December 2015.

PROFESSIONAL TAX ADVICE RECOMMENDED

If the shareholders are unsure about the taxation implications of
purchasing, holdings, disposing of, dealing in, or the exercise of any
rights in relation to, the Shares, they are advised to consult an expert.

APPRECIATION

The Group would like to express its appreciation to all the staff for their
outstanding contribution towards the Group's development. The
Board wishes to sincerely thank the management for their dedication
and diligence, and they are the key factors for the Group to continue
its success in future. Also, the Group wishes to extend its gratitude for
the continued support from its Shareholders, customers, and business
partners. The Group will continue to deliver sustainable business
development, so as to meet its business objectives for 2016 and realize
higher values for its Shareholders and other stakeholders.

AUDITORS

There have been no changes of auditors in the past three years.

ON BEHALF OF THE BOARD

Stephen Xiangdong ZOU
Chairman and Executive Director

Hong Kong
29 March 2016
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Corporate Governance Report
TRERKE

The Board is pleased to present this corporate governance report the
period commencing from the Listing Date and to 31 December 2015
(the "Review Period”).

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Group is committed to maintaining high standards of corporate
governance to safeguard the interests of shareholders and to enhance
corporate value and accountability. The Company has adopted the
Corporate Governance Code and Corporate Governance Report (the
“"CG Code") as set out in Appendix 14 of the Listing Rules as its own
code of corporate governance.

The Company has complied with all applicable code provisions under
the CG Code throughout the Review Period. The Company will
continue to review and monitor its corporate governance practices to
ensure compliance with the CG Code.

THE BOARD

Responsibilities

The Board is responsible for the overall leadership of the Group,
oversees the Group's strategic decisions and monitors business and
performance. The Board has delegated the authority and responsibility
for day-to-day management and operation of the Group to the senior
management of the Group. To oversee particular aspects of the
Company's affairs, the Board has established three Board committees
including the Audit Committee, the remuneration committee (the
"Remuneration Committee”) and the nomination committee (the
“Nomination Committee”) (together, the “Board Committees”). The
Board has delegated to the Board Committees responsibilities as set
out in their respective terms of reference.

All Directors shall ensure that they carry out duties in good faith, in
compliance with applicable laws and regulations, and in the interests
of the Company and its shareholders at all times.
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Corporate Governance Report
TRERKE

Board Composition

During the Review Period, the Board comprised one executive
Director, seven non-executive Directors and four independent non-
executive Directors as follows:

Executive Director
Dr. Stephen Xiangdong Zou (Chairman)

Non-executive Directors
Mr. Peter Randall Kagan
Mr. Gordon Sun Kan Shaw
Mr. Zhen Wei

Mr. Zhijie Zeng

Mr. Lei Jin

Dr. Guiyong Cui

Dr. Bo Bai

Independent non-executive Directors
Mr. Yaowen Wu

Mr. Robert Ralph Parks

Dr. Tin Yau Kelvin Wong

Mr. Fredrick J. Barrett

The biographies of the Directors are set out under the section headed
"Directors and Senior Management” of this annual report. Saved as
disclosed in the Prospectus and this annual report (if any), to the
knowledge of the Directors, the Board members have no financial,
business, family or other material relationship with each other.

During the Review Period, the Board at all times met the requirements
of the Rules 3.10(1) and 3.10(2) of the Listing Rules relating to the
appointment of at least three independent non-executive Directors
with at least one independent non-executive Director possessing
appropriate professional qualifications or accounting or related
financial management expertise.

The Company also complied with Rule 3.10A of the Listing Rules, which
relating to the appointment of independent non-executive Directors
representing at least one-third of the Board.

Each of the independent non-executive Directors has confirmed his
independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules and the
Company considers each of them to be independent.
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Corporate Governance Report
TRERKE

All Directors, including independent non-executive Directors, have
brought a wide spectrum of valuable business experience, knowledge
and professionalism to the Board for its efficient and effective
functioning. Independent non-executive Directors are invited to serve
on the Audit Committee, the Remuneration Committee and the
Nomination Committee.

As regards the CG Code provision requiring directors to disclose the
number and nature of offices held in public companies or organizations
and other significant commitments as well as their identity and the time
involved to the issuer, Directors have agreed to disclose their
commitments to the Company in a timely manner.

Induction and Continuous Professional Development for
Directors

Each newly appointed Director is provided with necessary induction
and information to ensure that he has a proper understanding of the
Company'’s operations and businesses as well as his responsibilities
under relevant status, laws, rules and regulations. The Company also
provides Directors with regular updates on latest development and
changes in the Listing Rules and other relevant legal and regulatory
requirements from time to time. The Directors are also provided with
regular updates on the Company’s performance, position and
prospects to enable the Board as a whole and each Director to
discharge their duties.

Directors are encouraged to participate in continuous professional
development to develop and refresh their knowledge and skills. The
company secretary of the Company has from time to time updated and
provided written training materials relating to the roles, functions and

duties of a Director.
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During the Review Period, all Directors have participated in continuous
professional development by attending training courses and/or
referring materials on the topics related to the Group's business,
corporate governance and regulations on the roles, functions and

duties of a director of a listed company:

Attending
expert briefings/
seminars/
conferences/
on-line courses
relevant to
Reading the business of
regulatory the Group or
Name of Director update  directors’ duties
SMERAEE
XBREERHE
ZEREHRE
- Ve
EEER HESNEEER EHRRR
Executive Director HITES
Dr. Stephen Xiangdong ZOU FEREL 4 v
Non-executive Directors FHITES
Mr. Peter Randall KAGAN Peter Randall Kagan & 4 v/ =
Mr. Gordon Sun Kan SHAW BTRELE v -
Mr. Zhen WEI WETE v -
Mr. Lei JIN eR|EL v -
Dr. Guiyong CUI EEBELT v/ =
Dr. Bo BAI RREL v v
Independent non-executive Directors BYFHTES
Mr. Yaowen WU RIBX 4 v =
Mr. Robert Ralph PARKS Robert Ralph Parks 5t 4 v/ v/
Dr. Tin Yau Kelvin WONG ERMGELT v v
Mr. Fredrick J. BARRETT Fredrick J. Barrett 564 v v
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Appointment, Re-election and Removal of Directors

The procedures and process of appointment, re-election and removal
of directors are set out in the Articles. The Nomination Committee is
responsible for reviewing the Board composition, monitoring the
appointment, re-election and succession planning of Directors.

Each of the executive Director, non-executive Directors and
independent non-executive Directors has entered into a service
agreements or a letter of appointment with the Company for a term of
three years commencing from the Listing Date. Such term is subject to
his re-election by the Company at an annual general meeting upon
retirement. The Articles provide that any Director appointed by the
Board to fill a casual vacancy in the Board shall hold office until the first
general meeting of the Company after his appointment and shall then
be eligible for re-election at such meeting. Besides, any Director
appointed by the Board as an addition to the existing Board shall hold
office only until the next following annual general meeting of the
Company and shall then be eligible for re-election. In accordance with
the Articles, at every annual general meeting of the Company, one
third of the Directors for the time being or, if their number is not three
or a multiple of three, then the number nearest to but not less than
one-third shall retire from office by rotation provided that every
Director (including those appointed for a specific term) shall be subject
to retirement by rotation at least once every three years and being
eligible offer themselves for re-election.

In accordance with the Articles, one-third of the Directors, being Dr.
Tin Yau Kelvin Wong, Mr. Zhijie Zeng, Dr. Guiyong Cui and Dr. Bo Bai,
shall retire and Dr. Guiyong Cui and Dr. Bo Bai being eligible, have
offered themselves for re-election at the Company’s forthcoming AGM.

Board Meetings

The Company adopts the practice of holding board meetings regularly,
at least four times a year, and at approximately quarterly intervals.
Notices of not less than 14 days will be given for all regular board
meetings to provide all Directors with an opportunity to attend and
include matters in the agenda for a regular meeting.

For other Board and committee meetings, reasonable notice will
generally be given. The agenda and accompanying board papers are
dispatched to the Directors or committee members at least three days
before the meetings to ensure that they have sufficient time to review
the papers and be adequately prepared for the meetings. When
directors or committee members are unable to attend a meeting, they
will be advised of the matters to be discussed and given an opportunity
to make their views known to the chairman of the Board prior to the
eeting.
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Minutes of the Board meetings and Board Committee meetings will be
recorded in sufficient detail the matters considered by the Board and
the Board Committees and the decisions reached, including any
concerns raised by the Directors. Draft minutes of each Board meeting
and Board Committee meeting are/will be sent to the Directors for
comments within a reasonable time after the date on which the
meeting is held.

During the Review Period, four board meetings were held and the
attendance of the individual Directors at these meetings is set out in
the table below:
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- RREMNESRRIEE SEF28aL
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BHNAEBHRARXTESR BEFEXRE
B o

REEHAR  EFERTHREHE MIEF
EZEFEHMLFEBEREN TR

Attended/
Name of Director Eligible to attend
L% B TR
Dr. Stephen Xiangdong Zou (Chairman) BRRELT(FE) 4/4
Mr. Peter Randall Kagan Peter Randall Kagan £ 4 3/4
Mr. Gordon Sun Kan Shaw BT TE 4/4
Mr. Zhen Wei BMELA 0/4
Mr. Zhijie Zeng BANEE 0/4
Mr. Lei Jin TEITE 4/4
Dr. Guiyong Cui EEBELT 3/4
Dr. Bo Bai HEET 4/4
Mr. Yaowen Wu RIBX 4 4/4
Mr. Robert Ralph Parks Robert Ralph Parks 5¢ 4 4/4
Dr. Tin Yau Kelvin Wong ERMET 4/4
Mr. Fredrick J. Barrett Fredrick J. Barrett %t 4 4/4

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

Under code provision A.2.1 of the CG Code, the roles of chairman and
chief executive officer should be separate and performed by different
individuals.

The chairman of the Board and the chief executive officer of the
Company (the “Chief Executive Officer”) are currently two separate
positions held by Dr. ZOU as the chairman of the Board and Mr. Jing Li
and Mr. Carl Lakey as co-Chief Executive Officer, with clear distinction
in responsibilities. The chairman of the Board is responsible for
providing strategic advice and guidance on the business development
of the Group, while the co-Chief Executive Officers are responsible for
the day-to-day operations of the Group.
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Model Code for Securities Transactions

The Company has adopted a code of conduct regarding securities
transactions by the Directors on terms no less exacting than the
required standard of the Model Code for Securities Transactions by
Directors of Listed Issuers as set out in the Model Code. Having made
specific enquiry with all Directors, the Company confirmed that all
Directors have complied with the code of conduct and the Model
Code during the Review Period.

The Company also established written guidelines on terms no less
exacting than the Model Code (the “Employees Written Guidelines”)
for securities transactions by relevant employees who are likely to
possess inside information of the Company in respect of their dealings
in the Company's securities on 6 August 2015. No incident of non-
compliance of the Employees Written Guidelines by the relevant
employees was noted by the Company during the Review Period.

Delegation by the Board

The Board reserves for its decision all major matters of the Company,
including: approval and monitoring of all policy matters, overall
strategies and budgets, internal control and risk management systems,
material transactions (in particular those that may involve conflict of
interests), financial information, appointment of Directors and other
significant financial and operational matters. Directors could have
recourse to seek independent professional advice in performing their
duties at the Company’s expense and are encouraged to access and to
consult with the Company’s senior management independently.

The daily management, administration and operation of the Group are
delegated to the senior management. The delegated functions and
responsibilities are periodically reviewed by the Board. Approval has to
be obtained from the Board prior to any significant transactions
entered into by the management.
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Corporate Governance Function

The Board recognizes that corporate governance should be the
collective responsibility of Directors and the corporate governance
duties include:

(@) to develop and review the Company’s policies and practices on
corporate governance;

(b)  to review and monitor the training and continuous professional
development of Directors and senior management of the
Company;

()  to review and monitor the Company’s policies and practices on
compliance with legal and regulatory requirements;

(d) to develop, review and monitor the code of conduct and
compliance manual (if any) applicable to employees and
Directors; and

(e) to review the Company’s compliance with the CG Code and
disclosure in the Corporate Governance Report.

Remuneration of Directors and Senior Management

The Company has established a formal and transparent procedure for
formulating policies on remuneration of Directors and senior
management of the Group. Details of the remuneration of each of the
Directors for the year ended 31 December 2015 are set out in notes
26(c) and 31 to the section headed “Consolidated Financial
Statements” of this annual report.

The senior management’s remuneration for the year ended 31
December 2015 is within the following bands:
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Year ended
31 December 2015

BE20154%
12B31HIEFEE

Emolument bands HENEE
HKD3,000,001-HKD3,500,000 3,000,001 % 7T = 3,500,000 7T 1
HKD4,500,001-HKDS5,000,000 4,500,001 7 7T 2 5,000,000 74 7T 1
HKD8,000,001-HKD8,500,000 8,000,001 7 7T = 8,500,000 7T 1
HKD14,000,001-HKD 14,500,000 14,000,001 /& 7L £ 14,500,000/87C 1
HKD16,500,001=HKD 17,000,000 16,500,001 78 7L = 17,000,000 7% 7T 2
6

Note: The above emoluments included share-based compensation expense.
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Directors’ Liability Insurance
The Company has arranged appropriate insurance cover in respect of
legal action against its Directors.

BOARD COMMITTEES

Audit Committee

The Audit Committee comprises three members, namely Dr. Tin Yau
Kelvin Wong, Mr. Robert Ralph Parks, and Mr. Gordon Sun Kan Shaw,
the majority of who are independent non-executive Directors. The
chairman is Dr. Tin Yau Kelvin Wong, who confirmed that he possesses
appropriate professional qualifications as required under Rules 3.10(2)
and 3.21 of the Listing Rules. The main duties of the Audit Committee
include the following:

(@)  to review the financial statements and reports and consider any
significant or unusual items raised by the Company’s staff
responsible for the accounting and financial reporting function,
compliance officer or the auditor before submission to the Board;

(b)  to review and monitor the external auditor’s independence and
objectivity and effectiveness of the audit process in accordance
with applicable standard and discuss with external auditor the
nature and scope of the audit and reporting obligations before
the audit commences; and

() to review the adequacy and effectiveness of the Company’s
financial reporting system, internal control system and risk
management system and associated procedures, including the
adequacy of the resources, staff qualifications and experience,
training programs and budget of the Company’s accounting and
financial reporting function.

The Audit Committee oversees the risk management and internal
control systems of the Group, reports to the Board on any material
issue, and makes recommendations to the Board.

The written terms of reference of Audit Committee are available on the
websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company.
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During the Review Period, one meeting of the Audit Committee was
held to discuss and consider the following matters:

J reviewed interim results of the Company and its subsidiaries for
the period ended 30 June 2015;

° reviewed terms of reference of the Audit Committee;

o reviewed the financial reporting system, compliance procedures,
internal control system (including the adequacy of resources, staff
qualifications and experience, training programmes and budget
of the Company's accounting and financial reporting function),
risk management systems and processes.

During the Review Period, one meeting of the Audit Committee was
held and the attendance record of the Audit Committee members is

set out in the table below:

Name of Director

B
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REEHRN  BREESRIT—RZH
EZEZESMRENNFLEHNTE

7

Attended/
Eligible to attend
BERHE W HERE

Dr. Tin Yau Kelvin Wong (Chairman of the EANGET (FEZEEERE) 11
Audit Committee)

Mr. Gordon Sun Kan Shaw BT TE 1/1

Mr. Robert Ralph Parks Robert Ralph Parks 5£ 4 1/1

Pursuant to the code provision C.3.3 of the CG Code, the Audit
Committee should meet with the Company’s auditors at least twice a
year. During the Review Period, the Company only held one Audit
Committee meeting as the Review Period was not a complete financial
year. The Audit Committee intends to meet at least twice per year in

the future.
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Remuneration Committee

The Remuneration Committee comprises three members, namely Mr.
Robert Ralph Parks, Mr. Fredrick J. Barrett and Dr. Bo Bai, the majority
of whom are independent non-executive Directors.

The principal duties of the Remuneration Committee include the
following:

1. to make recommendations to the Board on the Company’s policy
and structure for the remuneration of the Directors and senior
management and on the establishment of a formal and
transparent procedure for developing remuneration policies;

2. to review and approve the management’'s remuneration
proposals with reference to the corporate goals and objectives
determined by the Board;

3. either to determine, with delegated responsibility or to make
recommendations to the Board on the remuneration packages of
individual executive Directors and senior management. These
include benefits in kind, pension rights and compensation
payments, including any compensation payable for loss or
termination of their office or appointment;

4. to make recommendations to the Board on the remuneration of
non-executive Directors;

5. to consider salaries paid by comparable companies, time
commitment and responsibilities and employment conditions of
the Group;

6. to review and approve compensation payable to executive
Directors and senior management for any loss or termination of
office or appointment to ensure that it is consistent with
contractual terms and is otherwise fair and not excessive;

7. to review and approve compensation arrangements relating to
dismissal or removal of Directors for misconduct to ensure that
they are consistent with contractual terms and are otherwise
reasonable and appropriate; and

8.  to ensure that no Director or any of his associates (as defined in

the Listing Rules) is involved in deciding his own remuneration.

e written terms of reference of Remuneration Committee are
the websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company.
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During the Review Period, two meetings of the Remuneration
Committee were held to discuss and consider the following matters:

° reviewed and discussed terms of reference for the Remuneration
Committee;
J reviewed and discussed Post-IPO RSU scheme and approve of

grant of RSUs under Post-IPO RSU scheme;

o discussed directors’ and senior management’s remuneration
structure;
o reviewed and discussed year-end bonus and salary increase;

During the Review Period, two meetings of the Remuneration
Committee ware held and the attendance record of the Remuneration
Committee members is set out in the table below:

Name of Director

REBEHAN - FNEESRITMRZE - U5
I EHIA T EIE

o FEHMIWFHZEENRARE

s FERETWAXRRRABERZRHIBN
““ﬁEJrilJ&Ttt/&*ﬂ“‘%/ﬂ@?ﬁ?*%&%
PR 1 A (2 B A5 8 T 2[R HIA (D BB L

. SmEEREREIREEN TN

o ERINEWERICALINE
REEHRA  FHRESRITMAEER  M&
FMZ BB HFLEEN TR

Attended/
Eligible to attend

EENR BEHE ATHERE
Mr. Robert Ralph Parks (Chairman of the Robert Ralph Parks %t 4 2/2
Remuneration Committee) (FWNZE=E/E)
Mr. Fredrick J. Barrett Fredrick J. Barrett o4 2/2
Dr. Bo Bai® HEELO 1/1
Mr. Zhen Wei® FBERSL A 0/1
Note: P EE -

(1) Dr. Bo Bai has been appointed as a member of the Remuneration Committee in

replacement of Mr. Zhen Wei with effect from 25 September 2015.

m BRELR2015F9 25 EEERELEEEZER
FZREKE -
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Nomination Committee

The Nomination Committee currently consists of two independent
non-executive Directors, being Dr. Tin Yau Kelvin Wong and Mr.
Yaowen Wu, and an executive Director, Dr. ZOU, who is the chairman
of the Nomination Committee.

The principal duties of the Nomination Committee include the
following:

1. to review the structure, size and composition (including the skills,
knowledge and experience) of the Board at least annually and
make recommendations on any proposed changes to the Board
to complement the Company’s corporate strategy;

2. to identify individuals suitably qualified to become Board
members and select or make recommendations to the Board on
the selection of individuals nominated for directorships;

3. to assess the independence of independent non-executive
Directors;

4. to make recommendations to the Board on the appointment or
re-appointment of Directors and the succession planning for
Directors, in particular the chairman and the chief executive
officer; and

5. toreview the Board diversity policy.
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The Nomination Committee assesses the candidate or incumbent on
criteria such as integrity, experience, skill and ability to commit time
and effort to carry out the duties and responsibilities. The
recommendations of the Nomination Committee will then be put to
the Board for decision. The written terms of reference of the
Nomination Committee are available on the websites of the Stock
Exchange and the Company.

During the Review Period, one meeting of the Nomination Committee
was held to discuss and consider the following matters:

o reviewed structure, size, composition and diversity of the Board,;
o reviewed adequacy of terms of reference of the Nomination
Committee.

The written terms of reference of Nomination Committee are available
on the websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company.

During the Review Period, one meeting of the Nomination Committee
was held and the attendance record of the Nomination Committee
members is set out in the table below:

REBEZBEREHUE &R HELETESN
NHEEEEBENEITREEBESHRE - 1
REASIREKE - REREENERSTRH
EEZgRT REZESNZHBEHBETH
PR R AN B RS AT R -

MmN ERATER

e RINEZFENRE BB EXRZT
1B

. BRIRAZERNBRENESTEY -

o]

REZBENEMBESEEH AN ARF
BRI BB o

REBEHA RERREGRITREH - M&
REZBERBMHFLERNTX

Attended/

Name of Director Eligible to attend

EENE BERHE TTHERE
Dr. Stephen Xiangdong Zou BRARET(BEEEEFE)

(Chairman of the Nomination Committee) 11

Mr. Yaowen Wu RIBX A 1/1

Dr. Tin Yau Kelvin Wong =ERAELT 1/1
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Board Diversity Policy

The Board has adopted a board diversity policy which sets out the
approach to achieve a sustainable and balanced development of the
Company and also to enhance the quality of performance of the
Company.

The Company seeks to achieve board diversity through the
consideration of a number of factors, including but not limited to
gender, age, cultural and educational background, ethnicity,
professional experience, skills, knowledge and length of service.

All board appointments will be based on meritocracy, and candidates
will be considered against objective criteria, having due regard for the
benefits of diversity on the Board.

Selection of candidates will be based on a range of diversity
perspectives as stated in the above. The ultimate decision will be
based on merit and contribution that the selected candidates will bring
to the Board.

As at the date of this report, the Board comprises 12 Directors. Four of
the directors are independent non-executive directors and
independent management, thereby promoting critical review and
control of the management process. The Board is also characterized by
significant diversity, whether considered in terms of culture and
education background, professional background and skills.

Directors’ Responsibilities for Financial Reporting in respect
of Financial Statements

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for preparing the
financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2015 which give
a true and fair view of the affairs of the Company and the Group and of
the Group's results and cash flows.

Pursuant to the code provision C.1.1 of the CG Code, the management
has provided to the Board such explanation and information as are
necessary to enable the Board to carry out an informed assessment of
the Company'’s financial statements, which are put to the Board for
approval. The Company provides all members of the Board with
monthly updates on Company'’s performance, positions and prospects.

The Directors-were not aware of any material uncertainties relating to
events or conditions which may cast significant doubt upon the
Group's ability to continue as a going concern.

The statement by the Auditor regarding their reporting responsibilities

the consolidated financial statements of the Company is set out in
ion headed “Independent Auditor’s Report” of this annual
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL
Responsibility of the Board

The Board acknowledges that it is the responsibility of the Board for
ensuring that the Company establishes and maintains appropriate and
effective risk management and internal control systems and reviewing
the effectiveness of such systems on an annual basis. The Board is also
aware of the fact that such systems are designed to manage rather
than eliminate the risk of failure to achieve business objectives, and can
only provide reasonable assurance and not absolute assurance against
material misstatement or loss.

The Risk Management and Internal Control Systems

The Company adopted the three lines of defence model in the
management of risk. Operational management forms the core of the
first line of defence as they contact with the risk sources in the first
place. They are responsible for identifying, reporting and preliminarily
managing risks in their daily operations. Our second line of defence is
aimed to facilitate and monitor the implementation of effective risk
management practices by operational management and assists risk
owners in defining risk exposures and reporting adequate risk-related
information throughout the Company. Our internal audit function is the
core of the third line of defence and mainly responsible for checking,
auditing and monitoring the work performed by the first and second
lines of defence.

The Company'’s risks are identified from business processes in our
established enterprise-wide risk assessment methodologies. We select
key participants across the Company who are involved in each of the
business process as interviewees to identify the risks to form our risk
universe. Each risk within the risk universe is assessed in terms of
likelihood of occurrence and the significance of impact, taken into
account the current internal controls in place to mitigate these risks.
The risk assessment results are reported to senior management and
the Board for the confirmation of our risk response strategies, based
on their preferences towards risk, the available resources for risk
mitigation, and the current controls in place.

The Company'’s internal control system is based on Internal Control —
Integrated Framework of the Committee of Sponsoring Organisations
of the Treadway Commission (“COSO"), and has five components,
namely Control Environment, Risk Assessment, Control Activities,
Information and Communication, and Monitoring Activities. The system
intends to facilitate the design and functioning of good control
practices and reduce the likelihood and impact of risks to an
acceptably low level, in order for us to achieve our objectives in
operations, reporting, and compliance.
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Any material internal control defects identified are timely
communicated and carefully evaluated for their potential impacts. The
departments or functions who are owners of these controls, are
required to propose corrective measures and obtain approval from
management before implementation. The implementation status are
monitored by both management and the internal audit function to
ensure these control defects are properly resolved in a timely manner.
The Company has also established policies and procedures for the
handling and dissemination of inside information. The information to
be disclosed should be properly reviewed and approved by our
compliance functions and management to ensure its appropriateness
and accuracy, and is closely monitored after disclosure. The Company
plans to use its best endeavour to continuously refine our internal
control system whenever necessary.

Internal Audit Function

The Company's internal audit department plays a major role in the
monitoring of the Company’s internal governance processes. The
major tasks of the department include providing reasonable assurance
on the effectiveness of the Company's governance, risk management
and internal controls in areas of operations, safeguarding of assets,
reporting, and compliance, and conducting risk-based audits of all
branches and subsidiaries of the Company on a regular basis with
recommended action plans to audit findings. The department also
provides consulting services in risk management and internal control
related issues within the Company.

Review of the Effectiveness and Adequacy of Our Systems
We prepare and submit reports to the Board in risk and control related
issues at least annually, detailing our risk management activities, the
overall risk exposures, prioritisation of risks based on risk assessment
results and management's risk preferences with a careful evaluation of
the current internal control systems and availability of resources. The
Board reviews the reasonableness of reports and representations from
management and makes sufficient enquiries whenever they feel
necessary, before reaching their conclusions.

During the Review Period, the Board has conducted a review of the
effectiveness of the Company's risk management and internal control
systems with the application of the above review process, and
considered our risk management and internal control systems effective
and adequate.in all material aspects in both design and operations.
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EXTERNAL AUDITORS AND AUDITOR’S
REMUNERATION

The statement by the external auditor of the Company regarding their
reporting responsibilities on the consolidated financial statements of
the Company is set out in the section headed “Independent Auditor’s
Report” of this annual report.

For the year ended 31 December 2015, the total remuneration paid or
payable to the Company's external auditors, PricewaterhouseCoopers
("PwC"), for audit and audit related services totaled RMB3.3 million.

In addition, PwC was appointed as the Company’s reporting
accountant for the Listing, in relation to which total fees paid or
payable to PwC during the year ended 31 December 2015 was RMB2.8
million.

An analysis of the remuneration paid or payable to PwC is set out
below:

NI R B A % A B AT A

AR BSNERAZ BRED B BE AR R B4R & M 15 R B
BEENBABNAFR B EZBERS

— & e

HZE2015F 12831 AILFE - A RARIHEZX
A RE AR i 24 S T INEEAZ LA 28 o
KIEEFTM BT ([BERKE]) WG 2%
AAREIBET -

AN - BEFOKENEZELAEEBLETH
ANARERIMSETAD - ALE2015F12A31 B 1k
FEEBNNENTREMKENEBREEAA
R¥ 2808 7T -

B SEN T REERGERNBE TN T

Year ended 31 December
HZ12A31MHILEE

2015 2014
2015%F 20144
RMB’'000 RMB’000
AR® T ARETFIT

2015 annual audit service 2015 F EETARTS
— The Company S N/N] 3,300 -
— Subsidiaries — KB A E] 400 400
Services relating to IPO EPNGE: = 2,800 1,670
Non-audit services * e ET AR > 179 -
6,679 2,070

Non-audit services primarily represent tax and advisory services

* FEBA IR X BIETE RERE RS
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JOINT COMPANY SECRETARIES

Ms. Yang Lin (“Ms. Lin"), one of the joint company secretaries of the
Company, is responsible for advising the Board on corporate
governance matters and ensuring that the Board policy and
procedures, and the applicable laws, rules and regulations are
followed.

In order to uphold good corporate governance and ensure compliance
with the Listing Rules and applicable Hong Kong laws, the Company
also engages Ms. Lai Siu Kuen (“Ms. Lai"”), senior manager of TMF
Hong Kong Limited (a company secretarial service provider), as another
joint company secretary to assist Ms. Lin to discharge her duties as
company secretary of the Company. The primary corporate contact
person at the Company is Ms. Lin, one of the joint company secretaries
of the Company.

During the Review Period, Ms. Lin and Ms. Lai have undertaken not less
than 15 hours of relevant professional training respectively in
compliance with Rule 3.29 of the Listing Rules.

COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS AND
INVESTOR RELATIONS

The Company considers that effective communication with
shareholders is essential for enhancing investor relations and
understanding of the Group's business, performance and strategies.
The Company also recognizes the importance of timely and non-
selective disclosure of information, which will enable shareholders and
investors to make the informed investment decisions.

The AGM provides opportunity for shareholders to communicate
directly with the Directors. The chairman of the Board and the chairmen
of the Board Committees of the Company will attend the AGMs to
answer shareholders’ questions. The external auditor of the Company
will also attend the AGMs to answer questions about the conduct of
the audit, the preparation and contents of the auditor’s report, the
accounting policies and auditor independence.

To promote effective communication, the Company adopts a
shareholders’ communication policy which aims at establishing a two-
way relationship and communication between the Company and its
shareholders and maintains a website at http://www.aagenergy.com/,
where up-to-date information on the Company’s business operations
and developments, financial information, corporate governance
practices and other information are available for public access.
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SHAREHOLDERS' RIGHTS

Convening of Extraordinary General Meetings (“EGM") by
Shareholders

Pursuant to the Articles, the Board may, whenever it thinks fit, convene
an EGM. An EGM shall also be convened on the requisition of one or
more shareholders of the Company holding, at the date of deposit of
the requisition, not less than one tenth of the paid up capital of the
Company having the right of voting at general meetings. Such
requisition shall be made in writing to the Board or the joint company
secretaries of the Company for the purpose of requiring an EGM to be
called by the Board for the transaction of any business specified in such
requisition. The Directors shall within two (2) months after the deposit
of such requisition proceed duly to convene such meeting. If within 21
days of such deposit the Board fails to proceed to convene such
meeting, the requisitionist(s) himself (themselves) may do so in the
same manner, and all reasonable expenses incurred by the
requisitionist(s) as a result of the failure of the Board shall be
reimbursed to the requisitionist(s) by the Company.

Putting Forward Enquiries to the Board and Contact Details
For putting forward any enquiries to the Board, Shareholders may send
written enquiries to the Company. The Company will not normally deal
with verbal or anonymous enquiries. Shareholders may send their
enquiries or requests as mentioned above to the following:

Address: Unit 2109-10, 21st Floor

China Merchants Tower

Shun Tak Centre

No. 168-200 Connaught Road Central
Hong Kong

(For the attention of the Board of Directors)

Email: anatole.pang@aagenergy.com

CHANGE IN CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

An amended and restated memorandum and articles of association of
the Company was adopted by the Company on 5 June 2015 and was
effective on the Listing Date. Save as disclosed in this annual report,
the Company has not made any significant changes to its constitutional
documents.
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Independent Auditor’s Report
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TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF
AAG ENERGY HOLDINGS LIMITED
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of AAG Energy
Holdings Limited (the "Company”) and its subsidiaries set out on
pages 90 to 165, which comprise the consolidated balance sheet as at
31 December 2015, and the consolidated statement of comprehensive
income, the consolidated statement of changes in equity and the
consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and a
summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory
information.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in
accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards issued by
the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants and the
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and
for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to
enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

AUDITOR'’S RESPONSIBILITY

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated
financial statements based on our audit and to report our opinion
solely to you, as a body, and for no other purpose. We do not assume
responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person for the
contents of this report.

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants. Those standards require that we comply with ethical
requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable
assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements are free
from material misstatement.
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ricewaterhouseCoopers, 22/F Prince’s Building, Central, Hong Kong
52 2289 8888 Fax: +852 2810 9888, www.pwchk.com
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An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence
about the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated financial
statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s
judgment, including the assessment of the risks of material
misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to
fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers
internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation of consolidated
financial statements that give a true and fair view in order to design
audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for
the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the
entity’s internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the
appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness
of accounting estimates made by the directors, as well as evaluating
the overall presentation of the consolidated financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

OPINION

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the financial position of the Company and its subsidiaries as
at 31 December 2015, and of their financial performance and cash
flows for the year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards and have been properly prepared in compliance
with the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance.

PricewaterhouseCoopers
Certified Public Accountants

Hong Kong, 23 March 2016
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Consolidated Balance Sheet

EHEERER

As at 31 December

®12A31H
2015 2014
2015 2014 5
Note RMB’'000 RMB'000
B 5T AR¥T T AREEFIT
ASSETS EE
Non-current assets FkRBEE
Property, plant and equipment Y -~ R MR 6 2,639,914 2,129,261
Land use rights 4 b {5 P #E 7 12,547 12,829
Intangible assets A E 8 15,025 5,013
2,667,486 2,147,103
Current assets REEE
Inventories e 1,097 1,078
Trade and other receivables JFE LS BR 51 K L fib R LK R 10 255,339 247,018
Restricted bank deposits SR B ERTTF K 11 8,033 =
Term deposits with initial terms of 50 BARR #B3E = 1 H &Y
over three months TEHTFER 11 246,000 =
Cash and cash equivalents ReRREEEY 11 2,309,810 1,099,673
2,820,279 1,347,769
Total assets BEE 5,487,765 3,494,872
EQUITY s
Equity attributable to owners ERBEEELERS
of the Company
Share capital R& 2R 12 2,034 511
Capital surplus BB 13 4,700,281 2,856,420
Accumulated deficits 2xtEiE (110,869) (53,930)
Total equity HRES 4,591,446 2,803,001
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Consolidated Balance Sheet

EHEERER

As at 31 December

Mm12A31H
2015 2014
2015 F 20144
Note RMB’'000 RMB'000
B 5T AR®ET T AREEFIT
LIABILITIES af&
Non-current liabilities FkRBERE
Asset retirement obligations BERERB 14 8,409 6,363
Borrowings &R 15 418,859 362,280
Deferred tax liabilities FEFIEEE 9 76,158 6,789
503,426 375,432
Current liabilities HREBEE
Trade and other payables JRE 15 B 30 B L At R 1F 3K 16 390,453 243,327
Current income tax liabilities BIEART ST B E 2,440 73,112
392,893 316,439
Total liabilities #BEF 896,319 691,871
Total equity and liabilities HERRAE 5,487,765 3,494,872

#

The notes on pages 95 to 165 are an integral part of these consolidated

95 E 165 HHIHI TR A A G B 15 R M9 A AL

financial statements. 2

okt

The financial statements on pages 90 to 165 were approved by the FI0E165ENMBEHRRABZETSN 201653

Board of Directors on 23 March 2016 and were signed on its behalf. A23R#LE WHERKEE -
Executive Director WITES
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Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income

BHmERER

Year ended 31 December
HZ12A31MHILEE

2015 2014
2015 2014 5
Note RMB’'000 RMB'000
B 5T AR¥T T AREEFIT
Revenue WA 17 536,655 425,895
Other income B e 18 127,672 151,197
Other (losses)/gains, net Hith (B518), Wz F 5 (163) m
Operating expenses REMX
Depreciation and amortisation Yree K s (142,086) (107,772
Employee benefit expenses EEEANMY 20 (155,162) (102,168)
Materials, services and logistics ME - RIS R (113,815) (56,656)
Others HAftb (23,260) (27,039)
Total operating expenses REM BT (434,323) (293,635)
Profit from operations R RF 229,841 283,568
Interest income FMBWA 21 5,815 2,804
Finance costs B TSR AR 21 (29,126) (6,872)
Exchange losses b &8 21 (154,813) (4,452)
Finance costs, net A R AR5 (178,124) (8,520)
Profit before income tax MRAT S B AR 51,717 275,048
Income tax expense FriSHif X2 22 (108,656) (80,060)
(Loss)/profit for the year FEE(E5E) EF (56,939) 194,988
Other comprehensive income: HitiRE W ¢
ltems that may be reclassified RIZA[feET 7HEE
subsequently to profit or loss Bz 976 B
Currency translation differences GNP = ER 259,233 238
Total comprehensive income FEMRERZEE
for the year 202,294 195,226
(Losses)/earnings per share (RMB) B8R (E5R) B (AR¥T)
— Basic —HK 23 (0.02) 0.07
— Diluted — s 23 (0.02) 0.07

The notes on pages 95 to 165 are an integral part of these consolidated 5595 % 165 B WM 2 A& HF I I TR AU 4R K
financial statements. o -

LDINGS LIMITED / ANNUAL REPORT 2015



Consolidated Statement of Change in Equity
EOREEEE K

Attributable to owners of the Company

ENR A ERER
Share Capital Accumulated Total
capital surplus deficits equity
IR EXREH RitEE AR
Note RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
Bt aF ARBTT AR®TT AREFT AR®ETR
As at 1 January 2015 R2015F181A8 511 2,856,420 (53,930) 2,803,001
Comprehensive income FEWE
Loss for the year FEEIE = = (56,939) (56,939)
Currency translation differences  JMNEITE Z %8 - 259,233 - 259,233
Total comprehensive income & KNG EHE = 259,233 (56,939) 202,294
Transactions with owners HTEENRS
Capitalisation Issue BRI ELT 12()(a) 891 (891) = =
Issue of additional shares BEITEBINRAD 12()(b) 223 (223) - -
Issue of shares of initial public ~ E{TE R AFREER D
offering 12(ii),13 407 1,538,841 - 1,539,248
Share-based compensation AR 23 /5 ZE R ) 57 B 20(b)(iv) - 44,702 - 44,702
Exercise of options Gd G 2 2,199 - 2,201
Total transactions with owners EEffEEMR ZHEEE 1,523 1,584,628 - 1,586,151
As at 31 December 2015 M2015F12A31H 2,034 4,700,281 (110,869) 4,591,446
As at 1 January 2014 M2014F1 818 - 193,160 (248,918) (55,758)
Comprehensive income FEWE
Profit for the year FREF = = 194,988 194,988
Currency translation differences  JMNEITE Z %8 - 238 - 238
Total comprehensive income  #R& WA - 238 194,988 195,226
Transactions with owners HTEENR S
Issue of share capital upon AR Bl I
incorporation of the Company ~ E{Ti&A 1.2(2) 511 2,628,553 = 2,629,064
Share-based compensation PARR (D B EHt 69 357 B 20(b)(iv) = 34,469 = 34,469
Total transactions with owners EEffEENR 5 L% 511 2,663,022 = 2,663,533
As at 31 December 2014 R2014%12A31H 511 2,856,420 (53,930) 2,803,001

Bl

The notes on pages 95 to 165 are an integral part of these consolidated

95 % 165 B W s 2 A A HHoT IS TRk 4R AK

financial statements. =i5a)
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

EHRETRER

Year ended 31 December
HZ12A31MHILEE

2015 2014
2015 20144
Note RMB’'000 RMB'000
LiEs3 ARBT T ARETT
Cash flows from operating activities K& EEBNHRLSRE
Cash generated from operations RESIR S 25 451,428 320,152
Interest paid ERTFLE (24,165) (22,565)
Income tax paid ERFTEH (109,881) =
Net cash generated from operating KL EBMSIH S F5E
activities 317,382 297,587
Cash flows from investing activities RETHNRESRTE
Purchase of property, plant and BEYE BELARER
equipment and intangible assets | EE (494,845) (423,939
Increase in term deposits with initial 4R EARR AR 38 = 1 A &Y
terms of over three months TE BATE R AN 1" (246,000) -
Increase in restricted bank deposits PR B SR 1 T1F SR 0N 1" (8,033) -
Proceeds from disposal of property, HEME - WE RH&E
plant and equipment PTG RIE 139 151
Interest received EFHE 4,802 2,834
Net cash used in investing activities KREESMAE S F5E (743,937) (420,954)
Cash flows from financing activities RMETHNRSRE
Proceeds from shareholder loans R E RTS8 26(b)(iii) - 1,025,242
Proceeds from issuance of BITELRRFTISHRIA
ordinary shares 1,544,380 -
Proceeds from exercise of options ITERER TS RIE 2,433 -
Proceeds from bank borrowings RITIERATISRIA 427,952 =
Repayments of bank borrowings BERITEN (379,043) -
Cash paid for listing expenses HLETAIZARRS (29,288) -
Finance costs paid BT BB AR (48,722) (11,203)
Net cash generated from financing BB EBATISIRE F58
activities 1,517,712 1,014,039
Net increase in cash and cash ReRASEEYEMFHE
equivalents 1,091,157 890,672
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning F#IHIR & NIREEEY
of the year 11 1,099,673 209,194
Exchange gains/(losses) on cash and BeNIReEEYER
cash equivalents Wz, (EB18) 118,980 (193)
Cash and cash equivalents at end FRNRERASEEY
of the year 11 2,309,810 1,099,673
The notes on pages 95 to 165 are an integral part of these consolidated 25 95 % 165 B BIMI 7 2 A6 G+ B 15 R = AR K
inancial statements. o o

LDINGS LIMITED / ANNUAL REPORT 2015



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BOF M I W R M EE

1. GENERAL INFORMATION, REORGANIZATION
AND BASIS OF PRESENTATION

1.1

1.2

General information

AAG Energy Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its
subsidiaries (together, the “"Group”) are principally
engaged in exploration, development and production of
coalbed methane (“CBM") in the People’s Republic of
China (the "PRC"). The Company is an exempted company
incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability on
23 December 2014. The address of the Company's
registered office is Floor 4, Willow House, Cricket Square,
P.O. Box 2804, Grand Cayman KY1-1112, Cayman Islands.

The Group conducts its business through two production
sharing contracts ("PSC") entered into with China United
Coalbed Methane Corporation Ltd. (“CUCBM") and
PetroChina Company Limited for the Panzhuang and Mabi
concessions respectively in Shanxi Province of the PRC.

The Overall Development Plan (“ODP”) of the Panzhuang
concession was approved by the National Development
and Reform Commission of the PRC on 28 November 2011,
which allowed the Panzhuang concession to enter into the
commercial development phase. As at 31 December 2015,
Mabi concession was still in exploration phase.

The Company'’s initial public offering (“IPO") of its shares
on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited was completed on 23 June 2015.

Reorganisation and changes in group structure
Prior to the incorporation of the Company and the
completion of the reorganisation as described below (the
"Reorganisation”), the Group's business was carried out by
Asian American Gas, Inc. (“AAGI") and its subsidiary Sino-
American Energy, Inc. (“SAEI"”), and AAG Energy (China)
Limited now comprising the Group. In the preparation of
listing of the Company’s shares on the Main Board of the
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited, the Reorganisation
was undertaken pursuant to which the group companies
engaged in-the relevant business under common control
were transferred to the Company.

1.1

1.2
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BOF M I W R M EE

1. GENERAL INFORMATION, REORGANIZATION
AND BASIS OF PRESENTATION (Continued)
1.2 Reorganisation and changes in group structure
(Continued)
The Reorganisation involved the following:

M

On 23 December 2014, the Company was
incorporated in the Cayman Islands as an exempted
company with limited liability, with AAG Energy
Limited, the then parent company of AAGI and AAG
Energy (China) Limited, as its sole shareholder.

On 30 December 2014, pursuant to a sale and
purchase agreement entered into between AAG
Energy Limited and the Company, the Company
issued 835,069,049 ordinary shares to AAG Energy
Limited, as the consideration for AAG Energy Limited
to transfer its 100% equity interest in AAGI and AAG
Energy (China) Limited, together with all shareholder
loans totalling RMB2,629,064,000 due from AAGI as of
that date, to the Company. Upon completion of the
transfer on 31 December 2014, AAGI and AAG Energy
(China) Limited became direct wholly-owned
subsidiaries of the Company and the shareholder
loans were converted into equity.

On 23 June 2015, AAG Energy Limited repurchased
and cancelled all but three of its issued and
outstanding ordinary shares, and in consideration,
transferred all the ordinary shares of the Company
held by AAG Energy Limited to its shareholders in
proportion to their respective shareholding
percentage in AAG Energy Limited. The remaining
three ordinary shares of AAG Energy Limited was held
by Mr. Stephen Xiangdong Zou, Baring Private Equity
Asia IV Holding Limited and WP China CBM
Investment Holdings Limited, who are considered as
the controlling shareholders of the Group’s business
and each holds one ordinary share in AAG Energy
Limited.

LDINGS LIMITED / ANNUAL REPORT 2015
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BOF M I W R M EE

1. GENERAL INFORMATION, REORGANIZATION

AND BASIS OF PRESENTATION (Continued)

1.3 Basis of presentation
Immediately prior to and after the Reorganisation, the
Group's business is mainly conducted through AAGI and its
subsidiaries. Pursuant to the Reorganisation, the Group's
business were transferred to the Company. The Company
has not been involved in any other business prior to the
Reorganisation and do not meet the definition of a
business. The Reorganisation is merely a reorganisation of
the relevant business with no change in management of
such business and the ultimate controlling shareholders of
the relevant business remain the same. Accordingly, the
financial statements of the companies now comprising the
Group is presented using the carrying values of the
business under AAGI and AAG Energy (China) Limited for
the year ended 31 December 2014, being the first year end
date after the reorganisation of AAGI and AAG Energy
(China) Limited.

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES

The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation of
these consolidated financial statements are set out below. These
policies have been consistently applied to all the years presented,
unless otherwise stated.

2.1 Basis of preparation
The consolidated financial statements of the Group have
been prepared in accordance with all applicable Hong
Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRS"). The
consolidated financial statements have been prepared
under the historical cost convention.

The preparation of the financial statements in conformity
with HKFRS requires the use of certain critical accounting
estimates. It also requires management to exercise its
judgement in the process of applying the Group's
accounting policies. The areas involving a higher degree of
judgement or complexity, or areas where assumptions and
estimates are significant to the consolidated financial
statements are disclosed in Note 4.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BOF M I W R M EE

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)
2.1 Basis of preparation (Continued)
Changes in accounting policy and disclosures

(a)

(b)

New and amended standards adopted by the Group

The following amendments to standards have been
adopted by the Group for the first time for the
financial year beginning on or after 1 January 2015:

Amendments from annual improvements to
HKFRS-2010-2012 Cycle, on HKFRS 8, ‘Operating
segments’, HKAS 16, ‘Property, plant and equipment’
and HKAS 38, ‘Intangible assets’ and HKAS 24,
‘Related party disclosures’.

Amendments from annual improvements to
HKFRS-2011-2013 Cycle, on HKFRS 13, ‘Fair value
measurement’.

The adoption of the improvements made in the 2010-
2012 Cycle has required additional disclosures in the
segment note. Other than that, the remaining
amendments are not material to the Group.

New Hong Kong Companies Ordinance (Cap.622)

In addition, the requirements of Part 9 “Accounts and
Audit” of the new Hong Kong Companies Ordinance
(Cap. 622) come into operation during the financial
year, as a result, there are changes to presentation
and disclosures of certain information in the
consolidated financial statements.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BOF M I W R M EE

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)
2.1 Basis of preparation (Continued)
Changes in accounting policy and disclosures (Continued)

(c)

New standards and interpretations not yet adopted

A number of new standards and amendments to
standards and interpretations are effective for annual
periods beginning after 1 January 2015 and have not
been applied in preparing these consolidated
financial statements. None of these is expected to
have a significant effect on the consolidated financial
statements of the Group, except the following set out
below:

HKFRS 9, ‘Financial instruments’, addresses the
classification, measurement and recognition of
financial assets and financial liabilities. The complete
version of HKFRS 9 was issued in July 2014. It replaces
the guidance in HKAS 39 that relates to the
classification and measurement of financial
instruments. HKFRS 9 retains but simplifies the mixed
measurement model and establishes three primary
measurement categories for financial assets:
amortised cost, fair value through OCI and fair value
through P&L. The basis of classification depends on
the entity’s business model and the contractual cash
flow characteristics of the financial asset. Investments
in equity instruments are required to be measured at
fair value through profit or loss with the irrevocable
option at inception to present changes in fair value in
OCl not recycling. There is now a new expected credit
losses model that replaces the incurred loss
impairment model used in HKAS 39. For financial
liabilities there were no changes to classification and
measurement except for the recognition of changes
in own credit risk in other comprehensive income, for
liabilities designated at fair value through profit or
loss. HKFRS 9 relaxes the requirements for hedge
effectiveness by replacing the bright line hedge
effectiveness tests. It requires an economic
relationship between the hedged item and hedging
instrument and for the 'hedged ratio’ to be the same
as the one management actually use for risk
management purposes.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BOF M I W R M EE

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2. FESHBRBE®

POLICIES (Continued)

2.1 Basis of preparation (Continued) 21 REBEEE)
Changes in accounting policy and disclosures (Continued) SHBERRBEESE (B)

(c)

New standards and interpretations not yet adopted
(Continued)

Contemporaneous documentation is still required but
is different to that currently prepared under HKAS 39.
The standard is effective for accounting periods
beginning on or after 1 January 2018. Early adoption
is permitted. The Group is yet to assess HKAS 9's full
impact.

HKFRS 15, ‘Revenue from contracts with customers’
deals with revenue recognition and establishes
principles for reporting useful information to users of
financial statements about the nature, amount, timing
and uncertainty of revenue and cash flows arising
from an entity’s contracts with customers. Revenue is
recognised when a customer obtains control of a
good or service and thus has the ability to direct the
use and obtain the benefits from the good or service.
The standard replaces HKAS 18 'Revenue’ and HKAS
11 "Construction contracts’ and related
interpretations. HKFRS 15 is effective for annual
periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018 and
earlier application is permitted. The Group is
assessing the impact of HKAS 15.

There are no other HKFRS or HK (IFRIC)
interpretations that are not yet effective that would be
expected to have a material impact on the Group.

2.2 Subsidiaries
A subsidiary is an entity (including a structured entity) over
which the Group has control. The Group controls an entity
when the Group is exposed to or has rights to variable
returns from its involvement with the entity and has the
ability to affect those returns through its power over the
entity. Subsidiaries are consolidated from the date on which
control is transferred to the Group. They are

deconsolidated from the date that control ceases.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BOF M I W R M EE

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2. FESHBRBE®

POLICIES (Continued)

2.2 Subsidiaries (Continued) 22 MIBAT(E)
Intra-group transactions, balances and unrealised gains on SEANRS EERQFRERZE
transactions between group companies are eliminated. EMESRERERNHEEREE
Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless the transaction o BERERIAEREEREE
provides evidence of an impairment of the transferred BRERE  AIREREETEE
asset. When necessary, amounts reported by subsidiaries 8o WER - FHKMEARIME®
have been adjusted to conform with the Group's TRIFLAR  UNEAEENS
accounting policies. SR ©

2.3 Production Sharing Contract 23 EmaHKER

The Group's exploration, development and production
activities are primarily conducted through PSCs which
establish joint control over the exploration, development
and production activities. Each participant is entitled to a
predetermined share of the related output and bears an
agreed share of the costs.

The consolidated financial statements reflects:
() The Group's assets used in joint operations;
(i) Any liabilities that the Group has incurred;

(iii) ~ Any income from the sale or use the Group's share of
the output of the production, together with its share
of any expenses incurred in the production; and

(iv)  Any expenses that the Group has incurred in respect
of its interest in the production.

The Group’'s PSCs comprise of three phases: the
exploration phase, development phase and production
phase. Costs incurred with respect to exploration activities
within the PSC contract areas are solely borne by the
Group. All costs incurred subsequent to the date of the
approval of ODP are treated as development costs and
provided by the Group and the PSC partners in the
proportion of their respective participating interests.
Operating costs incurred for the production operation shall
be borne by the Group and the PSC partners in proportion
to their share of the output of the CBM productions in each
concession.

TRERERBRAR

AEEWBR RBEREEZST
RRBEMOKERET  MEM
DA R H R FEREE
BB HFIEHIE - 52 REHE
BEAERESEREETNMNEYL
IR E R BB B

BB IRRIRAR -
() AKERRARRBNEE
(i) AKEELENEMAE

(i) HEXEAAKERGEE
ELEREAEA  EREE
EOEARNEETEENE
MER: &

vy AEEREEmRERELN
ERER -

AEEHERD KA F 217 = @k
B BhERBEER - RBPEBR R AEER
B o SLEMD KA RE AN ERE
BELNKRAZ BB AREAE -
FRRBRE T R E B BRPTEL
HY 2 BB A AR A R B A AN I R AN S
BREMDOKEREGIEEHIZES
B2 EERLPIAE - £ ESE
FE A A 48 P 7D T el A R B R E
DRERAEBHRERE SR
B B B SR R EE BB L B A o




Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BOF M I W R M EE

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2. FESHBXBE®)
POLICIES (Continued)

2.3 Production Sharing Contract (Continued) 23 EmaHER &)
Pursuant to the Panzhuang and Mabi PSCs, the annual RIBEERSVERDKAR @ &
gross production of CBM, after payment of value-added tax [BRAEFESKSHIBIEER ([EBE
("VAT") and royalties, is allocated into Cost Recovery CBM BMOMERFEREE >EEZERMD
and Remainder CBM. WREERRER ©
(a) Cost Recovery CBM (a) BABKKE

Cost Recovery CBM is the CBM allocated to the ERDNKRAESPETAEE

Group and the PSC partners for recovery of the RERDKE R & ERIA

operating costs, as well as the exploration costs and W [B] 48 &2 Rl R~ HH IR B AR K

development costs. 80% and 70% of annual gross AEXNAHEER - EHER

production of CBM is deemed as Cost Recovery CBM BUEMDKERIET D5
under the Panzhuang and Mabi PSC, respectively. B 80% K 70% M) B [ & 42 &

Cost Recovery CBM is allocated until all costs incurred EEREERALDKR - B A

by each party have been fully recovered. Cost B RESDEEZTNES

Recovery CBM is allocated as follows: EEHNEIKAE 28K E

A 1E - B A E YR E 2 B0
-

(i)  Prior to the production phase, Cost Recovery () REEREERR &AM
CBM s firstly applied to recover costs incurred R s e AR E E @
during the exploration phase of the PSC and DA BMERERESE
once such costs have been fully recovered, Cost HIRRA - —B BB
Recovery CBM is allocated to recover costs 2EE - BAEKE
incurred during the development phase. B =R ESE

BB ©

(i) After the PSC enters the production phase, Cost (i) REROKEREAE
Recovery CBM is allocated according to the EMEERE - BERABKSE
following mechanism: RIBEA T 5 B
—  Operating cost recovery: payment in kind — R U [E

for the operating costs actually incurred EREELEESR

but not yet recovered by each party. 73 15 AR Y [a] By £
ERANEY X
fit o
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BOF M I W R M EE

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)
2.3 Production Sharing Contract (Continued)

(a)

(b)

Cost Recovery CBM (Continued)
(i)  (Continued)

— Exploration and development cost
recovery: after operating costs have been
fully recovered, the Cost Recovery CBM is
allocated to the Group and the PSC
partners for the recovery of exploration
and development costs. Exploration costs,
100% of which are borne by the Group,
are fully recovered before development
costs can be recovered. Upon the full
recovery of exploration costs, any
remaining Cost Recovery CBM is allocated
between the Group and the PSC partners
for the recovery of development costs
according to the respective participating
interests in the CBM concessions.

For the purpose of recovery, exploration
costs do not include any interest, while
development costs include a deemed
interest calculated at a fixed compound
interest rate of 9% per annum.

Remainder CBM

Remainder CBM represents the remainder annual
gross CBM production after payment of VAT, royalties
and allocation to Cost Recovery CBM.

The Remainder CBM is further divided into allocable
remainder CBM and share CBM. The allocable
remainder CBM equals to the total remainder CBM
multiplied by a factor (X) and the share CBM equals
the Remainder CBM minus the allocable remainder
CBM. The factor (X) is determined in accordance with
a set of successive incremental tiers on the basis of
the annual gross CBM production as set out in the
PSCs. The allocable remainder CBM is allocated
between the Group and the PSC partner according to
the respective participating interest in the PSC. Share
CBM is allocated 100% to the PSC partner.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BOF M I W R M EE

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)
2.4 Segment reporting

Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent

2.5

with the internal reporting provided to the chief operating

decision-maker. The chief operating decision-maker, who is

responsible for allocating resources and assessing

performance of the operating segments, has been

identified as the directors and chief executives of the
Company.

Foreign currency translation

(a)

(b)

Functional and presentation currency

Items included in the financial statements of each of
the Group's entities are measured using the currency
of primary economic environment in which the entity
operates (the “functional currency”). The functional
currency of the Company is US$, whereas the
functional currency of the production sharing projects
in the PRC is RMB. The consolidated financial
statements are presented in RMB.

Transactions and balances

Foreign currency transactions are translated into the
functional currency using the exchange rates
prevailing at the dates of the transactions or valuation
where items are remeasured. Foreign exchange gains
and losses resulting from the settlement of such
transactions and from the translation at year-end
exchange rates of monetary assets and liabilities
denominated in foreign currencies are recognised in
the consolidated statements of comprehensive
income.

Foreign exchange gains and losses that relate to
shareholder loans and cash and cash equivalents are
presented in the consolidated statements of
comprehensive income within “exchange gains/
losses”. All other foreign exchange gains and losses
are presented in the consolidated statements of
comprehensive income within “other gains”.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BOF M I W R M EE

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.5 Foreign currency translation (Continued)

(c)

(d)

Group companies

The results and financial positions of all the group
entities (none of which has the currency of a hyper-
inflationary economy) that have a functional currency
different from the presentation currency are translated
into the presentation currency as follows:

()  assets and liabilities for each balance sheet
presented are translated at the closing rate at
the date of that balance sheet;

(i)  income and expenses for each statement of
comprehensive income are translated at
average exchange rates (unless this average is
not a reasonable approximation of the
cumulative effect of the rates prevailing on the
transaction dates, in which case income and
expenses are translated at the rate on the dates
of the transactions); and

(i) all resulting currency translation differences are
recognised in other comprehensive income.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on the
acquisition of a foreign entity are treated as assets
and liabilities of the foreign entity and translated at
the closing rate. Currency translation differences
arising are recognised in other comprehensive
income.

Disposal of foreign operation and partial disposal
On the disposal of a foreign operation (that is, a
disposal of the Group's entire interest in a foreign
operation, or a disposal involving loss of control over
a subsidiary that includes a foreign operation, a
disposal involving loss of joint control over a joint
operation that includes a foreign operation, all of the
currency translation differences accumulated in equity
in respect of that operation attributable to the owners
of the-Company are reclassified to the consolidated
statements of comprehensive income.

2. FESHBXBE®)
2.5 SEFE(E)

(c)

(d)
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BOF M I W R M EE

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2. FESHBXBE®)
POLICIES (Continued)

2.5 Foreign currency translation (Continued)

2.5 SEFE(E)

(d) Disposal of foreign operation and partial disposal

(Continued)

In the case of a partial disposal that does not result in
the Group losing control over a subsidiary that
includes a foreign operation, the proportionate share
of accumulated currency translation differences are
re-attributed to non-controlling interests and are not
recognised in profit or loss. For all other partial
disposals (that is, reductions in the Group's ownership
interest that do not result in the Group losing
significant influence or joint control), the
proportionate share of the accumulated exchange
difference is reclassified to profit or loss.

2.6 Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment, other than exploration and
evaluation assets and construction in progress, are stated at
historical cost less accumulated depreciation and
impairment. Historical cost includes expenditures that are
directly attributable to the acquisition of the items.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying
amount or recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate,
only when it is probable that future economic benefits
associated with the item will flow to the Group and the cost
of the item can be measured reliably. The carrying amount
of the replaced part is derecognised. All other repairs and
maintenance are charged in the consolidated statements of
comprehensive income during the financial period in which
they are incurred.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BOF M I W R M EE

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2. FESHBXBE®)
POLICIES (Continued)

2.6 Property, plant and equipment (Continued) 2.6 ¥ BMERRMEE)

Other than gas properties, depreciation of each asset is
calculated using the straight-line method to allocate its cost
less its residual value over its estimated useful life. The
estimated useful lives of property, plant and equipment are

BEE(RAREBERINITERE
AR BEAERED BE
A ERFEHAE - E  BER
RO AT AT ERAFHMT -

Estimated useful lives

fhet AT 62 A 5 58

as follows:
Gas gathering station S Rub
Vehicles B

Furniture, fittings and others KA + £ & K HA

The assets’ residual values and useful lives are reviewed,
and adjusted if appropriate, at each balance sheet date.

An asset’s carrying amount is written down immediately to
its recoverable amount if the asset’s carrying amount is
greater than its estimated recoverable amount.

Construction in progress represents development costs
occurred after the approval of ODP and the buildings,
machinery and equipment for which the construction work
has not been completed. It is carried at cost which includes
construction expenditures and other direct costs less any
impairment losses. Upon completion, the development
costs recorded in construction in progress are transferred
to gas properties. No depreciation is provided for
construction in progress until they are completed and
available for use.

Spare parts are accounted for as property, plant and
equipment when (a) they can be used only in connection
with an item of property, plant and equipment; or (b) the
Group expects to use them during more than one year.
Other spare parts are classified as inventory.

Gains and losses on disposals are determined by
comparing proceeds with the carrying amount and are
recognised within “other gains” in the consolidated
statements of comprehensive income.

TRERERBRAR

Shorter of remaining PSC period or 20 years

A& R IR F HAsk 20 FF (ARG & R 2E)
5 years

I

3 years

=%

BEMHNGEERAIERFERSEE
BETEZ AR (ER) -

FEEMEEERRAEGFSTRE S
7 BEMREE B E R ATk E

£H o

ERTREABREIRELECKRE
ERRBERARRZETERARTINE
FToHEMRE - EEIRERAAT
R RABREEERXREMERRA
BALAREEE - RE TR @ fTARER
TROMAERABERAREE - £12

T2 T RAFIEE ME Al AR 12
e -

BHERE@QERR—EYE  BERRE
E/A KO AREERKEREB—F
BOIEM R - B MRE - HfaEmitro
BRER -

BB B MR RIS SRR AR (B
MEBRBEIRAHEREKERMH
flo e zs | HERR o




Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BOF M I W R M EE

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2. FESHBXBE®)
POLICIES (Continued)

2.7 Exploration and evaluation assets 2.7 BERFIEEE
Exploration and evaluation expenditures mainly include BRRAERX FZRBKRERE
acquisition of rights to explore, topographical, geological, FE - B RV R ERAR A B R A BT Al
geochemical and geophysical studies, exploratory drilling, T REERTIEAEB MY - i
sampling and activities in relation to evaluating the B b R IR YIRS - A R
technical feasibility and commercial viability of extracting a % WiEEsmEn Y -

mineral resource.

During initial stage of a project, exploration and evaluation NBEEEVER  HEERTERX
expenditures are expensed as incurred. Expenditure on a RELERZE - THE EZDEE1T
project after it has reached a stage at which there is a high B ERZERBDELFESR
degree of confidence in its viability is capitalised as ETUERL - BIEBKEEENA
exploration and evaluation assets. If a project does not 17 EARZIE B AR FTA el Yl
prove viable, all irrecoverable expenditures associated with X NEMgEaliSRkPox -

the project are expensed in the consolidated statements of
comprehensive income.

Costs of exploratory wells are capitalised and evaluated for BIRHR AR EBIRTKE —FAT
economic viability within one year after completion of NBAME R EBELEAIATI o i
drilling. The related well costs are expensed as dry holes if BERE W ARI1T - HER K
it is determined that such economic viability is not attained. RVEBE X HFLARXES -
Exploration and evaluation assets are measured at cost less BRI ATE B 2 F A AN B el B 72
impairment provisions. Exploration and evaluation assets T E - BEREBEEZRIE
are reclassified to gas properties when the technical AT R E TR - B MET
feasibility and commercial viability of extracting a mineral BEEENH»HERAREE -

resource are demonstrable.

Exploration and evaluation assets are assessed for EFENEBERBRETHERENTE
impairment when facts and circumstances suggest that the BEMREENfBHETRD S
carrying amount of an exploration and evaluation asset may B BEMEMTEEEETTR
exceed its recoverable amount, and also tested for B TeEREREEFIEEXR
impairment immediately prior to reclassification to gas AREE ZAETRERR -
properties.
2.8 Gas properties 28 RAREE

Gas properties include drilling costs, exploration and AAREEVRBENLS - HIFER
evaluation costs, development costs and other direct costs FERA  EXARRKAREE
attributable to the gas production properties. Gas BERGNEMEERERAN - KAR
properties are depreciated based on the unit of production BERBESBMATIRNE - &
method. Unit of production rates are based on proved and SEMNE TN ERDNIRESEm
probable developed producing gas reserves estimated to DA FIIRITIER » IRBE LS
be recoverable from existing facilities based on the current ERBEENRARBEERER

terms of the respective PSC. MR B ET ATER B A E -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BOF M I W R M EE

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2.
POLICIES (Continued)

FESHBERBE®)

2.9 Land use rights 29 TfERARE
Land use rights represent upfront prepayments made for T AR L FERENEE
the land use rights and leasehold land and are expensed in T AAEMAR  BEHEERE
the consolidated statements of comprehensive income on HRNEAHEE W ERAEHE - o
a straight-line basis over the periods of the leases or when HIRRE - QRS PR ae kamkd
there is impairment, the impairment is expensed in the SCERRUE ©
consolidated statements of comprehensive income.

2.10Intangible assets 210EFEE

Intangible assets represent computer software. Acquired
computer software are capitalised on the basis of the costs
incurred to acquire and bring to use the specific software.
These costs are amortised over their estimated useful lives
ranging from 3 to 10 years.

2.11 Impairment of non-financial assets

Assets that are subject to depreciation or amortisation are
reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in
circumstances indicate that their carrying amount may not
be recoverable. An impairment loss is recognised for the
amount by which the asset’s carrying amount exceeds its
recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is the higher
of an asset’s fair value less costs to sell and value in use. For
the purposes of assessing impairment, assets are grouped
at the lowest levels for which there are separately
identifiable cash flows (cash-generating units). Non-financial
assets other than goodwill that suffered an impairment are
reviewed for possible reversal of the impairment at each
balance sheet date.

2.12 Inventories

Inventories are mainly spare parts and consumables with
low value and stated at the lower of cost and net realisable
value. Cost is determined using the weighted average cost
method. Net realisable value is the estimated selling price
in the ordinary course of business, less applicable variable
selling expenses.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BOF M I W R M EE

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2. FESHBXBE®)
POLICIES (Continued)

2.13 Trade and other receivables

2.13 EW AR & H fth FE UL R

Trade and other receivables are recognised initially at fair
value and subsequently measured at amortised cost using
the effective interest method, less provision for impairment.
A provision for impairment of trade and other receivables is
established when there is objective evidence that the
Group will not be able to collect all amounts due according
to the original terms of the receivables. Significant financial
difficulties of the debtor, probability that the debtor will
enter bankruptcy or financial reorganisation, and default or
delinquency in payments are considered indicators that the
receivable is impaired. The amount of the provision is the
difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the
present value of estimated future cash flows, discounted at
the original effective interest rate. The carrying amount of
the asset is reduced through the use of an allowance
account, and the amount of the loss is recognised in the
consolidated statements of comprehensive income. When
a receivable is uncollectible, it is written off against the
allowance account for receivables. Subsequent recoveries
of amounts previously written off are credited against
expenses in the consolidated statements of comprehensive
income.

2.14 Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents include cash on hand, deposits
held at call with banks and term deposits with original
maturities of three months or less.

2.15 Share capital

Ordinary shares are classified as equity.

Incremental costs directly attributable to the issuance of
new shares or options are shown in equity as a deduction,
net of tax, from the proceeds.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BOF M I W R M EE

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2. FESHBRBE®
POLICIES (Continued)
2.16 Borrowings 216 &K

Borrowings are recognised initially at fair value, net of
transaction costs incurred. Borrowings are subsequently
measured at amortised cost; any difference between
proceeds (net of transaction costs) and the redemption
value is recognised in the consolidated statements of
comprehensive income over the period of the borrowings
using the effective interest method.

Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the
Group has a contractual or an unconditional right to defer
settlement of the liability for at least 12 months after the
end of the reporting period.

2.17 Borrowing costs

General and specific borrowing costs directly attributable
to the acquisition, construction or production of qualifying
assets, which are assets that necessarily take a substantial
period of time to get ready for their intended use or sale,
are added to the cost of those assets, until such time as the
assets are substantially ready for their intended use or sale.

Investment income earned on the temporary investment of
specific borrowings pending their expenditure on qualifying
assets is deducted from the borrowing costs eligible for
capitalisation.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in the
consolidated statements of comprehensive income in the
period in which they are incurred.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BOF M I W R M EE

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2. FESHBXBE®)
POLICIES (Continued)

2.18 Trade payables 2.18 EFERRX

Trade payables are obligations to pay for goods or services
that have been acquired in the ordinary course of business
from suppliers. Trade payables are classified as current
liabilities if payment is due within one year or less (or in the
normal operating cycle of the business if longer). If not, they
are presented as non-current liabilities.

Trade payables are recognised initially at fair value and
subsequently measured at amortised cost using the
effective interest method.

2.19 Current and deferred income tax

The tax expense for the period comprises current and
deferred tax. Tax is recognised in the consolidated
statements of comprehensive income, except to the extent
that it relates to items recognised in other comprehensive
income or directly in equity. In this case the tax is also
recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in
equity, respectively.

(@) Current income tax

The current income tax charge is calculated on the
basis of the tax laws enacted or substantively enacted
at the balance sheet date in the countries where the
group companies operate and generate taxable
income. Management periodically evaluates positions
taken in tax returns with respect to situations in which
applicable tax regulation is subject to interpretation.
It establishes provisions where appropriate on the
basis of amounts expected to be paid to the tax
authorities.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BOF M I W R M EE

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.19 Current and deferred income tax (Continued)

(b)

Deferred income tax

Inside basis differences

Deferred income tax is recognised, using the liability
method, on temporary differences arising between
the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying
amounts in the consolidated financial statements.
However, deferred tax liabilities are not recognised if
they arise from the initial recognition of goodwill, the
deferred income tax is not accounted for if it arises
from initial recognition of an asset or liability in a
transaction other than a business combination that at
the time of the transaction affects neither accounting
nor taxable profit or loss. Deferred income tax is
determined using tax rates (and laws) that have been
enacted or substantively enacted by the balance
sheet date and are expected to apply when the
related deferred income tax asset is realised or the
deferred income tax liability is settled.

Deferred income tax assets are recognised only to the
extent that it is probable that future taxable profit will
be available against which the temporary differences
can be utilised.

Outside basis differences

Deferred income tax liabilities are provided on
taxable temporary differences arising from
investments in subsidiaries and joint arrangements,
except for deferred income tax liability where the
timing of the reversal of the temporary difference is
controlled by the Group and it is probable that the
temporary difference will not reverse in the
foreseeable future.

Deferred income tax assets are recognised on
deductible temporary differences arising from
investments in subsidiaries and joint arrangements
only to the extent that it is probable the temporary
difference will reverse in the future and there is
sufficient taxable profit available against which the
temporary difference can be utilised.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BOF M I W R M EE

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2. FESHBXBE®)
POLICIES (Continued)

2.19 Current and deferred income tax (Continued)

2.19 BN RS 1S 8L (48)

(c) Offsetting

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are offset
when there is a legally enforceable right to offset
current tax assets against current tax liabilities and
when the deferred income tax assets and liabilities
relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation
authority on either the taxable entity or different
taxable entities where there is an intention to settle
the balances on a net basis.

2.20 Employee benefits

The Group operates various pension schemes. The schemes
are generally funded through payments to insurance
companies or various government-sponsored pension plans
under which the employees are entitled to a monthly
pension based on certain formulas. The Group has defined
contribution plans. A defined contribution plan is a pension
plan which the Group pays contributions into a separate
entity. The Group has no legal or constructive obligations
to pay further contributions if the fund does not hold
sufficient assets to pay all employees the benefits relating
to employee service in the current and prior periods. The
contributions are recognised and allocated to related cost
of assets and expenses based on different beneficiaries.

All Chinese employees of the Group participate in other
employee social security plans, including medical, housing
and other welfare benefits, organised and administered by
the governmental authorities. According to the relevant
regulations, the premiums and welfare benefit contributions
that should be borne by the Group are calculated based on
percentages of the total salary of employees, subject to a
certain ceiling, and are paid to the labor and social welfare

authorities.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BOF M I W R M EE

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2. FESHBXBE®)
POLICIES (Continued)

2.21 Revenue recognition

2.21 WA TR

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration
received or receivable, and represents amounts receivable
for goods supplied, stated net of discounts and VAT.

The Group recognises revenue when the amount of
revenue can be reliably measured, when it is probable that
future economic benefits will flow to the Group and when
specific criteria have been met for each of the Group's
activities as described below. The amount of revenue is not
considered to be reliably measurable until all contingencies
relating to the sale have been resolved. The Group bases
its estimates on historical results, taking into consideration
the type of customer, the type of transaction and the
specifics of each arrangement.

Sales of gas

The Group produces and sells gas. Sales of gas are
recognised when the gas is delivered to the customers. The
amount of revenue to be received by the Group is allocated
based on the terms of the PSCs (Note 2.3).

2.22 Government grants

Grants from the government are recognised at their fair
value where there is reasonable assurance that the grant
will be received and the Group will comply with all attached
conditions.

Government grants that are receivable as compensation for
expenses or losses already incurred with no future related
costs, such as refund of valued added tax paid and
subsidies granted according to CBM production, are
recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they
become receivable.

2.23 Lease

Leases in which a significant portion of the risks and rewards
of ownership are retained by the lessor are classified as
operating leases. Payments made under operating leases
(net.of any incentives received from the lessor), are charged
to the consolidated statements of comprehensive income
on a straight-line basis over the period of the lease.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BOF M I W R M EE

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.24 Share-based compensation

(a)

Equity-settled share-based payment transactions

The Group operates a number of equity-settled,
share-based compensation plans, under which the
entity receives services from employees as
consideration for equity instruments (options) of the
Group. The fair value of the employee services
received in exchange for the grant of the options is
recognised as an expense. The total amount to be
expensed is determined by reference to the fair value
of the options granted:

° including any market performance conditions
(for example, an entity's share price);

o excluding the impact of any service and non-
market performance vesting conditions (for
example, profitability, sales growth targets and
remaining an employee of the entity over a
specified time period); and

o including the impact of any non-vesting
conditions(for example, the requirement for
employees to save or holding shares for a
specified period of time).

Non-market performance and service conditions are
included in assumptions about the number of options
that are expected to vest. The total expense is
recognised over the vesting period, which is the
period over which all of the specified vesting
conditions are to be satisfied. At the end of each
reporting period, the Group revises its estimates of
the number of options that are expected to vest
based on the non-marketing performance and service
conditions. It recognises the impact of the revision to
original estimates, if any, in the consolidated
statements of comprehensive income, with a
corresponding adjustment to equity.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BOF M I W R M EE

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.24 Share-based compensation (Continued)

(a)

(b)

Equity-settled share-based payment transactions
(Continued)

When the options are exercised, the Company issues
new shares. The proceeds received net of any directly
attributable transaction costs are credited to share
capital (and share premium).

If the terms of an equity-settled award are modified,
at a minimum an expense is recognised as if the terms
had not been modified. An additional expense is
recognised for any modification that increases the
total fair value of the share-based payment
arrangement, or is otherwise beneficial to the
employee, as measured at the date of modification.

Share-based payment transactions among group
entities

The grant by the parent company of options over its
equity instruments to the employees of subsidiary
undertakings in the Group is treated as a capital
contribution. The fair value of employee services
received, measured by reference to the grant date fair
value, is recognised over the vesting period as an
increase to investment in subsidiary undertakings,
with a corresponding credit to equity in the parent
company entity accounts.

2.25 Interest income
Interest income is recognised using the effective interest
method.

2.26 Provision-Asset retirement obligation
Asset retirement obligation for environmental restoration is

recognised when: the Group has a present constructive

obligation as a result of past events; it is probable that an

outflow of resources will be required to settle the

obligation; and the amount has been reliably estimated.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BOF M I W R M EE

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.26 Provision-Asset retirement obligation (Continued)

2. FESHBXBE®)
226 B —EEREEK (B)

Where there are a number of similar obligations, the
likelihood that an outflow will be required in settlement is
determined by considering the class of obligations as a
whole. Asset retirement obligation is recognised even if the
likelihood of an outflow with respect to any one item
included in the same class of obligations may be small.

Asset retirement obligation are measured at the present
value of the expenditures expected to be required to settle
the obligation using a pre-tax rate that reflects current
market assessments of the time value of money and the
risks specific to the obligation. The increase in the provision
due to passage of time is recognised as interest expense.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
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3. ¥ERER

3.1 Financial risk factors 31 PBEBEE
The Group's activities expose it to a variety of financial risks: NES B WAL E B E R S 18 B TS R

credit risk, market risk (including foreign exchange risk and
cash flow interest rate risk), liquidity risk and concentration
risk. The Group's overall risk management programme
focuses on the unpredictability of financial markets and
seeks to minimise potential adverse effects on the Group's
financial performance.

(a) Credit risk

As the majority of the cash at bank balances are
placed with state-owned and international banks and
financial institutions in the PRC and Hong Kong, and
there has been no recent history of default in relation
to these banks and financial institutions, the
corresponding credit risk is relatively low. Therefore,
the Group's credit risk arises primarily from trade and
other receivables. The Group has controls in place to
assess the credit quality of its customers. The Group
has concentration risk on trade receivables. Only
limited allowance for uncollectible receivables were
made in the past as the Group's sales were only made
to the customers with good credit history. The
utilisation of credit limits is regularly monitored.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BOF M I W R M EE

3.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)
Market risk

(b)

(1)

(ii)

Foreign exchange risk

The Group is exposed to foreign exchange risk
arising from various currency exposures,
primarily with respect to US$. Foreign exchange
risk arises when future commercial transactions
or recognised assets or liabilities are
denominated in a currency other than the
entity’s functional currency.

Substantially all of the Group's exchange losses
arose from the non-cash foreign currency
translation losses from the US$ denominated
inter-company loan. The Group manages its
foreign exchange risk by closely monitoring the
movement of the foreign currency rates, and by
monitoring the amount of the US$ loan utilised
from the US$250 million revolving credit facility
(Note 15), which is the Group's only US$
borrowings from third parties.

As at 31 December 2015, if RMB had weakened/
strengthened by 1% against the US$ with all
other variables held constant, profit before tax
for the year would have been RMB28,905,000 (31
December 2014: RMB7,318,000) lower/higher,
respectively, mainly as a result of foreign
exchange gains/losses on translation of US$
denominated payables held by the Group
entities with their functional currency as RMB.

Cash flow interest rate risk

The Group's income and operating cash flows
are substantially independent of the changes in
market rates. The Group's floating-rate bank
borrowings expose the Group to cash flow
interest rate risk. A detailed analysis of the
Group's bank borrowings, together with their
respective interest rates and maturity dates are
included in Note 15.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BOF M I W R M EE

3. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued) 3. BREREE®
3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued) 3.1 BMBREREE(E)
(c) Liquidity risk () FEMHERME
The liquidity risk of the Group is mainly controlled by AEENRBERARFER
maintaining sufficient cash and cash equivalents BRKERBRFTELETR
through operations and funds from shareholders. The BHRe MR ZEWHET
table below analyses the Group’s financial liabilities rdll o TRBRAEENS
into relevant maturity groupings based on the R B E - ZRAEME HE
remaining period at the balance sheet date to the Al REAEERESRE
contractual maturity date. The amounts disclosed in AR FI R AR T AT ©
the table are the contractual undiscounted cash flows. TRAEESEARTEN

BRRERE -

Less than Over
1 year 1-2 years 2-5 years 5 years
PR—F —EMF MERF AENE

RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTE  ARETT AR®TT ARBTR

As at 31 December 2015 7420155128 31H

Trade payables FEfBR X 94,598 - - -

Accrued drilling costs and ~ JESHE R I
other expenses HMpx 262,731 = = —
Other payables HibERR 9,913 - - -
Borrowings fEm 20,160 20,160 63,796 460,160
387,402 20,160 63,796 460,160

As at 31 December 2014 12014512831 H

Trade payables B BRER 14,285 - - -

Accrued drilling costs and ~ JEETBIRAN A K
other expenses Hibfx 209,780 = - =
Other payables E b ER TR 6,822 = = =
Borrowings R 20,841 20,841 421,059 -
251,728 20,841 421,059 -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BOF M I W R M EE

3. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued) 3. BERERE@®
3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued) 3.1 MEERREZE(E)

(d) Concentration risk
Revenue of the Group is principally derived from
Panzhuang concession. Any disruption to the
operation of the concession may have a material
adverse impact to the result of operation and the
financial position of the Group.

During the year, all the Group's revenue was derived
from sales made to 7 customers. In the event that
these customers terminate their business relationship
with the Group and the Group fails to find new
customers, it may have a material adverse impact on
the Group's financial position and result of
operations.

3.2 Capital management

The Group's objectives when managing capital are to
safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern in order to provide returns for the shareholders
and benefits for other stakeholders and to maintain an
optimal capital structure to reduce the cost of capital.

The Group monitors capital by using debt-to-cash ratio
analysis. This ratio is calculated as amount of borrowings
divided by total cash and bank balances as shown in the
consolidated balance sheet, and monitoring when the
borrowings are due for repayment. The debt-to-cash ratio
at 31 December 2015 and 2014 was 16.3% and 32.9%,
respectively.

3.2
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BOF M I W R M EE

4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGEMENTS

Estimates and judgments are continually evaluated and are
based on historical experience and other factors, including
expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable
under the circumstances. The Group makes estimates and
assumptions concerning the future. The resulting accounting
estimates will, by definition, seldom equal the related actual
results. The estimates and assumptions that have a significant risk
of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of
assets and liabilities within the next financial year are discussed
below.

(a) Estimation of proved and probable gas reserves
Proved gas reserves are those quantities of CBM that by
analysis of geoscience and engineering data can be
estimated with reasonable certainty to be commercially
recoverable, from a given date forward and under defined
economic conditions, operating methods, and government
regulations. Probable gas reserves are those additional
reserves of CBM that analysis of geoscience and
engineering data indicate are less likely to be recovered
than proved reserves but more certain to be recovered than
possible reserves.

The Group's reserve estimates were prepared for each
concession area and include only CBM that the Group
believes can be reasonably produced within current
economic and operating conditions. Reserves cannot be
measured exactly. Reserve estimates are based on many
factors that require evaluation by the engineers interpreting
the available data, as well as price and other economic
factors. The reliability of these estimates at any point in
time depends on both the quality and quantity of the
technical and economic data, and the production
performance as well as engineering judgement.
Consequently, reserve estimates are subject to revision as
additional data become available. Well tests and
engineering studies will likely improve the reliability of the
reserve estimate. The evolution of technology may also
result in the application of improved recovery techniques
suchras supplemental or enhanced recovery projects, or
both, which have the potential to increase reserves beyond
those envisioned during the early years of a reservoir's
producing life.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BOF M I W R M EE

4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGEMENTS (Continued)

(a)

(b)

Estimation of proved and probable gas reserves
(Continued)

Proved and probable reserves are key elements in the
Group's investment decision-making process. They are also
an important element in testing for impairment. A reduction
in proved and probable reserves will increase depreciation
and amortisation charges (assuming constant production)
and reduce net profit. Proved and probable reserve
estimates are subject to revision, either upward or
downward based on new information, such as from
development drilling and production activities or from
changes in economic factors, including gas prices, contract
terms or development plans.

In general, changes in the technical maturity of gas reserves
resulting from new information becoming available from
exploration, development and production activities and
change in gas price have tended to be the most significant
cause of annual revisions.

Impairment of exploration and evaluation assets
Exploration and evaluation assets are capitalised on a field-
by-field basis and are assessed for impairment when
circumstances suggest that the carrying amount may
exceed its recoverable amount. This assessment involves
judgment as to (i) the period for which the entity has the
right to explore in the specific area has expired during the
period or will expire in the near future, and is not expected
to be renewed; and (i) substantive expenditure on further
exploration for and evaluation of mineral resources in the
specific area is neither budgeted nor planned; and (iii)
exploration for and evaluation of mineral resources in the
specific area have not led to the discovery of commercially
viable quantities of mineral resources and the entity has
decided to discontinue such activities in the specific area;
and (iv) sufficient data exist to indicate that, although a
development in the specific area is likely to proceed, the
carrying amount of the exploration and evaluation asset is
unlikely to be recovered in full from successful development
or by sale. While conducting an impairment review of its
assets, the Group makes certain judgments in making
assumptions about the future gas prices, reserves and
future development and production costs. Changes in
these estimates could require a material change on the
carrying amount of exploration and evaluation assets.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BOF M I W R M EE

4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGEMENTS (Continued)

(c)

(d)

(e)

Impairment of gas properties

Gas properties are reviewed for impairment whenever
events or changes in circumstances indicate that the
carrying amount may not be recoverable. An impairment
loss is recognised for the amount by which the asset’s
carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount. The
recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s fair value less
costs to sell or value in use. In estimating the recoverable
amounts of assets, various assumptions, including future
cash flow to be associated with the assets and discounted
rates, are made. If future events do not correspond to such
assumptions, the recoverable amounts will be revised and
this may have impacts on the Group's result of operation or
financial position.

Impairment of trade and other receivables

The Group’s management determines the provision for
impairment of trade and other receivables. This estimate is
based on the credit history of its customers and current
market conditions. Management reassesses the adequacy
of impairment provision on a regular basis by reviewing the
individual account based on past credit history and any
prior knowledge of debtor insolvency or other credit risk
which might not be public information or easily accessible
public information and market volatility that might bear a
significant impact but might not be easily ascertained.

Estimation of asset retirement obligation

Provisions are recognised for the future decommissioning
and restoration of gas properties. The amounts of the
provision recognised are the present values of the
estimated future expenditures that the Group is expected
to incur. The estimation of the future expenditures is based
on current local conditions and requirements, technology,
price level, etc. In addition to these factors, the present
values of these estimated future expenditures are also
impacted by the estimation of the economic lives of gas
properties. Changes in any of these estimates will impact
the operating result and the financial position of the Group
over the remaining economic lives of the gas properties.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BOF M I W R M EE

4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGEMENTS (Continued)

(f)

(9)

Income taxes and deferred tax

The Group is subject to income taxes in numerous
jurisdictions. Significant judgement is required in
determining the worldwide provision for income taxes.
There are certain transactions and calculations for which the
ultimate tax determination is uncertain during the ordinary
course of business. The Group recognises liabilities for
anticipated tax audit issues based on estimates of whether
additional taxes will be due. Where the final tax outcome of
these matters is different from the amounts that were
initially recorded, such differences will be reflected in the
income tax expense and deferred tax provisions in the
period in which such determination is made.

In addition, the realisation of future income tax assets is
dependent on the Group's ability to generate sufficient
taxable income in future years to utilise income tax benefits
and tax loss carry-forwards. Deviations of future profitability
from estimates or in the income tax rate would result in
adjustments to the value of future income tax assets and
liabilities that could have a significant effect on the income
tax expenses.

Fair value estimation

The measurement of fair value uses different level of inputs
to valuation technique. Such inputs are categorised into
three levels within a fair value hierarchy as follows:

° Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for
identical assets or liabilities (level 1).

o Inputs other than quoted prices included within level
1 that are observable for the asset or liability, either
directly (that is, as prices) or indirectly (that is, derived
from prices) (level 2).

J Inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on
observable market data (that is, unobservable inputs)
(level 3).
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SEGMENT INFORMATION

The chief operating decision-maker (“CODM") has been
identified as the directors and chief executives of the Company
who review the Group's internal reporting in order to assess
performance and allocate resources. The CODM has determined
the operating segments based on these reports.

The Group's operating segments are defined by PSCs, which is
the basis by which the CODM makes decisions about resources
to be allocated and assesses their performance. Consolidated
financial statements of the two PSCs have been separated to
present segment information to be reviewed by the CODM.

The measurement of results and assets of the operating
segments are the same as those described in the summary of
significant accounting policies. The CODM evaluates the
performance of the operating segments of the PSCs based on
profit before income tax, depreciation and amortisation, interest
income, finance costs and exchange losses (“EBITDA").
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BOF M I W R M EE

5. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued) 5. 7EHER &)
The segment information provided to the CODM for the BE2015F12A31AILFEE - giAl 2
reportable segments for the year ended 31 December 2015 is as WMAORBEFEELEARENDLE
follows: BT -
Panzhuang Mabi
concession concession Total
EREER BYXER #Et

RMB'0O00  RMB'000  RMB'000
ARETIT ARETT ARBTRT

For the year ended BZE2015F12A31ALFEE
31 December 2015
Revenue from external customers KRB INBE P HUA 536,655 = 536,655
EBITDA EBITDA 554,009 (43,313) 510,696
Other income E A 127,672 = 127,672
Operating expenses KR (241,557) (51,496)  (293,053)
Depreciation and amortisation PreE Ly (131,214) (8,370) (139,584)
Interest income FEWA 5,138 36 5,174
Finance costs BARERC AR (2,053) (51) (2,104)
Exchange losses (R i (62,832) (88,703)  (151,535)
Income tax expense TSR (108,656) = (108,656)
For the year ended BZ2014F12A831ALFEE
31 December 2014

Revenue from external customers KA R HIBA 425,895 = 425,895
EBITDA EBITDA 489,510 (32,709) 456,801

Other income Eablg A 151,197 = 151,197

Operating expenses TERT (186,080) (39,991) (226,071)
Depreciation and amortisation e R (98,487) (7,183) (105,670)
Provision of bad debt allowance AR (7,197) = (7,197)
Interest income F B A 1,740 1,046 2,786
Finance costs B TE AR AN (242) (48) (290)
Exchange losses FE 3 Es 8 (3,661) (760) (4,421)
Income tax expense FrERiE X (80,060) = (80,060)
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BOF M I W R M EE

5. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued) 5. 7HER @)
Panzhuang Mabi
concession concession Total

RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000
ARBTTE ARBTT ARBTT

As at 31 December 2015 M2015%12831H
Total assets 488 B 1,948,253 1,653,994 3,602,247
Additions to non-current assets ERBEERE
(other than deferred tax assets) CGREFRTBEERKRIN) 54,462 462,875 517,337
As at 31 December 2014 M2014%512H831H
Total assets a8 EE 1,590,489 1,233,194 2,823,683
Additions to non-current assets IEMBEEARE
(other than deferred tax assets) GREFIBEERIN) (7,426) 307,914 300,488
A reconciliation of EBITDA to total profit before income tax is EBITDA £ Bk P15 25 Al i A1 42 58 1Y 3 AR 40
provided as follows: T e
Year ended 31 December
BZ12A3MBLEE
2015 2014
2015 F 2014 5
RMB’'000 RMB'000
ARET T ARETIT
Total EBITDA for reportable segments T 2R £ 9 EBITDA 258 510,696 456,801
Headquarter overheads BRI A TR (138,769) (65,461)
Depreciation and amortisation PrE L (142,086) (107,772)
Interest income 2 U A 5,815 2,804
Finance costs EUp DN (29,126) (6,872)
Exchange losses b X B8 (154,813) (4,452)
Profit before income tax B TS5 B a1 51,717 275,048
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BOF M I W R M EE

5. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued) 5. 2HER @)
Reportable segments’ assets are reconciled to total assets as AIERDHBEELBLEELRNOT «
follows:

As at 31 December

R12A31H
2015 2014
2015 F 2014 F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥T T AREFTT
Total segment assets DEE EEEE 3,602,247 2,823,683
Unallocated Ko
Unallocated cash and cash equivalent ROBBEERIBSEEY 1,878,878 668,846
Others Hih 6,640 2,343

Total assets per balance sheet BEAGBKRMTAERSE 5,487,765 3,494,872
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BOF M I W R M EE

6. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 6. W% BMERRE
Exploration
and Gas Furniture,
Gas  evaluation  gathering Construction fittings and
properties assets station  in progress Vehicles others Total
BRR ES:R5
RAREE HEEE SR ERIE BH REf @

RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTE  ARBTT ARETE ARETRT ARMETE ARETRT ARET:R

At 1 January 2014 #2014%1518
Cost R 568,189 811,302 141,353 480,477 9,567 24,226 2,035,114
Accumulated depreciation ZEiME (171,749) = (16,632) = (5,655) (10,716) (204,752)
Net book value FEFE 396,440 811,302 124,721 480,477 3912 13,510 1,830,362
Year ended 31 December 2014 HE2014512R31ALEE
Opening net book value ENEERHE 396,440 811,302 124721 480,477 3912 13,510 1,830,362
Additions NE 246 203,099 - 193,442 4,800 4,291 405,878
Transferred in/(out) #BA/(4) 277,268 = 113,205 (390,473) = = =
Disposal — cost HE—KA - - - - 435) (675) (1,110
— depreciation —HE = = = = 435 675 1,110
Depreciation charge HEER (86,187 = (11,513) = (1,525) (7,505) (106,730)
Currency translation differences EHEEE 151 = = (400) = = (249)
Closing net book value ERREFE 587,918 1,014,401 226,413 283,046 7187 10,296 2,129,261
At 31 December 2014 R2014E128318
Cost R 845,861 1,014,401 254,557 283,046 13,932 27,842 2,439,639
Accumulated depreciation 278 (257,943) = (28,144) = (6,745) (17,546) (310,378)
Net book value FEFE 587,918 1,014,401 226,413 283,046 7187 10,296 2,129,261
Year ended 31 December 2015 BZ2015512831 ALLEE
Opening net book value FEEYE 918 1014400 26413 283046 7187 1029 212921
Additions ANE 344 429,090 542 201,508 1,131 13,729 646,344
Transferred in/(out) @A /(i) 59,192 = 52,128 (111,320) = = =
Disposal — cost HE — B = 221) = = = (825) (1,046)
— depreciation —HE - - - - - 790 790
Depreciation charge TEER (110,016) = (18,991) = (2,697) (8,530) (140,234)
Currency translation differences EENEEE 3,566 = = 1222 = 1 4799
Closing net book value FRRAFE 541,004 1,443.270 260,092 374,456 5,621 15471 2,639,914
At 31 December 2015 R2015%12 8318
Cost AR 910,378 1443270 307,227 374,456 15,063 40,761 3,091,155
Accumulated depreciation SEE (369,374) = (47,135) = (9,442 (25,290) (451,241)
Net book value REFE 541,004 1,443,270 260,092 374,456 5,621 15471 2,639,914
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BOF M I W R M EE

6. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 6.

(Continued)

During the year ended 31 December 2015, borrowing costs
capitalised in property, plant and equipment amounted to
RMB28,739,000 (2014: RMB25,466,000) (Note 21) at the weighted

average rate of 6.51% (2014: 6.89%) per annum.

During the year ended 31 December 2015, the additions of
property, plant and equipment include RMB1,397,000 (2014:
RMB366,000) relating to the asset retirement obligations

recognised during the year.

¥ -  BERRE®

HE2015F 12431 BILEE - R -
BMERSBEALELOEBRKAE A
A R #28,739,0007C (20144 : A R ¥
25,466,0007T) (ME21) - L ANkEFEHF
K 651% (2014 4F : 6.89%) 518 °

HZE205F12A3NBILEE -
B REBRAEBE AR 1,397,000
(20144 AR 366,0007T) » BAE A HE
RHEEEBEZEEM -

7. LAND USE RIGHTS 7. TR
RMB'000

ARETIT
At 1 January 2014 R20145F181H
Cost AR 14,099
Accumulated amortisation T (988)
Net book value BREFHE 13,111
Year ended 31 December 2014 BZ2014F12A31HLLEE
Opening net book value FHRREDFE 13,111
Amortisation charge BiHE R (282)
Closing net book value FAREREFE 12,829
As at 31 December 2014 A2014%F12831H
Cost (BN 14,099
Accumulated amortisation BT (1,270)
Net book value BREFE 12,829
Year ended 31 December 2015 BE2015F12A31HILEE
Opening net book value FHAREDFE 12,829
Amortisation charge BiHER (282)
Closing net book value FARREFE 12,547
As at 31 December 2015 M2015F12H31H
Cost AN 14,099
Accumulated amortisation Rt (1,552)
Net book value REFE 12,547

The Group’s interests in land use rights represent prepaid

operating lease payments. All of the Group's land use rights are
located in the PRC with remaining lease period of 10 to 50 years.
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BOF M I W R M EE

8. INTANGIBLE ASSETS 8. EEEE
Computer
software
EL S
RMB'000
AREEFIT
At 1 January 2014 Mn2014F1 818
Cost (BN 5,574
Accumulated amortisation RET I (2,282)
Net book value R FE 3,292
Year ended 31 December 2014 BZ2014F12A31HLLEE
Opening net book value FYEREFE 3,292
Additions INE 2,487
Amortisation charge BiHER (766)
Closing net book value FARREFE 5013
As at 31 December 2014 R2014%12H31H
Cost (D& 8,061
Accumulated amortisation R T8 (3,048)
Net book value BREDFE 5,013
Year ended 31 December 2015 BZ2015F12A31HILLEE
Opening net book value FHRREFE 5,013
Additions NE 11,582
Amortisation charge BiHER (1,570)
Closing net book value FARREFE 15,025
As at 31 December 2015 R2015F12H31H
Cost DN 19,651
Accumulated amortisation RETE (4,626)
Net book value AR E 15,025
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BOF M I W R M EE

9. DEFERRED INCOME TAX 9. ERIEFEBH
The analysis of deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities is FERIAE ERBEERIEEES AT
as follows:

As at 31 December

M12H31H
2015 2014
2015 F 20144
RMB’'000 RMB'000
AR¥T T ARETIT
Deferred tax assets: EEREEE :
— Deferred income tax assets to be — KR 1218 A R E BB EFTIS
recovered within 12 months BE 4,009 27,436
— Deferred income tax assets to be — B ERIE 12 18 A 12 Uk [al #Y IR T B
recovered after more than 12 months BREE 1,982 6,357
5,991 33,793
Deferred tax liabilities: EEFREAE :
— Deferred income tax liabilities to be — B 1218 A WU E /YR T
recovered within 12 months FriSti & E (82,149) (40,582)
Net balance ERFEE (76,158) (6,789)
All deferred income tax assets and liabilities are related to FBRLEMEHEEMLBELEETRE
Panzhuang concession, where the Group has legally enforceable WA ANEBE O OREFITTEER G
right to offset each other. Accordingly, it is presented on net EMAE IR - B AFREERZT) -
basis.
The gross movement on the deferred income tax account is as FIEFSTERE MBS EINT ¢
follows:
As at 31 December
M12H831H
2015 2014
2015 20144
RMB’'000 RMB’000
ARET T AREEFIT
Beginning of the year RED (6,789) 159
Charged to the consolidated statement W& (4R & WS R B
of comprehensive income (69,369) (6,948)
End of the year RER (76,158) (6,789)
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BOF M I W R M EE

9. DEFERRED INCOME TAX (Continued)

The movement in deferred income tax account is as follows:

9. RIEATIBH (&)
EREFTERIR B AEEIT

Income not
Depreciation  yet subject
and to tax and
amortisation others Total
BAEMTH
mER#HE WakEM st
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’'000
ARBFR ARBTFT AREBTFR
At 1 January 2014 MR2014F1 818 47,208 (47,049) 159
(Charged)/credited to the RE PHERE WK (k)
consolidated statement of SR (H5E22)
comprehensive income (Note 22) (20,423) 13,475 (6,948)
At 31 December 2014 M2014F12831H 26,785 (33,574) (6,789)
Charged to the consolidated NE fHm e RNk
statement of comprehensive (Bt 22)
income (Note 22) (23,487) (45,882) (69,369)
At 31 December 2015 M2015F12831H 3,298 (79,456) (76,158)

For the purpose of filing of PRC corporate income tax,
development expenditures incurred prior to commercial
production from tax perspective are tax deductible over a 8-year
period starting from the commencement date of commercial
production; exploration expenditures incurred prior to
commercial production from tax perspective except for those
qualified as production wells are tax deductible over a 3-year
period starting from the commencement date of commercial
production.

Deferred income tax expenses mainly relates to government
grants which comprise of government subsidies and VAT refunds
received by the Group, which will be taxable in specified future
periods according to relevant tax regulations and regional
authority.

As at 31 December 2015, the Group did not recognise deferred
income tax assets of RMB89,147,000 (2014: RMB54,168,000) in
respect of the accumulated losses which are related to Mabi
concession amounting to RMB356,585,000 (2014:
RMB216,672,000). Such losses are tax deductible over a 3-year
period starting from the commencement date of commercial
production. Due to the Mabi concession is still under exploration
stage, no deferred tax assets were recognised on these losses.
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BOF M I W R M EE

10. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 10. FEURBR TR % H fib BB WX
As at 31 December
R12H31H
2015 2014
2015 2014 5
RMB’'000 RMB’000
ARET T AREEFIT
Trade receivables JiE U BR X
— external customers — INERE 20,368 46,947
— CUCBM (Note (a)) — REEER (5T () 65,288 36,930
Notes receivable (Note (b)) FEUEETE (M FE (b)) 23,000 29,500
Government grants receivables (Note (c))  FEU BT B) (7 ()
— Government — B 77,873 86,770
— CUCBM — HPEEER 33,256 21,150
Due from CUCBM for cash calls (Note (d)) fEU A R B RIRSE 0 (FisE(d)) 17,296 14,566
Prepaid expenses, deposits and others BARAY ke REM 25,455 18,352
262,536 254,215
Less: provision for impairment B R E R (7,197) (7,197)
255,339 247,018
Note: BfsT -
(a) Trade receivables due from CUCBM represent the cash collected from (a) JE U e B T S 0 JE MR BR 2R B UK ER B AN R

external customers and deposited into CUCBM's bank account on behalf of
the Group, which is jointly managed by CUCBM and SAEI.

(b) Notes receivables are bank acceptances with maturity dates within six
months.

() This represents the VAT refund and government subsidies for CBM
receivable through CUCBM.

(d) This represents CUCBM's share of the cash calls for the development costs
of Panzhuang concession yet to be received from CUCBM.

P AT ERRETERA TR
BIRETBREERRRAREHRITES
B -

(b)  EREEH LI R ENERARARITE

(@  ULAE BT R R E SRR R E A ED
R RIRATHREED -

d ATHRERSEEEERFAEKANE
BER - AR A R RARER o
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BOF M I W R M EE

10. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (Continued) 10. FEUR AR H 2 R UK (49)

(1) Ageing analysis (1) BRERDHT
(i) Trade receivables — due from external customers iy EWER— ERINIRER

As at 31 December

®12A31H
2015 2014
2015 F 2014 4
RMB’'000 RMB'000
ARET T ARETIT
Within 3 months =@EAR 13,171 39,750
2 to 3 years ME=4%F - 5,719
Over 3 years =FAE 7,197 1,478
20,368 46,947
Provision B (7,197) (7,197)
13,171 39,750

As at 31 December

®12H31H
2015 2014
20155 20144
RMB’000 RMB'000
Past due but not impaired 2B {ERREE AR®T T AREFIT
Within 3 months =EAR 13,171 39,750
These relate to a number of independent customers FREBYBYESEAREH
for whom there is no significant financial difficulty and NZUBYIEP ERBE
based on past experience, the overdue amounts can % mERSEEA] T URE o
be recovered.
The trade receivables are due upon billing. FEURBE DN 5 B B {52k o
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BOF M I W R M EE

10. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (Continued) 10. YRR R H B (&)

(1) Ageing analysis (Continued) (1) RERDHF(E)
(ii) Trade receivables — due from CUCBM: (i) EBWERZH — BEWRAPEBERS
R
As at 31 December
M12HB31H
2015 2014
2015 20144
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR%T T ARET T
Within 3 months =EAR 65,288 36,930
(2) Movement of bad debt provision: (2) BIRBESE :

Year ended 31 December

BE12A31BLFE

2015 2014

20154 20144

RMB’'000 RMB’000

ARET T AREBTFT

Beginning of the year RE) 7,197 =

Addition 1% 40 = 7,197

End of the year NER 7,197 7,197
(3) Asof 31 December 2015, the carrying amounts of trade and (3) M2015%F12A318 ' BWERER K&
other receivables approximated their fair values. Hit RO REERE AR EE

BE -
(4) The carrying amounts of the Group's trade and other (4) 75 B IR 30 K H 4ih B IR
receivables (excluding prepayments) are denominated in (BRI FRIERRSN) BVBREEIA T3 E
the following currencies: BEETE -

As at 31 December
M12A31BLLEE

2015 2014

2015 % 20144

RMB’000 RMB'000

ARETR AREEFIT

RMB AR 240,494 246,732
HK$ BT 664 -
Us$ ESIH = 286
241,158 247,018

TRERERBRAR
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BOF M I W R M EE

11. CASH AND BANK BALANCES 1. RERBITERR
As at 31 December
R12A31H
2015 2014
2015 20144
RMB'000 RMB'000
ARET T ARBT T
Cash and cash equivalents ReERHACEEY
— Cash on hand — FERS 364 2,454
— Cash at banks — RITEXK 2,309,446 1,097,219
2,309,810 1,099,673
Term deposits with initial terms of A HAMR BB = 8 A M E BiTE 3K
over three months (Note (a)) (B 5E (a)) 246,000 =
Restricted bank deposits (Note (b)) 2R HIIRT T R (M 5E (b)) 8,033 =
2,563,843 1,099,673
(a) Asat 31 December 2015, term deposits with initial terms of (@) 20159128318 » ¥R HABR R
over three months were bank deposits bearing interest rate B=REANERFTRDENER
at 1.15% per annum, with a maturity of 180 days. 1.15% B A H8 180 KHERITF N °
(b) As at 31 December 2015, restricted bank deposits were (b) M2015F12831H » ZRHIRTT
land restoration deposits for Panzhuang concession. FRIVEREREA T HIBEFR -
() Cash and bank balances were denominated in the following (0 HEeRBITEBTIIRNTEEST
currencies: A :
As at 31 December
M12H31H
2015 2014
20155 20144
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR%T T AREFTT
RMB AR% 669,696 368,109
HK$ BT 1,642,595 -
us$ ET 251,552 731,564
2,563,843 1,099,673
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12. SHARE CAPITAL 12. B
Equivalent
Nominal value  nominal value
Number of of ordinary of ordinary
ordinary shares shares shares
ZEREE LEREE TERSEEE
Thousands US$'000 RMB’'000
T A& FET ARETT
Ordinary shares issued and EETRYEEHER
fully paid:
At 1 January 2015 R2015F1 818 835,079 84 511
Ordinary shares of SARM{E0.0001 E LA
US$0.0001 each AR
— Capitalisation Issue (i)(a) — BARMEET()(a) 1,458,375 146 891
— Issue of additional — BITRRIME ()(b)
shares (i) (b) 364,754 36 223
— Issue of shares of the IPO (i) — ZE1TE N AFHEE
AR5 (i) 666,161 67 407
— Exercise of share options (i) — 77 B IAE (ifi) 2,411 - 2
At 31 December 2015 M2015412831H 3,326,780 333 2,034
()  On 23 June 2015, immediately prior to the IPO, () M2015F6A23H BEBARXA
P &R
(@) the Company issued 1,458,375,107 shares for the (@) ARNBEERNLEITHIEIT
capitalisation issue with nominal value of US$0.0001 1,458,375,107 I% f& ™ &
each, equivalent to RMB891,000, to increase the share 0.0001ETTH D - HER
capital of the Company with a corresponding RN B B A I AR A R
deduction in capital surplus. 891,000 7T * 1M & 2N & 84 4H FE
W e
(b) 364,753,845 additional shares were issued by the by AARRIAEERFAFIEE
Company to its then parent company, AAG Energy g R B R A 7 1 %
Limited. The shares were issued with nominal value of 364,753,845 B f% 1 o = &%
US$0.0001 each, equivalent to RMB223,000, to M 180.0001 3£ T B 1T 0 AR 19
increase the share capital of the Company with a £ B A AN N B IR AN 38 0 i BR
corresponding deduction in capital surplus. AR®E223,0007C © MEARE
ERIE R o
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BOF M I W R M EE

12. SHARE CAPITAL (Continued) 12. BRAS (@)

(i) On 23 June 2015, the Company completed the IPO by (i) M2015F6H238 + ARQ AL
issuing 666,160,920 new shares with nominal value of f%3.007% & B B & % 17
US$0.0001 each at a price of HK$3.00 per share, through 666,160,920 1% & A% m {B0.0001 3=
which the Company’s share capital increased by THFIRODTRE TR AREE
approximately US$67,000 (equivalent to approximately RN BRI AIE N4 67,0003 7T (48
RMB407,000). ERH AR A407,0007T) °

(i) 2,411,325 share options were exercised during the year @iy FA 2,411,325 B HEETE
(Note 20(b)(ii)). (B =E 20(b)(ii)) ©

13. CAPITAL SURPLUS 13. EXRAELR

The capital surplus consist of share premium, share-based BERBBBREBRMDGE - ARDBER

compensation and currency translation differences. RN BT E =5 o

The net proceeds from the IPO, after deduction of listing BORA RS TS SR IEF 58 (H0RR IR R

expenses charged to equity, approximated HK$1,952,286,000 mH) ET &%) #/41,952,286,000 4 7T

(equivalent to approximately RMB1,539,248,000), which increased (FHERL AR 1,539,248,0007T) » A

the Company'’s share capital by approximately RMB407,000 (Note N A A IE A4 A R 407,000 7T (B 5

12(ii)) and share premium by approximately RMB1,538,841,000. 1200) R m B ma AR

1,538,841,000 7T, °

The listing expenses related to the IPO charged to share RRDEEPHREEE R AFEEN
premium were HK$46,207,000 (equivalent to approximately ETHX & 46,207,000 7T (FBER LA
RMB36,584,000). R ¥ 36,584,000 7T) °
14. ASSET RETIREMENT OBLIGATIONS 14. EEEZERK
As at 31 December
M12A31H
2015 2014
2015 2014 4F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥ET T ARETTT
Beginning of the year REF] 6,363 5,707
Provision B 1,655 366
Accretion expenses IEIGF 391 290
End of the year RER 8,409 6,363
The asset retirement obligations primarily represent the present BEEEEBRTIERERALRERRAR
value of the estimated future expenditures on decommissioning BEMNGEIRKRBE S IRME -

and restoration of gas properties.

LDINGS LIMITED / ANNUAL REPORT 2015



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BOF M I W R M EE

15. BORROWINGS

(i)

(i)

(iii)

At 31 December 2015, the Group’s borrowings were
repayable as follows:

15. &%

0]

MR2015F 12 A31H » KEEEE
EBRERET

As at 31 December

®12A31H
2015 2014
2015 20144
RMB’'000 RMB'000
AR®ET T AREEFIT
Between 2 and 5 years MERF = 362,280
Over 5 years AFELE 418,859 -
418,859 362,280
Annual interest rate F R K LIBOR LIBOR
MR 1T wERTT
BERFERE FREFEMNE
+4.15% +5.25%
Annual effective interest rate BERER R 6.51% 6.89%

As at 31 December 2015 and 2014, the Group's borrowings
were all denominated in US$, which were drawn down by
SAEI. On 8 July 2015, SAEI as borrower entered into an up
to US$250 million senior secured revolving credit facility
with AAGI as guarantor, and with AAGI’s shares in SAEI
mortgaged as security, for a term of 69 months with a final
maturity date of 31 March 2021 bearing interest at LIBOR
plus a margin of 4.15% for the first 4 years and 4.65% for the
remainder of the facility.

The Group has the following undrawn borrowing facilities:

R20155% K 201412 A31H * &
EBEMERIIUAETE  HER
FERARIIREN - 201547 A8H -
ERERARERERAG RS
250EEETHELEFRIBERGE
EmME  mhnEAEEERIESE
RSP S PR RER 2 BIAR (5 1EIK
- BEAHOMEA - HKREHA
B2021F3A31H &5 UERF
B BR TR EHFE F =
415% F 58 - FspFEHFE
% fm BUERTT R 4718 F 2 1N 4.65%
FIRETH o

AEBBLATREBRERRE

As at 31 December

M®12H31H
2015 2014
2015 20144
US$'000 US$'000
FER F=ET
Expiring beyond 1 year —F LA 35 180,000 38,000

As at 31 December 2015, the fair value of borrowings
approximated to RMB419 million (2014: RMB362 million).
The fair value is within level 2 hierarchy (Note 4(g)).

(iii)

TRERERBRAR

R2015€ 128318 - Xz 2R
BELOHBAREAL419E & L2014
& AREE32EETT) © %A
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16. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

16. BSERA R EMERR

As at 31 December

R12A31H
2015 2014
20154 2014
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®BT T ARETT
Trade payables JEABR R 94,598 14,285
Accrued drilling costs and other expenses JEFTE R AN 2 H b BT
— Related parities — [
— CUCBM — B EER 1,000 3,755
— PetroChina Company Limited — FREEHRAZKROER
INTE 8,183 8,324
— Meiya — %0 - 80
— Others — Hih 253,548 197,621
Social securities and other payables FEAR R H A FE T SR 33,124 19,262
390,453 243,327
(i)  The ageing analysis of trade payables were as follows: (i) FERERAERRSTAT :
As at 31 December
M®12H31H
2015 2014
2015 % 20144
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBT T ARETT
Within 6 months NEAR 89,849 13,374
6 months to 1 year NEBRE—% 3,462 585
1to 2 years —EMF 1,231 325
2 to 3 years ME=4F 56 1
94,598 14,285

(i) Asat 31 December 2015, the carrying amounts of trade and
other payables approximated their fair values.
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BOF M I W R M EE

16. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES (Continued) 16. BRI R H M B R (50
(i) The carrying amounts of the Group's trade and other (i) 252 B B0 FE A5 BR 0 B ELAth e A< SR Y
payables are denominated in the following currencies: BREE T E%EE :

As at 31 December
MR12A31HLEEE

2015 2014
2015 % 20144
RMB’'000 RMB’000
AR®T T ARETTT
RMB ARE 371,518 242,526
HK$ BIT 71 =
us$ e 18,864 801
390,453 243,327
17. REVENUE 17. LA
For the years ended 31 December 2015 and 2014, all the Group's BHZE2015F K 2014F 12 A3 HIEFE -
revenue is derived from the sale of the Group’s share of CBM AREBFAEWREKREARAEEMLERE
sold to customers in the PRC. REPEEPHIHENS o
18. OTHER INCOME 18. HAl A
Year ended 31 December
BZE12A3MBLEE
2015 2014
20154 20144
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET ARBT T
VAT refund (i) BEF R () 58,864 95,117
Government subsidy (ii) BT A B (i) 68,808 56,080
127,672 151,197
()  The VAT refund is granted by the PRC government () EHZER2014%F k2015912 A318 1k
according to “The Notice on Tax Policy Issued by The FE - BEKRE P EBFRE
Ministry of Finance and The State Administration of (BRI B RSB DR IR E
Taxation on Speeding Up The Drainage of Coal Bed JE R R A B A IR R T RE B 5B
Methane” (B B0 B 2R 354 745 48 3 B A DN IR KR 2 SR R B I8 A o B EE R AR TR0
Tt UL R 2R ] BB B9 3B &0 ) for the years ended 31 December FHREERER - NEBBRER
2014 and 2015. CUCBM applies for the VAT refund for SEEEAERERNE & IRRE
Panzhuang concession. The Group recognises its Z e R EEERAE A
entitlement based on the Group's share of CBM sold and ol

when there is reasonable assurance that the amount will be
received.

TRERERBRAR
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BOF M I W R M EE

18. OTHER INCOME (Continued) 18. HW A (&)

(i) The subsidy is granted by the PRC government according (i) HE2014F K2015F 1243181k
to “The Implementation Opinions of Subsidies Granted by FE - B BB RECHT K
The Ministry of Finance on The Development and Utilisation RN E R (FLHT) F 2 F) B 45 8h
of Coalbed Methane” (<B4 BB AR B [E S (FLHRT) 79 35 F1 A MERERRL - 2BEMEE
AN E B E R )) at RMBO.2 per cubic meter of the CBM HEREN TRAREC2TTAE -
sold for the years ended 31 December 2014 and 2015. R E R BRI R B o
CUCBM applies for the subsidy for Panzhuang concession. AEBERBEASBE(EMERE
The Group recognises its entitlement based on the Group's RNBABREZD R A U @
share of CBM sold and when there is reasonable assurance REMEENESERE -

that the amount will be received.

19. PROFIT BEFORE INCOME TAX 19. BRFTEB AR F
Profit before income tax was determined after charging the M TS F Al e B Th &8 F1B: NI 31818
following: E

Year ended 31 December

BZE12A31BLFE

2015 2014

20155 20144

RMB'000 RMB’000

ARET T ARBTT

Auditors’ remunerations — The Company 1z BiEM & — 2N A 7 3,300 =
Listing expenses Fmkx 28,273 4,720
Operating lease rental expenses KEHERY 10,205 5,449

20. EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSES

Year ended 31 December

BZE12A31BLFE

2015 2014
2015 % 20144
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBT ARETTT

Wages and salaries ITERF® 92,603 54,119
Welfare and other benefits (a) B K E A FZS (a) 17,857 13,580
Share-based compensation (b) LA R A7 7 EE 7 9 57 B (b) 44,702 34,469

155,162 102,168
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20. EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSES (Continued) 20. EERAIBZ (#)

(a) Welfare and other benefits mainly include the (a) EFREMAMZEIEZGEFEUT
followings: &I :
Housing benefits include the Group’s contributions to FEMBEAEEZHEESH
government-sponsored housing funds at rates ranging from EHI0%E12% LR (BT ET
10% to 12% of the Chinese employees’ salaries, subject to ERBAR) ABNENEEES
certain ceilings. TEL ALK
Contributions to pension plans are defined contribution BARSHEEFIERZTBEEES ©
pension plans organised by the municipal and provincial B 20% b & (B A T ERRR) M
governments at a rate of 20% of the Chinese employees’ TREABRFAERENEEHIGERRS
salaries, subject to certain ceilings. SFEIEHAHER -

(b) Share-based compensation (b) BB AHEREAEEAN

(i) 2012 Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme

The “2012 Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme” refers to
the pre-IPO share option scheme adopted by the
board of directors of AAG Energy Limited on 15 June
2012 which was modified in October 2014 and
replaced on 31 March 2015. The vesting conditions of
the unvested share options under the 2012 Pre-IPO
Share Option Scheme before being replaced on 31
March 2015 were: (a) 50% shall vest at the rate of one
third of each 12-month period commencing from the
earlier of employment commencement date of the
optionee or 1 January 2014, and (b) 50% shall vest
upon achievement of KPI-linked non-market
conditions and are divided into three equal
installments with each vested at the rate of one third
of each 12-month period commencing from the
earlier of employment commencement date of the
optionee or 1 January 2014.

TRERERBRAR

(i) 2012FEXRAHBEANBER
s El
(2012 F &R AR E AT
TRl R RAR A A
ZEEZEN2012F6 A 158
M E R A F R E R B AR
sHE - wR 2014510 A EE
15T R2015% 3 A31 8
B o 201593 A 31 H #%
U BT - 20124F B OR A B 3
ERERETEIETHARS
EERENEBIEGA:
(2)50% i B IR R B A 2
BfER A B HAzk 201441 B 1
B(UAREEA%E) BFHRET
BEME 2@ A BEE=S2
— LI K (b)50%#8 RA
ERNRAREEEEAEET
GgEERRE Yo A=%
D BHBEBREFRBEAZ
BIER A HHIzk20144F 1 B 1
HAREE A% BFARET
EME12@ABEE=22
— L pIERE o
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20. EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSES (Continued) 20. EERABAXZ @)
(b) Share-based compensation (Continued) (b) UURMGAERMOTEM(E)
(i) 2012 Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme (Continued) (i) 2012FEXRAMBENBER
REETEI(E)
Movements in the number of share options MATTEEREZE RHEA
outstanding and their related weighted average BT EE R E e
exercise prices are as follows: N
Exercise price Number of
in US$ per  share options
share (thousands)
BRITEE BREHE
(%25t) (F1)
As at 1 January 2015 201551 A1 8 0.6 51,570
Granted (28 January 2015) BEEE (201541 H8288) 0.6 3,800
Granted (24 March 2015) EXH(2015F3 24 8) 0.6 800
Forfeited S 0.6 (100)
Replaced (31 March 2015) BB (20153 A318)
(Note 20(b)(ii)) (MF3E 20(b)(ii)) 0.6 (56,070)
As at 31 December 2015 ®2015%12H31H -
The fair values of the options granted during the year RERK BB RENA D
were determined using the Binomial Option Pricing BEMEA_EAAEEE
Model. The key assumptions and parameters used in BAEBTE RFEARDE
the pricing model for options granted during the year BENEEREXNERNEE
are shown below: BER2HIT :

Option granted
on 28 January

2015 and 24

March 2015

#2015

1A28H

Z£2015%F

3H24H

B ERE

Share price as of the valuation date (US$) PMEEBREE (ET) 0.777-1.165
Expected dividend yield TEHARR B e -
Maturity years DI HAE & 3.8-60
Risk free rate CEN R 1.01%-1.53%
Annualised volatility FE(LRE R 43%-48%
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20. EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSES (Continued) 20. EERAIBZ (#)

(b) Share-based compensation (Continued) (b) UURMGAERMOTEM(E)
(i) 2015 Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme (i) 2015FBEXRAMBENBER
T E
On 31 March 2015, the 2012 Pre-IPO Share Option R2015FE3 A31H 20124
Scheme was replaced by the options granted to same BRAREE R ERETE
optionees under the 2015 Pre-IPO Share Option WIRIE2015F 5 IR AHEE
Scheme. The 2015 Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme A B8 P 5 2R T 48 [R) B AR
changed the granter of the options from AAG Energy A ANNERERE R -
Limited to the Company. The vesting conditions of 2015 B IR A& BB AR
the unvested options under the 2015 Pre-IPO Share T EIG R Y AR
Option Scheme is (a) 50% shall vest at the rate of one ERRBRARATE AARAN
half for each 12-month period commencing from 1 Al ° 2015 B IR A F & A
January 2015 if the relevant employment date is on or BREEET 2 RAERB
prior to 1 January 2014; or one third for each BB 2 57 B 1R 1 3 (2)50%
12-month period commencing from the relevant % (fis 48 8 {2 18 B 8 % 2014
employment date if such date is after 1 January 2014 F1RA1B3 A B2015%F
(b) 50% shall vest upon achievement of KPI-linked 1A 1BEERBFTENS12(E
non-market conditions and are divided into three AEIMIE — 5D 2 — Ll &%
equal installments with each vested at the rate of one B - k(WA R B A AR 2014
half for each 12-month period commencing from 1 F1H18 Z?ﬁ) B H &%
January 2015 if the relevant employment date is on or HHRGRTENT 128 A 5
prior to 1 January 2014; or one third for each BiR=n2—LtphlEEBE Kk
12-month period commencing from the relevant (b)50% % P2 2 ik 88§t S 45 45
employment date if such date is after 1 January 2014. EEMAET SRR E
WHR=FH - Tt (WA
E®B HR2014F1A1H
sk Z A1) B2015F1 A1H B
FIRETE M S 1218 A B %
—HZ—thBIBE - H(HE
AR R2014F181H
Z1&) BrEEE TR B AR A Et
ENE12EABMAZR=S 2
—LLOIEE -
On 23 June 2015, the number of the Company's R2015F 6 4238 + AR A
ordinary shares increased from 835,079,048 to LR EE R E R AR
3,324,368,920 upon the IPO and the number of share 3£ 12 5 835,079,048 fg 1% &=
options and the exercise price changed accordingly. 3,324,368,920 % + B A% #E &K
BRITHREREEERE -
DEERERERA A
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20. EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSES (Continued) 20. EERAIBZ (#)

(b) Share-based compensation (Continued) (b) UURMGAERMOTEM(E)
(i) 2015 Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme (Continued) (i) 2015FBEXRAMBENBER
REETEI(E)

HARTTENBRESRE R E
R AN TR (B &

Movements in the number of share options
outstanding and their related weight average exercise

prices are as follows:

W

Exercise price

Number of

in US$ per  share options
share (thousands)
BRTHEE IBREZE
(%5T) (F12)
Granted by way of replacing 2012 LAE #2012 F & X AR &R
Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme RN EI 7 AT (20154
(31 March 2015) (Note 20(b)(i)) 3 A 31 8) (K 20(0)() 0.6 56,070
Transferred (31 March 2015) D EEE (201543 A8318) 0.6 1,500
Granted (5 June 2015) 2iFH (20156 A5R0) 0.6 4,280
As at 23 June 2015 MR2015F 6 A 23 H 0.6 61,850
Adjustment upon the IPO BRARBEERFAE
(23 June 2015) (20156 A23H) 184,370
Exercised B17f# 0.151 (2,411)
Cancelled [ 0.151 (398)
Expired =& 0.151 (3,560)
Forfeited [Ehs-Li¢ 0.151 (1,194)
As at 31 December 2015 M 2015%12H31H 0.151 238,657

The fair values of the options granted during the year
were determined using the Binomial Option Pricing
Model. The key assumptions and parameters used in
the pricing model for options granted during the year

REARBHBRENDS
BENEA-BAHETE
BAEE - RFEARBNE
BENEERAEANER

are shown below: REE N2
Option
granted on
5 June 2015
2015
65 HEH
W B AR A
Share price as of the valuation date (US$) & E B ARE (7T) 1.088
Expected dividend yield T8 BR AR B 2R _
Maturity years E| BB 21 4.0-6.1
Risk free rate 49 35 gz 1) =2 1.42%-1.98%
Annualised volatility FERB)E 44%—47%
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20. EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSES (Continued)

(b) Share-based compensation (Continued)

(c)

(iii)

(iv)

Five

As at 31 December 2015, the Company had
238,656,697 share options outstanding with an
exercise price of US$0.151 each and expiry dates
between 2016 and 2021, of which 94,109,071 options
were exercisable.

The total share-based compensation of share options
recognised in the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income for the year ended 31
December 2015 amounted to RMB44,702,000 (31
December 2014: RMB 34,469,000), with a
corresponding amount credited in capital surplus.

highest paid individuals

For the years ended 31 December 2015, the five individuals
whose emoluments were the highest in the Group include

one (2014: one) director whose emoluments are reflected in

the analysis shown in Note 31. The emoluments payable to

the remaining four (2014: four) individuals during the year

are as follows:

20. EERABEXZ @
LARR 10 B EL B MO 57 B ()

(b)

(c)

(iii)

(iv)

M2015%F 128318 * &RNAF]
BATE IR OB R E R
238,656,69710 + TTHEEBRE
190.151%7T * B/HEIH A2016
FFE 021 F + HAF94,109,071
ARl FATHE -

R E E2015F 128318 1
FENAHEZAKSRER
B35 R BB AR M Y LARR 15 A &
MHOEFHBamERE AR
44,702,000t (201412 A
31H: A R #34,469,000
L) HEBEEAFAEAR
ﬁ%o

FURSHEMAL
EHZE2015F12 A3 HIEEE -
KEBERIaHFMATRE—F
(20145 : —R)ES - EME K
H3NZ2ANM DR KM - RARF
FE R 8 T POz (20144 - PO )
ATHE ST

Year ended 31 December

BZ12A31BLLEE

2015 2014

2015 2014 5

RMB’'000 RMB'000

AR¥T T AREEFIT

Basic salaries and allowances HARFH & MoEBh 12,048 6,288
Discretionary bonuses BB TEAL 5,373 294
Share-based compensation VAR A7 7 ZEHiE & 57 B 24,949 17,693
Other benefits including pension Hibeh (BEERRE) 3,040 2,180
Total Bt 45,410 26,455
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BOF M I W R M EE

20. EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSES (Continued) 20. EEENBEXZ @
(c) Five highest paid individuals (Continued) (c) ENEESFMALE)
The emoluments fell within the following bands: MeEBET -

Year ended 31 December

BZ12B31BLEEE

2015 2014
20154 2014 4F

Emolument bands B <& 6 [E]
HK$1,000,000 and below 1,000,000 7T & AT = -
HK$1,000,001-HK$ 1,500,000 1,000,001 77T 2 1,500,000 %8 7T = =
HK$1,500,001-HK$2,000,000 1,500,001 77T 2 2,000,000 /%5 7T = =
HK$2,000,001-HK$2,500,000 2,000,001 7% 7L = 2,500,000 7 7T = =
HK$2,500,001-HK$3,000,000 2,500,001 7 7t 2 3,000,000 8 7T = -
HK$3,000,001-HK$3,500,000 3,000,001 % 7T & 3,500,000 % 7T = -
HK$3,500,001-HK$4,000,000 3,500,001 7 7T 2 4,000,000 7 7T = -
HK$4,000,001-HK$4,500,000 4,000,001 & 7T £ 4,500,000 %8 7T = =
HK$4,500,001-HK$5,000,000 4,500,001 /& 7T £ 5,000,000 /%8 7T = 1
HK$5,500,001-HK$6,000,000 5,500,001 7 7T & 6,000,000%8 7T = 1
HK$8,000,001 ~HK$8,500,000 8,000,001 78 7L & 8,500,000 /8 7T 1 1
HK$14,000,001-HK$14,500,000 14,000,001 77T = 14,500,000 7 7T 1 1
HK$16,500,001~HK$17,000,000 16,500,001 77T 2 17,000,000 7% 7T 2 -
4 4
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BOF M I W R M EE

21. FINANCE INCOME/(COSTS), NET

21. BB (BRA) F58

Year ended 31 December
HZ12A31MHILEE

2015 2014
2015 2014 5
RMB’'000 RMB'000
ARET T AREEFIT
Interest expense of bank borrowings RITEROF S (28,739) (25,466)
Bank loan commitment fee SRITERASZER (13,925) (6,582)
Write-off of unamortised costs relating to BRI ATEE R1T1
prepayment of bank borrowings BN 2 #8H (14,878) =
Accretion expenses of asset retirement BEEERIFZEERY
obligations (323) (290)
Subtotal /INET (57,865) (32,338)
Less: amounts capitalised on qualifying W ABREEANME
assets (Note 6) S8 (M5E6) 28,739 25,466
Finance costs Ui RN (29,126) (6,872)
Interest income FMBWA 5,815 2,804
Exchange losses b X B8 (154,813) (4,452)
Finance costs, net I K A R (178,124) (8,520)
22. INCOME TAX EXPENSE 22. fTSRiHAX
Year ended 31 December
BZ12A3MBLELEE
2015 2014
2015 2014 5
RMB’'000 RMB'000
AR¥T T AREEFIT
Current income tax BIEAFTIS R (39,287) (73,112
Deferred income tax (Note 9) LTS (KI3E9) (69,369) (6,948)
108,656) (80,060)

The Company was incorporated in the Cayman Islands as an AAREREREEMAR L SERRERA
exempt company with limited liability and, accordingly, is A" R R R R E TS
exempted from payment of local income tax.

No provision for Hong Kong profits tax has been provided as the ~ EARZASR BN AF E I X B8 BISEARER
Group'did not derive any assessable profits in Hong Kong during Fti#l » I FEEBFIS TR
the year.
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BOF M I W R M EE

22. INCOME TAX EXPENSE (Continued) 22. FREHE < @)

AAGI and AAG Energy (China) Limited, which were incorporated
in the British Virgin Islands under the International Business
Companies Acts of the British Virgin Islands, are exempted from
payment of local income tax.

SAEI, which was incorporated in Samoa under the International
Business Companies Acts of the Samoa, is exempted from
payment of local income tax.

Corporate income tax in the PRC is calculated based on the
statutory profit or loss of branches established in the PRC, after
adjusting certain income and expense items, which are not
assessable or deductible for income tax purposes. According to
the PRC Corporate Income Tax Law promulgated by the PRC
government, the tax rate applicable for the PRC branches of the
Group's subsidiaries is 25%.

The tax on the Group’s profit before tax differs from the
theoretical amount that would arise using the statutory tax rate as
follows:

BEREBEBARHESEREELRENREE
B R B S 5 A SZ B 3R 55 K BE MR 8 SR K AAG
Energy (China) Limited & % % 8 43 & it AT 15
o

IR BE o0 BIFR B 3R A BDAR BB R o eE A 32
R BER A IR AR E WIS -

B EMSH IR BN P B ZE D A FR
RERERE T BARB LA A RS
WARFXIEB FH AR E - RIETBER
B BB EMRETE - AEEHE QR
BB D R AIEER RS 25% -

AR BB AN N OB R R ERAER KGR
MIEmBEA R - FEWT

Year ended 31 December

BZE12A31BLFE

2015 2014
2015 20144
RMB’'000 RMB’000
ARET T ARBTFT
Profit before income tax KR PRS0 AR A1 51,717 275,048
Tax expense calculated at applicable BEAETHETER
statutory tax rates IEF X (47,043) (92,921)
Tax losses with no deferred income tax RIERBRILEFTBIREEN
assets recognised IEE R (34,978) (9.742)
Expenses not deductible for taxation AN R 2
purposes (2,856) (1,176)
Income not subject to tax BERTBA = 23,779
Adjustment according to tax authority’s R A M R ST I B R R TR
interpretation for VAT refunds RREATEEE (23,779) -
Income tax expense PS5 5 2 (108,656) (80,060)
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BOF M I W R M EE

23. (LOSSES)/EARNINGS PER SHARE

(a)

(b)

Basic

The basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing the
profit attributable to owners of the Company by the
weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue during
the year ended 31 December 2015.

For the purpose of presenting earnings per share, the
weighted average number of ordinary shares for each of
the years was determined by taking into consideration the
issuance of shares by capitalisation issue and additional
issue by way of debit to the capital surplus account upon
the IPO as if these issuance of shares had occurred at the
beginning of the earliest year reported.

23. SR (&8) ZA

(a)

K
BREARBF TIRANR BB EE
1% FIBR LA B E 20154 12 A 31
HIEFEB BT R NEFH
HETERSH -

REVNBEREN  SFE2EEK
T BETIET REAMEETRR
BERARBERET AERES
REBINBITZBEITROFES
- BB RN IR E FE
ETFET

Year ended 31 December

BE12AMBLEE

2015 2014
20154 20144
(Losses)/profit attributable to owners of N RIFTA E E(L (E51E),
the Company (RMB'000) wmA(ARETFIT) (56,939) 194,988
Weighted average number of ordinary B 277 & @A 2 hniE
basic shares in issue (Thousands) 58 (FR%) 3,007,555 2,658,208
Basic (losses)/earnings per share (RMB) A EA (F548), 7
(AR®T) (0.02) 0.07
Diluted (b) #F
For the year ended 31 December 2015, the Group made a HZE2015F12A3MBIEFE - K
loss therefore the effect of share options was anti-dilutive KBS E 1R T 5| BURBEE M RE AR
and is ignored from the calculation of diluted losses per EewE AEBEAFEERE
share. The diluted losses per share is calculated in the same SHEE o SRESEERUGRER
way with basic losses per share. BEMARETHXGFE -
For the year ended 31 December 2014, the company did HE2014F12A3NBLEFE - K
not have any potentially dilutive ordinary shares NAWE R ARITEEEEETE B
outstanding. Accordingly, the diluted earnings per share is Mo At BRESERNEGAE
the same as basic earnings per share. RBR|—F -
24. KR

24. DIVIDENDS
No dividend has been paid or proposed by the Company for the

years ended 31 December 2015 and 2014.

AR AR s iR ZIR & Z 20154
201412 A 31 HiFERIRE °
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BOF M I W R M EE

25. CASH GENERATED FROM OPERATIONS 25. RETEBABRE
Reconciliation of profit before income tax to net cash flow KPS R AR M B 2R E TS IR &
generated from operations: RN

Year ended 31 December

BZE12A31BLFE

2015 2014
2015 % 20144
RMB’'000 RMB’000
AR¥ET T ARETTT
Profit before income tax KR PRS2 A& A1 51,717 275,048
Adjustments for: BN EIBELRE
Depreciation (Note 6) & (f5E6) 140,234 106,724
Amortisation (Note 7 and 8) e (MI3E7 &2 8) 1,852 1,048
Losses/(gains) on disposals of property, HEME - HE KR
plant and equipment RENER (M) 129 (151)
Interest income FE U A (5,815) (2,804)
Finance costs B TSR AR 29,126 6,872
Unrealised exchange losses AREREHEE 159,072 4,452
Bad debt provision (Note10(2)) ERREE (FTEE1002) - 7,197
Share-based compensation (Note 20(b)(iv)) AR 7 2 EE 7 B9 357 BN
(B =E 20(b)(iv)) 44,702 34,469
Listing expenses (Note 19) R (FEE19) 28,273 4,720
Changes in working capital: HEESE
(Increase)/decrease in inventories & GEm), md (19) 6,025
Increase in trade and other receivables JFEE L5 R 3 R L Ath MR
%40 (7,309) (121,889)
Increase/(decrease) in trade and other payables FETBR TN K EL fth FE S X
8,/ Cid) 9,466 (1,559)
Cash generated from operations KEETHEEE 451,428 320,152
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BOF M I W R M EE

26. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Parties are considered to be related if one party has the ability,

26. BB AR5
W= BN ERKEEEN S - %
BR—TNRBEREERREMEKRF
85 AEREES - ZEARZEHHA
THEREE S -  AEEEEEEAR
R ETR R MK B TR SRR

directly or indirectly, control the other party or exercise significant
influence over the other party in making financial and operation
decisions. Parties are also considered to be related if they are
subject to common control. Members of key management and
their close family member of the Group are also considered as
related parties.

Group during the year ended 31 December 2015:

(@) The following companies are related parties of the (a) MBZE2015F12A31HLILLEF
E - T 51 RA R R &K B H B B
i

Names of the related parties

BB L A

AAG Energy Limited
EERRARADT

CUCBM
PHEER

PetroChina Company Limited
REAMARARBDBER A

Xilingol Haitian Dibiao Minerals
Co., Ltd. ("Haitian Dibiao")

BT ERMRREEER DA
([ERHAR])

Inner Mongolia Qing Yu Minerals
Co., Ltd. ("Qing Yu")

ARLEEFTREARLE(EF])
Shanxi Meiya CBM Technology
Consultancy Co. Ltd. ("Meiya")

WPk RER M A ATRAF
(EHE)

Nature of relationship

BEEE

The then parent company prior to the IPO
BRARBEMERRTRRF

PSC partner of Panzhuang concession

BHRREROKERAEA

PSC partner of Mabi concession

FUBRERNIKEREBEA

Under common control of the controlling shareholders of AAG Energy Limited
until 22 June 2015 and who are also the controlling shareholders of the
Company since 23 June 2015, being the date of the Company's IPO

BE2015F6 A2 BX BEERAR D AIERR R L RZES] -

HB2015%6 A238 (AR R ERAREERE) BN ARA SRR

Under common control of the controlling shareholders of AAG Energy Limited
until 22 June 2015 and who are also the controlling shareholders of the
Company since 23 June 2015, being the date of the Company's IPO

BE2015F 6 A2 BX BEERAR D AIERR R L RZES] -

BB2015%6 A238 (AR R ERAREERE) BN ARA SRR

Under common control of the controlling shareholders of AAG Energy Limited
until 22 June 2015 and who are also the controlling shareholders of the
Company since 23 June 2015, being the date of the Company's IPO

BE2015F6 A2 BX BEERAR D AIERRR L RZES] -

BEB2015%6 A23 B (RARERARES HH) LA ATERRER
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BOF M I W R M EE

26. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (Continued) 26. BEER RS ()
(b) Significant transactions with related parties (b) EHEABAINEARS
(i) Services received (i) CEIRNR%E

Year ended 31 December

BZ12B31BLEEE

2015 2014

2015 20144

RMB’'000 RMB’000

AR¥T AREBTFT

CUCBM B SR 3,800 4,351

PetroChina Company Limited AR RKARID AR A A 6,070 2,149

Haitian Dibiao (Note) BRI (P EE) 7,500 7,500

Qing Yu (Note) B (fs) 3,250 3,250

Meiya (Note) = (Ka) 1,020 680

21,640 17,930
Note: These transactions with Haitian Dibiao, Qing Yu and Meiya BiaE : EERIIR  BFRETHNZ
were completed before 23 June 2015, being the date of the Z£XHBR2015F6A238 (K
Company's IPO. RAERAREERS) AT

X o
(i) Charges for exploration right (i) HEBEEEH

Year ended 31 December
BZ12A31MHILEE

2015 2014

20154 20144

RMB’000 RMB'000

AR%ET T ARBTT

CUCBM AR E R — 76
PetroChina Company Limited R R RKARIDBRE AR - 449
= 525
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BOF M I W R M EE

26. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (Continued) 26. BEEA R Z (#)

(b) Significant transactions with related parties (b) EHEBAINEARS (&E)
(Continued)
(iii) Proceeds from shareholder loans (iii) BERRERWFTBRIE

Year ended 31 December

HZ12A3MBLEE

2015 2014
20155 20144
RMB’'000 RMB’000
ARET T ARBTFT
Shareholder loans from AAG DXRERARAARME L
Energy Limited BRERE - 1,025,242
Shareholder loans provided by AAG Energy Limited DEERBERATRHTHERELE
to AAGI was transferred to the Company and RLBREREERBERQAA ER
converted into equity on 30 December 2014 as part of 2014412 A30 B R R E AR 8 A e (P
the Reorganisation (Note 1.2). F1.2)
(c) Key management compensation: () FEEEAEEM
Year ended 31 December
BZE12A31BLEE
2015 2014
20155 20144
RMB’'000 RMB'000
ARET T ARBTFT
Basic salaries and allowances EAR o FoERL 22,705 11,218
Discretionary bonuses 1B IEAL 9,751 837
Share-based compensation VAR 157 7% B0 A 7 30,304 24,627
Other benefits including pension HEaEd (BIEERS) 4,592 3,394
67,352 40,076
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BOF M I W R M EE

27. COMMITMENTS

(a)

(b)

Capital commitments
Capital expenditure contracted at the end of the year but
not yet incurred is as follows:

27. &g
(a) EAXEILE
RAFERBITNETEEENE
AEZWOT :

As at 31 December

M®12H31H
2015 2014
2015 20144
RMB’'000 RMB’000
ARET T ARBTFT
Property, plant and equipment ME - BE NMRE 338,253 354,787

Operating lease commitments

The Group leases office premises from non-related parties
under non-cancellable operating lease agreements. The
future minimum lease payable under non-cancellable
operating leases contracted for at the balance sheet date
but not recognised as liabilities, are as follows:

(b) REHEAIE
AEERBETAIHGECEHERZ
BIEREB SRR AEYE - ]
B EHE THREERBEELNE
MARERABBENRRZEENE
EREMAT

As at 31 December

R12A31RH
2015 2014
2015 20144
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET R ARETT
No later than 1 year —F R 14,358 3,884
Latter than 1 year but no later than —FERF
5 years 15,580 866
29,938 4,750
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BOF M I W R M EE

28. BALANCE SHEET AND RESERVE MOVEMENT 28. " A TS EEBERHEEST
OF THE COMPANY

(a) Balance sheet of the Company (a) AAREEEEBR
As at 31 December
R12A31RH
2015 2014
2015 20144
Note RMB’'000 RMB’000
(ks AR®T T AREBTFT
ASSETS aE
Non-current assets FREBEE
Long-term investment RHIRE 2,614,143 2,629,490
Property, plant and equipment M - R MR 2,926 -
Intangible assets B EE 20 -
2,617,089 2,629,490
Current assets RENEE
Other receivables H At R K 980 -
Cash and cash equivalents RERBEZEY 1,854,896 -
1,855,876 -
Total assets HEE 4,472,965 2,629,490
EQUITY R
Equity attributable to owners of &2 B & E(L %
the Company
Share capital A% 7R 2,034 511
Capital surplus BARE 4,511,808 2,628,979
Retained earnings IR & F (58,162) -
4,455,680 2,629,490
LIABILITIES ff&
Current liabilities REEE
Other payables HibER R 17,285 =
Total liabilities BEE 17,285 -
Total equity and liabilities HERREE 4,472,965 2,629,490
The balance sheet of the Company was approved by the AAFIEEBBRRBEFEN 201643
Board of Directors on 23 March 2016 and was signed on its RA23B#bE - WRAATALTREREE
behalf
Name of Director EERE
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BOF M I W R M EE

28. BALANCE SHEET AND RESERVE MOVEMENT 28. A A RIS EEBEAREEEH

OF THE COMPANY (Continued) (&)
(b) Reserve movement of the Company (b) ZEATFEST
Accumulated
Capital surplus deficit Total
EXRE ZER FoEy
RMB’'000 RMB'000 RMB'000

AR®TT AR¥TTT AR®TT

Balance as of 1 January 2014 jA2014%1 81 B &8 = - -

Profit for the year FE A - - -
Currency translation INEFTEEER

differences = - -
Issue of share capital upon RABIR M A L

incorporation of the BITRD

Company 2,628,553 = 2,628,553
Share-based compensation VARR 7 5 i A 7 B 426 = 426
Balance as of M2014512 A 31 A&k

31 December 2014 2,628,979 - 2,628,979
Balance as of 1 January 2015 201541 81 B &8 2,628,979 = 2,628,979
Profit for the year FRE = (58,162) (58,162)
Currency translation INEITEZRR

differences 298,201 - 298,201
Capitalisation Issue BAR(LETT (891) = (891)
Issue of additional shares ITEIMNRAD (223) - (223)
Issue of shares as part of the BEEXLAHEE

IPO TR M 1,538,841 - 1,538,841
Share-based compensation ARRAR 75 EE 188 £ 57 B 44,702 - 44,702
Exercise of share options Sl 2,199 = 2,199
Balance as of R2015F12 531 B&&

31 December 2015 4,511,808 (58,162) 4,453,646
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BOF M I W R M EE

29. SUBSIDIARIES 29. B AT
The following is a list of the principal subsidiaries at 31 December A TRBREZE2015F 128318 E
2015: HEATR :
Issued/ Proportion of ordinary
Place of incorporation and paid-up  Principal activities and shares held by the Group
Name kind of legal entity capital place of operation (%)
BEfT/ rEERE
B AR LGSR EAERER BRREA ZEEERELHY BER LB (%)
AAGI British Virgin Islands (“BVI"), US$50,000%70/  CBM project development, BVI 100%
Limited liability company US$50,0005 7T
DEREEER EBSRRES((ZBERAR BEFEEAEABARRNS
BEARAR
AAG Energy (China) Limited BVI, Limited liability company US$5,0005% 7t/  CBM project development, BV 100%
US$5,000% T
REABRERARAR BEFEEREARARRANS
SAEI Samoa, Limited liability US$7,000,000570/  CBM project development, 100%
company US$7,000,000%7C  Samoa
e YN BEGERAT RERERRERED
30. SUBSEQUENT EVENTS 30. HiR=E1E
On 18 December 2015, the Company announced the granting of 201512 18H + AR Al 5 iR &
restricted share units (“RSU") to certain connected grantees and KLARNRR2015%F 6 A58 A K H L&
non-connected grantees of the Group in accordance with the REMNBERAFRBEEEXREIRMNE
Post-IPO RSU Scheme conditionally approved and adopted by 75t B T 75 & B BE B R IR A I SE R it
the Company on 5 June 2015, subject to approval and AN Z RS AR 0 B ([ R 6l A5 B
acceptance where applicable. f7]) - BfEEREMN(MER) T
fEE -
The grant of RSUs to the connected grantees was subsequently BTHABARAZRGIRD BLAERL
approved by the extraordinary general meeting on 22 January R2016F1 A2 B BRAMKRERERN RS
2016. The grant letters of RSUs to the grantees were signed on 31 HE - 2016F1A31H - ZRFEAEET
January 2016. BRI AR D B AL BB T iR
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BOF M I W R M EE

31. BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS 31. EBEA K A=

(a) Directors’ and chief executive’s emoluments (a) EERFETHAENME
The remuneration of every director and the chief executive ZEERFBITRABNEHNET
is set out below: R
For the year ended 31 December 2015: HZE2015F 12431 HILFE :
Emoluments paid
or receivable in
respect of
director's other
services in

Remunerations  connection with
paid or the management
Employer's  receivablein  of the affairs of
Estimated money contribution to a respect of  the company or
Discretionary Housing  value of other retirement  accepting office its subsidiary
Name Fees Salary bonuses allowance benefits  benefit scheme asdirector  undertaking Total
EBAA
EhEER
HELH
RHRNES
RGN BRES AR
AR iHz BZER Bffd
#e ik #t B EERH fHEHEE EaHR S DG Eh
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARMT R ARMTT ARMT T ARMT T ARMTR ARMT T ARMTT ARMT T ARBTT

Executive Directors €S
Mr. Stephen Xiangdong R4
Zou - 6,526 3144 - 1,250 44 - - 10,964

Non-executive Directors  #31{T8E
Mr. Gordon Sunkan Shaw ~ EFE & - = o - - - - - -

Mr. Zhen Wei HERE - - - - - - - - -
Mr. Peter Randall Kagan  Peter Rendall Kagan 75 = = = = = = = = =
Mr. Zhijie Zeng SIRRE - - - - - - - - -
Mr. Lei Jin iy = = = = = = = = =
Mr. Guiyong Cui ERERE - - - - - - - - -
Mr. Bo Bai AREE - - - - - - - - -
Independent BUksiES

Non-executive

Directors
Mr. Yaowen Wu REXGEE 107 - - - 173 - - - 280
Mr. Robert Ralph Parks  Robert Ralph Parks %4 107 = = = 187 = = = 294
Dr.TinYauKelinWong ~ EX#E L 107 - - - 178 - - - 285
Mr. Fredrick J. Barrett ~ Fredick J. Barrett 75 £ 107 - - - 195 - - - 302
Chief Executive BRHTE
Mr. Carl Lakey Carl Lakey 7t % - 3323 2,054 1,338 701 - - - 13,726
Mr. Jing Li £y 43 - 3,239 831 26 9,186 4 - - 13,326
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BOF M I W R M EE

31. BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS

(Continued)

(a)

Directors’ and chief executive’s emoluments
(Continued)
For the year ended 31 December 2014 (Restated):

Certain of the comparative information of directors’
emoluments for the year ended 31 December 2014
previously disclosed in accordance with the predecessor
Companies Ordinance have been restated in order to
comply with the new scope and requirements by the Hong
Kong Companies Ordinance (Cap.622).

Discretionary Housing
Name Fees Salary bonuses allowance
8 ik i KiFfEa i3

RMBO00 RMBO0D RMBO0D RMBO0D
ARBTR  ARMTR  ARETR  ARETR

1. EER/ARNZE 8
(a) BEERTIEFTHASHBS(H)

HE2014F12A3B IEFE(K
=5) :

NERBRIARIKAHENEZ
2014F 12 A31 B L FE K E = B
EETURERAFTEEBAEIE
Bl(FE622% ) FhEiE R EMmES

Emoluments paid

or recelvable in

respect of

director's other

services in

connection with

Remunerations — the management

Employer's paid or receivable  of the affairs of

Estimated money  contributiontoa ~ inrespectof  the company or
value of other retirement benefit  acceptingoffice ~ its subsidiary
benefits scheme as director undertaking Total
BHAR
ANBAT
RHNER
IR ERES Atz
AfefEr ez fBZEN IS
fAitBE BRUG  ELEM B it

RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AREFT ARETR  ARETR ARBTT AR%TR

Executive Directors YTES
Mr. Stephen Xiangdong
Zou FuRts 1710 1423 - -

Non-executive Directors  ¥H{TEE
Mr. Gordon Sunkan Shaw B3R 54 - - - -

M. Zhen Wei AERL - - - -
Mr. Peter Randall Kagan  Peter Randal Kagan %6 = = = -
Mr. Zhijie Zeng BAEE = = - -
Mr. Lei Jin iy - - - -
Mr. Guiyong Cui EEERE S - - -
Mr. Bo Bai BREE - - - -

Note: Mr. Stephen Xiangdong Zou is also the chief executive during the
year ended 31 December 2014.

Notes:

(i) Mr. Stephen Xiangdong Zou is also the chairman of the Company
during the year ended 31 December 2015.

(ii) On 5 June 2015, Mr. Yaowen Wu, Mr. Robert Ralph Parks, Dr. Tin Yau
Kelvin Wong and Mr. Fredrick J. Barrett were appointed as
independent non-executive directors of the Company.

45% iy = = 7703

BsE: BE2014F12831BLEEE - FRA
RELEMARRRERERITE °

()  BE2015F12A31HLEFE B[
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31. BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS

(Continued)

(a)

(b)

(c)

(d)

Directors’ and chief executive’s emoluments
(Continued)

In addition to the directors’ emoluments disclosed above,
certain directors of the Company receive emoluments from
other companies they are employed to. No apportionment
has been made as the directors consider that it is
impracticable to apportion this amount between their
services to the Group and their services to the other
companies.

Directors’ retirement benefits

During the year ended 31 December 2015, no retirement
benefits operated by the Group were paid or made, directly
or indirectly, to or receivable by a director in respect of his
services as a director or other services in connection with
the management of the affairs of the Company or its
subsidiaries (2014: nil).

Directors’ termination benefits

During the year ended 31 December 2015, no payments or
benefits in respect of termination of director’s services were
paid or made, directly or indirectly, to or receivable by a
director; nor are any payable (2014: nil).

Consideration provided to third parties for making
available directors’ services

During the year ended 31 December 2015, no consideration
was provided to or receivable by third parties for making
available director’s services (2014: nil).
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BOF M I W R M EE

31. BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS 3. EEEM R A= (5

(Continued)

(e) Information about loans, quasi-loans and other (e) BARUESE ZEFZEZAER
dealings in favour of directors, controlled bodies LEZEEEZERHERA
corporate by and connected entities with such ZTHEANEFR - EEFRHEM
directors RZEH
There are no loans, quasi-loans or other dealings in favour WEBNNES « SE5EABE
of directors, controlled bodies corporate by and connected LEMELEASSANER  £EE
entities (2014: nil). RREMRZ 5 (20145 + &) o

(f) Directors’ material interests in transactions,  EERRS  REIEHZE
arrangements or contracts K=
No significant transactions, arrangements and contracts in HERNEE RSP E R
relation to the group’s business to which the Company was AN BN 8 BT S A {n] B AN £R B FE 7K
a party and in which a director of the Company had a FHEEARRAESHEEA S
material interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at (EREEIMEB)NEARS &
the end of the year or at any time during the year (2014: nil). BERAH(2014F - F) -
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS
Executive Director
Dr. Stephen Xiangdong Zou (Chairman)

Non-executive Directors
Mr. Peter Randall Kagan

Mr. Gordon Sun Kan Shaw
Mr. Zhen Wei

Mr. Zhijie Zeng

Mr. Lei Jin

Dr. Guiyong Cui

Dr. Bo Bai

Independent Non-executive Directors
Mr. Yaowen Wu

Mr. Robert Ralph Parks

Dr. Tin Yau Kelvin Wong

Mr. Fredrick J. Barrett

JOINT COMPANY SECRETARIES
Ms. Yang Lin
Ms. Siu Kuen Lai

AUTHORIZED REPRESENTATIVES
Mr. Gordon Sun Kan Shaw
Ms. Siu Kuen Lai

AUDIT COMMITTEE

Dr. Tin Yau Kelvin Wong (Chairman)
Mr. Robert Ralph Parks

Mr. Gordon Sun Kan Shaw

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE
Mr. Robert Ralph Parks (Chairman)

Mr. Fredrick J. Barrett

Dr. Bo Bai

NOMINATION COMMITTEE
Dr. Stephen Xiangdong Zou (Chairman)
Dr. Tin Yau Kelvin Wong

Mr. Yaowen Wu
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REGISTERED OFFICE

Floor 4, Willow House
Cricket Square

P.O. Box 2804

Grand Cayman KY1-1112
Cayman Islands

HEAD OFFICE AND PRINCIPAL PLACE OF
BUSINESS IN HONG KONG

Unit 2109-10, 21st Floor

China Merchants Tower

Shun Tak Centre

No. 168-200 Connaught Road Central

Hong Kong

PRINCIPAL PLACE OF BUSINESS IN CHINA
1701, 17/F

Tower A, Landmark Office Towers

8 North Dongsanhuan Road

Chaoyang District

Beijing 100004

People’s Republic of China

CAYMAN ISLANDS PRINCIPAL SHARE REGISTRAR
AND TRANSFER AGENT

Campbells Corporate Services Limited
Willow House

Cricket Square

P.O. Box 268

Grand Cayman, KY1-1104

Cayman Islands

HONG KONG SHARE REGISTRAR
Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited
Shops 1712-1716, 17th Floor

Hopewell Centre

183 Queen'’s Road East

Wanchai, Hong Kong

AMMERE

Floor 4, Willow House
Cricket Square

P.O. Box 2804

Grand Cayman KY1-1112
Cayman Islands
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PRINCIPAL BANKERS
The Hongkong and Shanghai Banking Corporation Limited

Bank of Communication Limited, Offshore Banking Unit

AUDITOR
PricewaterhouseCoopers
Certified Public Accountants
22/F, Prince’s Building
Central

Hong Kong

LEGAL ADVISERS

As to Hong Kong law and United States law:
Kirkland & Ellis

26th Floor, Gloucester Tower

The Landmark

15 Queen'’s Road Central

Hong Kong

As to PRC law:

King & Wood Mallesons
40th Floor, Tower A
Beijing Fortune Plaza

7 Dongsuanhuan Zhonglu
Beijing 10020

People’s Republic of China

As to Cayman Islands law:
Conyers Dill & Pearman
Cricket Square

Hutchins Drive

PO Box 2681

Grand Cayman KY1-1111
Cayman Islands

COMPLIANCE ADVISER

Haitong International Capital Limited
22nd Floor, Li Po Chun Chambers
189 Des Voeux Road Central

Hong Kong

STOCK CODE
2686

COMPANY'S WEBSITE

www.aagenergy.com
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